
WHC LLP Board Papers 

 22 June 2021 

13:30-15:00 



Page 1 of 2

Wiltshire Health and Care Board Meeting – Sign off Accounts 
Agenda 

Venue: MS TEAMS 
Date: Tuesday 22 June 2021 
Time: 13:30-15:00 

WHC Board Members in attendance  
Stephen Ladyman  Chair of Wiltshire Health and Care (Chair)  SL 
Richard Barritt  Non-Executive Member, Patient Voice  RB 
Martyn Burke  Non-Executive Member, Finance and Audit  MB  
Lisa Thomas Non-Executive Member, Nominated by Salisbury Foundation Trust (SFT) 

Board  
LT 

Kevin McNamara Non-Executive Member, Nominated by Great Western Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (GWH) Board                       

KM 

Bernie Marden  Non-Executive Member, Nominated by Royal United Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (RUH) Board 

BM 

Douglas Blair Executive Member, Managing Director DB 
Annika Carroll Executive Member, Director of Finance  AC 
Sara Quarrie  Executive Member, Director of Quality, Professions and Workforce SQ 
Lisa Hodgson Executive Member, Chief Operating Officer LH 

Also In Attendance
Becky Watson  Corporate Officer (minutes)  BW 
Rees Batley Director, Audit KPMG (for item 10 only) ReB 

Apologies 
Katy Hamilton Jennings  Director of Corporate Governance and Legal  KHJ  

Item 
No. 

Agenda Item Presenter Verbal/
Paper 

Information/
Discussion/ 

Decision/ Approval 
1. Welcome, Introductions and Apologies Chair Verbal Information 

2. Declarations and Conflicts of Interests Chair Verbal Information 

3. Part I Minutes and Actions of previous 
meeting 

Matters Arising: 
BSW Partnership MoU V2

Chair 

DB 

Paper

Paper 

Decision 

Information 

4. Quality Accounts SQ Paper Decision 

5. Modern Slavery Statement DB Paper Decision 

6. Standing Financial Instructions (SFIs) AC Paper Decision 

7. Delivery Plan DB Paper Information 

8. Hosting BSW Academy DB Paper Decision
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9. Audit Committee - Highlight Report MB Paper Information

10. Audit / Final Accounts AC Paper Decision

11. Key points for dissemination to 
Member Organisations from Part I 

DB Verbal Information 

Next Full Board Meeting:
Friday 10 September 2021  
13:00-16:00 (Training Room 1, CCH or MS Teams TBC)



Wiltshire Health and Care (“WHC”) 
Board Meeting 

Item 1 

Welcome, Introductions, and Apologies  

VERBAL 



Wiltshire Health and Care (“WHC”) 
Board Meeting 

Item 2  

Declaration and Conflicts of Interests  

VERBAL 



Wiltshire Health and Care (“WHC”) 
Board Meeting 

Item 3  

Part I Minutes 
Part I Action Tracker 
Matters Arising: BSW Partnership MoU V2

PAPER 



Page 1 of 8

Wiltshire Health and Care Board Meeting - Part I  
DRAFT MINUTES 

Venue: MS TEAMS 
Date: Friday 7 May 2021 
Time: 10.00-13.00

WHC Board Members in attendance  
Stephen Ladyman  Chair of Wiltshire Health and Care  SL 
Richard Barritt  Non-Executive Member, Patient Voice  RB 
Martyn Burke  Non-Executive Member, Finance and Audit  MB  

Lisa Thomas  Non-Executive Member, Nominated by Salisbury Foundation Trust (SFT) 
Board  LT 

Kevin McNamara  Non -Executive Member, Nominated by Great Western Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (GWH) Board                       KM 

Douglas Blair  Executive Member, Managing Director DB 
Annika Carroll  Executive Member, Director of Finance  AC 
Sara Quarrie   Executive Member, Director of Quality, Professions and Workforce SQ 

Also In Attendance
Becky Watson  Corporate Officer (minutes)  BW 
Katy Hamilton Jennings  Director of Governance and Legal  KHJ  
Joanna  Staff Member, WHC J 

Apologies 

Bernie Marden  Non-Executive Member, Nominated by Royal United Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust (RUH) Board BM 

Lisa Hodgson Executive Member, Chief Operating Officer LH 

Item 
No. 

Agenda Item Actions 

PART I                
1. Welcome, Introductions and Apologies

Apologies were received from Lisa Hodgson and Bernie Marden. Lisa Thomas and Kevin 
McNamara joined the meeting at 10:05 

2. Declarations and Conflicts of Interests
SL introduced the Disclosure of Interests paper to provide the Board with an update on 
the way in which WHC would assure itself that decision making is transparent with 
respect to conflicts.  

Following advice from auditors and to ensure that WHC’s decision making takes into 
account conflicts of interest relating to the “close family members” of the Executive 
Committee/ Board, the Executive Committee and Board members would be asked to 
declare any positions held by close family members which they believe could have an 
actual or perceived conflict of interest with reference to the business of WHC. The 
interests of family members would NOT be recorded in the register of interests, but they 
might be noted in the minutes of a Board or Committee meeting in the event that a 
perceived or actual conflict was relevant to note in relation to the topics being discussed 
at the given Board/Committee meeting.   
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The register had been updated and no new conflicts were declared at the meeting.  

The Board noted this report 

3. a) Part I Minutes
The Part I minutes of the previous meeting were reviewed. Approval of the Part I minutes 
was proposed by MB and seconded by KM; there were no objections.   

DECISION: The Board Members approved the Part I minutes of the previous 
meeting held on 5 February 2021 as an accurate record of proceedings.   

b) Action/Decision Tracker  

Action 137 and 138 were reviewed and closed.  

Action 136 SQ include benchmarking data on the Quality, Workforce and performance 
dashboard going forward:- SQ confirmed that she would meet with MB and RB to discuss 
the benchmarking available in order to incorporate the appropriate material into the 
quality report to Board.   

ACTION: BW to set up a meeting for SQ, MB, RB regarding benchmarking data 

c) Matters Arising  
i. IPC BAF: SQ confirmed that the IPC BAF had been refreshed and re-

circulated. Monitoring of the ‘amber’ actions would occur at the IP&C Policy 
Oversight Group and any concerns would be raised with Board.  

d) Decisions made by circular 
i. Signing of Partnership BSW Memorandum of Understanding (MOU): SL 

confirmed that this had been signed following approval.  Subsequent changes 
had been made to this so therefore it would be signed again once it is 
available.   

ii. Devizes Lease: SL confirmed that this lease was approved via circular and 
the Agreement to Lease had been signed.   

BW 

4. Chair’s Report  
The Chair (SL) gave a verbal update highlighting that the monthly Live All Staff briefings 
had taken place; they are recorded and can be watched back by staff. SL feels this is a 
successful way to keep staff informed, an average of 100 staff are tuning in each month.  
The live briefings take place on different days and times so staff can hopefully tune in to 
one. SL expressed this thanks those organising the live briefings.  

5. Managing Director’s Report  
The Managing Director (DB) informed the Board that there was nothing to report in 
addition to items on the agenda. 

Patient /Staff Focus 10.25 
6. Staff Story – Joanna  

SL welcomed Joanna to the meeting who gave the Board a summary of her experience 
working on the Covid-19 ward. The key points were: 

The ward had been full all of the time with positive Covid-19 patients, new staff had 
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joined; many with little or no experience, some staff had been redeployed; all staff had 
been willing to help out.  Staff on the ward had found it an anxious experience.  
Arrangements put in place to limit spread had meant that team members had to stay on 
the ward throughout their shift, which contributed to a stressful experience.  

The Covid-19 patients on the ward were much sicker than the patients usually cared for, 
they required much more monitoring and deteriorated quicker and needed escalation in 
care very quickly. It was hard to get access to a doctor or an ACP at all times, so the 
ward relied on the out of hour’s service.  

Transferring patients back to acute wards in line with treatment plans was a challenge, 
as ambulance staff often wanted confirmation of approval from the acute hospital, which 
was often impossible to obtain due to difficulty in making contact.  Individual team 
members were then caught between the requirements of the treatment plan and the 
practical difficulties.   

Staff had since be asked to write statements about decisions made regarding care given 
but no feedback is received from these via Datix. Staff felt isolated and although there 
was a lot of support, more was needed. Joanna expressed that the ‘Me Day’ went down 
well with staff.  

There was no or limited visiting; the team supported relatives virtually with contact as 
much as possible, but it was distressing experience with regard to end of life patients.   

Joanna confirmed that the summary was of her own experience.   

SL thanked Joanna and asked how this learning could be captured. Joanna explained 
that she hoped that presenting to the Board would help to capture the main reflections. 

DB thanked Joanna for her thoughtful presentation of the issues.  He asked how the 
extra beds in the day room, put in as an additional emergency escalation measure, was 
received by staff. Joanna confirmed that it worked well and was used for the patient 
almost ready to go home.  

SQ thanked Joanna and acknowledged that it had been a difficult experience.  In relation 
to the issue of feedback from Datix reports, she asked Joanna to ensure she and other 
ward staff complete the Datix survey to ensure any issues can be rectified.  

AC thanked Joanna for sharing her story and asked how Joanna and her colleagues 
were now. Joanna explained that, although she was currently away from work, she was 
in touch with her colleagues and explained they are just ‘getting on with it’ and getting to 
back to how the ward was pre pandemic. She said she would encourage staff to reflect 
and learn from the experience and make use of the support available.  

RB thanked Joanna for her helpful description and asked what aspects of the leadership 
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culture in WHC Joanna found most and least helpful. Joanna explained that there was 
limited leadership on the ward at weekends. The constant changes in processes were 
challenging and communication could be better. The on call managers were always very 
helpful and a good support but often they worked in a different area so did not have 
experience or knowledge for decision making on the ward at the time. Joanna told the 
Board that she completed an Emerging and Aspiring Leaders course between the 2 
waves and found it very useful and was encouraging staff to do this too.  

Joanna thanked the Board for the opportunity to share her story. SL thanked Joanna for 
attending and expressed thanks to and congratulations to Joanna’s colleagues too.  

Governance  
7. West Wiltshire Health and Care Centre Lease  

DB introduced this paper informing the Board that the paper relates to the replacement 
build for Trowbridge Hospital which would be on adjacent land and close to the Health 
Centre and used for a range of health services. Supporting the CCG plan to develop a 
new West Wiltshire Health & Care Centre, (previously known as the Trowbridge 
Integrated Care Centre), is in the WHC Delivery Plan. 

DB explained that the full business case would be signed off by NHSE&I and WHC will 
be asked to sign an agreement to lease. The values, length and terms of lease were all 
included within the paper.  

KM asked about the nature of the commitment from commissioners to cover the cost 
pressure arising from this move.  DB confirmed that this commitment had been given in 
writing, but would check to ensure it was a firm enough statement to cover the risk for the 
length of the lease.   

MB raised some concerns regarding how NHS leases compare to commercial leases in 
terms of cost and the ability to negotiate. DB emphasised that the whole system nature of 
the planning for this type of facility made it difficult for individual providers to negotiate on 
cost, and there was no prospect of doing this for this lease given the stage in the 
process.  The points would be taken into account when planning future developments.   

DECISION: The Board approved WHC signing the Agreement to Lease and Lease 
on behalf of WHC once due diligence processes have been completed, including 
ensuring a firm written commitment on commissioner support for the cost 
pressure. 

8. Risk Report 15+ 
SQ introduced the risk register to the Board and reported that there were nil risks scoring 
at 15+.  

DB highlighted to the Board to an emerging risk regarding Public Liability Insurance; this 
risk had been scored at 9. The policy with the current insurer runs until the end of June, 
but all indications were that the market was not offering   public liability insurance related 
to communicable diseases. DB confirmed that this issue had been escalated to NHSE 
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and that there were ongoing discussions about the mitigations which could be put in 
place.  

ACTION: KHJ to provide a paper regarding the Public Liability Insurance risk for 
the June Board meeting.   

The Board noted that it was assured with the management of risks. 

KHJ 

9. Full Staff Survey  
SQ introduced the full staff survey results to the Board advising that overall, there had 
been a significant improvement. The staff survey was sent to the whole workforce and 
this meant that, although the total number of respondents had grown, the response rate 
was low compared to other organisations. This issue, together with the questions in 
which there had been a significant year on year deterioration, was the focus of follow up 
action.  

RB commented that the report included some rich information but would have liked to 
see the percentages of each response. He said that the report contained some very 
positive results and reflected well on the Executive Team and staff.  He was interested in 
whether the position on the areas in which scoring was lower was thought to reflect the 
‘usual’ situation or the current situation during the pandemic.   
DB confirmed he would circulate the staff survey spreadsheet with the full set of results.  
The Executive Committee had considered to what extent the results represented an 
unusual year. The judgement was that there was likely to be some influence, but 
underlying issues or concerns were also likely to be present, hence the action plan.  

ACTION: DB to circulate the full staff survey spreadsheet to Board members.  

ACTION: SQ to present actions and response to staff survey (as part of the quality 
paper) to the Board at the September meeting.  

DB 

SQ 

Service Delivery  
10. Quality, Workforce, Performance and Finance Highlight Report  

Quality  
SQ introduced the Quality section to the Board highlighting that an increase in 
medication incidents involving insulin had been reported; additional training and support 
for staff has been explored by the education department who were working with the 
diabetes specialist nurses.  

An incident was logged in March following various concerns being expressed about 
inpatient care at Savernake hospital. Chestnut Unit had been closed to new admissions 
following this. There had been issues around agency staff who regularly filled shifts no 
longer being able to, ward manager resignation (new one now recruited) and medical 
cover.  
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MB asked if WHC were satisfied they became aware of the situation quickly enough and 
if there were any steps needed that could be applied to other services. SQ confirmed that 
staffing at Savernake had been a long term issue, as it was a difficult area in which to 
recruit.  The exacerbation of this long term issue had come to attention quickly, and quick 
actions put in place. 

Workforce 
SQ introduced the Workforce section to the Board highlighting the Dido Harding Policy 
Review; SQ confirmed that WHC were reviewing policies in line with this. 

SQ advised the Board that, in recognition of the impact of the pandemic on the health 
and wellbeing of colleagues, the Executive Committee had agreed the introduction of a 
‘Me Day’, which was launched on 29 April 2021; this was an additional calendar day 
away from work for all substantive staff between May and September 2021.  

Finance 
AC introduced the Finance section to the Board reporting that the draft year end position 
was a £176k surplus (subject to audit) which was broadly in line with the forecast. There 
were some adverse variances due to income, pay and non-pay.  

Performance 
DB introduced the performance section advising the Board of the mitigations which had 
been put in place following the restrictions on admissions to Chestnut Unit at Savernake. 
DB confirmed that there had been good flow through Ailesbury Unit at Savernake.  

DB also highlighted the data which was included in the report on the successful pilot of 2 
Hour Crisis services in Warminster and Westbury and the increase in demand on 
community teams.   

Infrastructure  
The Devizes and West Wiltshire Health and Care Centre leases were discussed in item 3 
and 7. There was nothing else to alert to the Board  

Planning  
11. Planning Update 

DB introduced this to the Board to provide an update on the planning process for 2021-
22 and its impact on the activities of WHC.  

The national priorities for community services were Urgent Community Response, 
Enhanced Health in Care Homes and Anticipatory Care.  

The Board noted the update on national priorities for planning for 2021-22 and that a 
refreshed WHC Delivery Plan will be presented to the Board at the June meeting for 
approval. 

Highlight Reports  
12. Highlight Report from Quality Assurance Committee  

RB introduced the report and informed the Board that the Quality Assurance Committee 
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heard from SQ regarding the Savernake Review and the CQC focus on well led, which 
SQ confirmed they were prepared for in May (This has since been moved to June) 

There were some tissue viability concerns regarding performance/ staff exhaustion; a 
report on will be presented at the July Committee.  

The Freedom to Speak Up Guardian (Gemma Pugh) gave the committee a challenge 
around race and equality and asked ‘how do we know how we are doing regarding 
looking after staff and patients in relation to this’. RB confirmed he would like to see 
something at Board regarding this in the future.  

KM confirmed he was supportive of the ED&I conversations and that the BSW Academy 
could help with support to WHC. There needs to be more diversity on the Board. It was 
suggested that a staff story on this subject would be beneficial. The Board agreed.  

13. Highlight Report from Audit Committee 
MB introduced the report and informed the Board that the 4 areas for internal audit were 
agreed (Key financial statements, GDPR, cyber security and E-roster). The 3 year 
Counter Fraud strategy was approved and the final External Audit Report would be 
presented at the May meeting. The SFIs were shared and the final version would be 
presented at the May meeting for approval.  

KM asked what WHC were using to guide internal audit plan priorities and whether this 
included a focus on single points of failure regarding cyber security and broader health, 
safety, estates issues. MB confirmed that the Audit Committee has ‘deep dives’ to seek 
assurances and will look at guidance from the CQC and other national guidance. MB 
also confirmed that health and safety is very high on the agenda; MB is meeting with the 
H&S Lead to gain assurances and bring the topic to the Audit Committee.   

ACTION: KHJ to map out single points of failure of WHC 

This report was noted by the Board.  

14. Update to Extended Access contract  
DB introduced this item informing the Board that, although discussions were still taking 
place, it was looking likely that the contract would be extended until March 2022.  

15. Key points for dissemination to Member Organisations (from Part I) 
DB confirmed that the following items from Part I would form part of the highlight report to 
the Member organisations: 
 Noting the staff story 
 Emerging insurance risk  
 Performance data to be attached to the highlight report (requested by KM)  

Next meeting:  
To sign off Accounts: Full Board Meeting: 
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Tuesday 22 June 2021 
13:30-15:00 (MS Teams) 

Friday 10 September 2021  
13:00-16:00 (Training Room 1, CCH)
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BSW Partnership Memorandum of Understanding – DRAFT 

Foreword  

Since the creation of our Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire (BSW) 
Partnership in 2016, the way we work has been further strengthened by a shared 
commitment to deliver the best care and outcomes possible for the circa 1 million people 
living in our area. We believe by working together we can be more effective and improve 
outcomes for our population. 

Our commitment remains the same and our goal is simple: we are ‘working together to 
empower people to lead their best life’ and to provide the support they need to stay 
healthy and live longer. We are committed to tackling health inequalities and to improving 
the lives of the poorest fastest. Our commitment to an NHS free at the point of delivery 
remains steadfast, and our response to the challenges we face is to strengthen our 
partnerships.  

In April 2019 the Partnership and NHSEI appointed Tracey Cox as our Senior Responsible 
Officer for our BSW Partnership, and in December 2019 Stephanie Elsy was appointed as 
our independent Chair.  In March 2020, our three local CCGs merged to become Bath and 
North East Somerset, Swindon, and Wiltshire (BSW) CCG.   

This, together with the development of system-wide governance arrangements; a distributed
leadership model for the system; the development of our system capabilities; stronger 
financial governance and collaboration; streamlined commissioning arrangements; capital 
and estates plans at a system level; annual system plans reflecting the key local 
performance and delivery challenges; have established the foundations for our development 
to become an Integrated Care System (ICS).   

The NHS has a long history of close working with local authorities within BSW and with all 
our NHS provider organisations and the independent and voluntary sector. There has been a 
step change in this collaborative approach since the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic in 
early 2020, which has served us well not only in responding to this particular challenge, but 
which has shown us what we can achieve as a collaborative system where each works to its 
strengths and in service to the health and wellbeing of our population. We continue to work 
together to develop our plans to restore and recover services after the initial impact of Covid-
19, and to address the inequalities within our population which have increased as a result of 
the pandemic.   

In 2019, we developed our BSW 5 Year Plan together as a partnership which sets out our 
priorities as a system, and we are firming up delivery plans, backed by investments. We are 
doing this with the help of our staff and communities, alongside their representatives, 
including voluntary and community organisations, and local councillors.  

We have agreed this Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) to strengthen our joint working 
arrangements and to support the next stage of development of our Partnership as  an 
Integrated Care System. It builds on our existing collaborative work to establish more robust 
mutual accountability and break down barriers between our separate organisations.                         

[signatures] 
Tracey Cox, BSW ICS SRO  Stephanie Elsy, BSW ICS Chair 

http://www.bswstp.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Our-Plan-for-Health-and-Care-2020-2024_compressed-1.pdf
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Introduction   

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the BSW health and care partners sets 
out the details of our commitment to work together in partnership to realise our shared 
ambitions to improve the health of the circa 1 million people who live in our area, and to 
improve the quality of their health and care services. 

The BSW Partnership began as one of 44 Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships 
(STPs) formed in 2016, in response to the NHS Five Year Forward View. It brings together 
health and care organisations in our three localities, Bath and North East Somerset, 
Swindon, and Wiltshire. Our partnership is not a new organisation, but a new way of working 
to meet the diverse needs of our population and communities. NHS services have come 
together with local authorities, charities and community groups to agree how we can improve 
people’s health and improve the quality of their health and care services.  

In 2020, we published our  BSW 5 Year Plan and set out our priorities and high level 
proposals to close the health, care and finance gaps that we face in BSW. Since then we 
have made significant progress to build our capacity and infrastructure, and to establish the 
governance arrangements and ways of working that will enable us to achieve our aims.  

Purpose 

The purpose of this Memorandum is to formalise and build on our existing partnership 
arrangements. The Memorandum does not seek to introduce a hierarchical model; rather it 
provides a mutual accountability framework, based on principles of subsidiarity, to ensure we 
have collective ownership of delivery. It also provides the basis for a refreshed relationship 
with national oversight bodies.  

This Memorandum is not a legal contract. It is not intended to be legally binding, and no 
legal obligations or legal rights shall arise between the Partners from this Memorandum. It is 
a formal understanding between all of the Partners who have each entered into this 
Memorandum intending to honour all their obligations under it. It is based on an ethos that 
the partnership is a servant of the people in BSW and of its member organisations. It does 
not replace or override the legal and regulatory frameworks that apply to our statutory NHS 
organisations and Councils. Instead it sits alongside and complements these frameworks, 
creating the foundations for closer and more formal collaboration.  

Nothing in this Memorandum is intended to, or shall be deemed to, establish any partnership 
or joint venture between the Partners to the Memorandum, constitute a Partner as the agent 
of another, nor authorise any of the Partners to make or enter into any commitments for or 
on behalf of another Partner. 

The Memorandum should be read in conjunction with our BSW 5 Year Plan, published in 
January 2020, and our application to become an ICS. 

Term 

This Memorandum replaces any previous versions agreed by the partners, and shall 
commence on the date of signature of the partners until such time when the BSW ICS 
becomes a statutory body. This Memorandum will be subject to review every six months by 
the BSW Partnership Board to ensure it remains consistent with the evolving requirements of 
BSW as an Integrated Care System, and the proposed transition to ICSs becoming formal 
statutory bodies by April 2022.  

http://www.bswstp.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Our-Plan-for-Health-and-Care-2020-2024_compressed-1.pdf
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Our Partners        

We have a combined health and care workforce of approximately 40,000 people in 
organisations working together as the BSW Partnership. Our Partners are: 

Local Authorities 
 Bath and North East Somerset Council 
 Swindon Borough Council 
 Wiltshire Council 

NHS Commissioners 
 Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire CCG 

NHS Service Providers 
 Royal United Hospital (RUH), Bath 
 Great Western Hospital (GWH), Swindon 
 Salisbury Foundation Trust (SFT), Salisbury 
 Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust (AWP) 
 Virgin Care (VC) 
 Wiltshire Health and Care NHS partnership (WHC) 
 Medvivo 
 South West Ambulance Services Foundation Trust (SWASFT) 

Health Regulators and Oversight Bodies 
 NHS England and NHS Improvement 
 West of England Academic Health Science Network  

Other partners 
 Healthwatch BaNES 
 Healthwatch Swindon 
 Healthwatch Wiltshire 
 Wessex LMC 

As members of the Partnership, all of these organisations subscribe to the vision, principles, 
values and behaviours stated, and agree to participate in the governance and accountability 
arrangements set out in this Memorandum. 

Developing New Collaborative Relationships 

Our approach to collaboration begins in each of the 24 neighbourhoods which make up 
BSW. Neighbourhoods are Primary Care Networks, in which the 92 BSW GP practices work 
together with community and social care services, to offer integrated health and care 
services for populations of 30-50,000 people. These integrated neighbourhood services 
focus on preventing ill health, supporting people to stay well, and providing them with high 
quality care and treatment when they need it.  

Neighbourhood services sit within each of our three localities Bath and North East Somerset, 
Swindon and Wiltshire. These localities are the primary units for partnerships between NHS 
services, local authorities, charities and community groups, which work together as part of 
our emergent Integrated Care Alliances (ICAs) to agree how to improve people’s health and 
improve the quality of their health and care services.  
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The focus for these partnerships is increasingly moving away from simply treating ill health 
to preventing it, and to tackling the wider determinants of health, such as housing, 
employment, social inclusion and the physical environment.  

These place-based partnerships, working with Health and Wellbeing Boards, are key to 
achieving the ambitious improvements we want to see. However, we have recognised that 
there are also clear benefits in working together across a wider footprint, and that local plans 
need to be complemented with a common vision and shared plan for BSW as a whole.  

The arrangements described in this Memorandum describe how we organise ourselves, at 
BSW and locality level, to provide the best health and care, ensuring that decisions are 
always taken in the interest of the patients and populations we serve.  

Promoting Integration and Collaboration

As partners, we acknowledge the statutory and regulatory requirements which apply in 
relation to competition, patient choice and collaboration. Within the constraints of these 
requirements we will aim to collaborate, and to seek greater integration of services, 
whenever it can be demonstrated that it is in the interests of patients and service users to do 
so.  

Our future approach will be informed by NHS England’s public consultation on procurement 
that aims to enable collaboration and collective decision making.  

Our Partnership  

Our vision 

Together, we have developed a shared vision for health and care in BSW. Our work, as 
individual Partner organisations and as a system, will support the delivery of our shared 
vision of Working together to empower people to lead their best lives.   

Our Partnership ambition 

Our Partnership ambition is captured in the 5 key strategic aims that we established for our 
ICS in 2020 as part of our ICS development and designation process (set out below). 
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At the heart of achieving these aims lies our commitment to redesign the way care is 
delivered within BSW, and to realign our resources to enable this. As a Partnership, we have 
agreed the principles that will underpin the transition in care: 

1. We work as one system, with parity of esteem between social care & wellbeing, 
mental and physical wellbeing
 We operate as one system to plan and deliver high quality, value for money health 

& social care for our population in BSW.  
 Operating as one system, we approach social care & wellbeing, mental and 

physical health with equal importance, recognising the interdependency between 
them.  

 Subsidiarity, transparency and distributed leadership are embedded in how we 
work. 

2. Prevention first, and recognition of the Wider determinants of health 
 Our professionals focus on health & wellbeing; this starts with prevention 
 We focus on the wider determinants of health in the way that we design and deliver 

services with partners. 
 Our approach is asset and strength-based with the capacity and capabilities of 

individuals, neighbourhoods and communities at the centre of what we do. 

3. Care designed around individuals. 
 Health & Care services are designed with and around individuals and their needs: 

right approach/ service, right place, right time based on a personalised approach 
and ‘no decision about me without me’. 

 Teams strive for continual improvement in model of care. 
 Only essential staff are based in healthcare facilities 

4. Home is Best 
 Wherever possible people are supported at home including discharge from hospital 

to home 
 Assessments at home 
 Virtual wards 

5. Digital by default 
 Digital by default whilst protecting equality of access 
 Information will be shared safely and efficiently 
 Decision-making & direct care will be supported through a population health lens 
 A digital workforce supported through consistent tools and infrastructure 
 New care models are supported through digital enablers 
 Cyber security is a fundamental enabler 

6. Flexible workforce 
 Workforce operates in multidisciplinary teams beyond organisational boundaries   
 Co-located teams & community hubs 
 Community and voluntary sector workforce as a vital part of BSW team 

7. 7-day provision 
 Hours to be optimised to enable timely decision-making and support 
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Our shared values and behaviours  

As Partners, we subscribe to the following values and principles: 
 We are transparent and accountable to our citizens in BSW, and to  one another, for 

delivery;  
 We adopt a  ‘best for BSW’ approach;  
 We  support and trust each other, and work collaboratively;  
 We make decisions and do the work once, at the most appropriate level and as close 

to local as possible;  
 We are effective and agile;  
 We are leaders of and within our system, our localities, and our organisations;  

Transitioning to our new ways of working will take time to evolve, requiring system leaders to 
regularly articulate the vision and describe how the incremental steps we are taking will help 
us achieve it. 

This Memorandum reaffirms our shared commitment to achieving these ambitions.   

Involving the public 

We are committed to an approach to creating / designing health and care services that 
involves the people who use these services. We are equally committed to transparency and 
accountability to those who fund, support and use the services that we design and deliver. 

We have created a BSW wide Citizen panel. Our communications and engagement plan, 
and opportunities for the public to get involved are published on our website. 

We are committed to learning from and refining our approach to involving people; we want to 
understand the best ways to engage with people and we consistently challenge ourselves to 
improve. We aim to involve people and understand their perspectives at the earliest possible 
point when taking decisions, as people have the greatest scope to influence the change if 
their views are considered from the outset. 

We aim to learn from feedback from all our communications and engagement networks 
without duplicating effort and cost. We publish on our website information about all of the 
involvement and engagement activity that we have undertaken, been involved in, and are 
planning. 

Partnership Governance  

The Partnership does not replace or override the authority of the Partners’ Boards and 
governing bodies. Each of our Partners remains sovereign, and Councils remain directly 
accountable to their electorates. 

The Partnership provides a mechanism for collaborative action and common decision-
making for issues which are best tackled on a wider scale. 

A schematic of our governance and accountability relationships is provided at Appendix 1. A 
summary of the roles and responsibilities of the Partnership Board, Partnership Executive, 
and system governance groups / forums is provided below.  
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Two principles underpin our governance arrangements: 

 Decisions are made at system- or locality-level, and taken by the partner 
organisations – leaders at system and locality levels come together and form 
agreements in principle and by consensus, then take these to their sovereign 
organisations for ratification; 

 We apply the subsidiarity principle, whereby we aim to make and take decisions at 
the most appropriate level and as close to local as possible. 

BSW Partnership Board 

The Partnership Board provides the formal leadership for the Partnership. The Partnership 
Board is responsible for setting the Partnership’s strategic direction, to provide oversight for 
the achievement of the Partnership’s strategy, and to be the forum where Partners make 
decisions together.  Decisions made by the BSW Partnership Board will not impact on the 
statutory responsibilities of individual organisations, nor have Partners delegated decisions 
formally to the Partnership Board. 

In accordance with the stipulations of the NHS Long Term Plan, the Partnership Board has a 
membership that is drawn from constituent organisations, is led by a non-executive 
independent Chair, and comprises clinicians and managers from across the constituent 
organisations to enable the implementation of agreed system wide changes. The 
Partnership Board will normally meet six times each business year, and meetings will take 
place in public.      

The Partnership Board has no formal delegated powers from the organisations in the 
Partnership. It will work by building agreement with leaders across Partner organisations to 
drive action around a shared direction of travel. Over time our expectation is that regulatory 
functions of the national bodies will increasingly be enacted through collaboration with our 
leadership.  

BSW Partnership Executive 

The BSW Partnership Executive comprises the chief executives / accountable officers or 
senior leaders of each Partner organisation. The group is responsible for overseeing delivery 
of the strategy of the Partnership; building leadership and collective responsibility for our 
shared objectives; monitoring / managing system performance. The BSW Senior 
Responsible Officer chairs the BSW Partnership Executive, which comprises the CEOs / 
Managing Directors of the BSW partner organisations. 

Members of the BSW Partnership Executive are expected to recommend to their 
organisations that they support agreements and decisions made by the BSW Partnership 
Executive (always subject to each Partner’s compliance with internal governance and 
approval procedures). 

Oversight and Delivery Group  

The Oversight and Delivery Group (ODG) provides a mechanism for Partner organisations to 
take ownership of system performance and delivery / of planning activities, operational 
delivery and financial performance across BSW, and to hold one another to account. The 
ODG is chaired by the BSW CCG Director for Transformation and Strategy, and comprises 
partner organisations’ Directors of Finance, Chief Operating Officers, and Directors of Adult 
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Social Care. The Urgent Care and Flow Board, and the Elective Care Board – each 
comprising representatives from partner organisations and sectors – report to the ODG. 

Finance Group   

We are working in a collaborative way across system partners to manage our finances, a 
system control total representing the aggregated income and expenditure position NHS 
partner organisations across BSW, and financial risks.  BSW Finance Directors and BSW 
Deputy Directors of Finance from the partner organisations meet regularly to develop and 
implement our system financial strategy, system financial sustainability plan, and system 
approach to financial risk. The Group is led by the BSW CCG Director of Finance and 
comprises the Finance Directors and their deputies from partner organisations.

The Population Health and Care Group 

Clinical leadership is central to all of the work we do. Clinical leadership that reflects both 
primary and secondary care is built into our governance and work programmes.   

The Population Health and Care Group (PHCG) provides clinical leadership, advice and 
challenge for the work of the Partnership in meeting our aims of improving our populations’ 
health and wellbeing; improving care and the quality of services.  It will ensure that the voice 
of clinicians, from across the range of clinical professions and partner organisations, drives 
the development of new clinical models and proposals for the transformation of services. 
The PHCG is co-chaired by the BSW CCG Medical Director and a provider Medical Director, 
and comprises clinicians and health and social care professionals. 

System Capability and People Group  

The System Capability and People Group (SCPG) provides strategic direction and oversight 
of the ICS System Capability and People programme, and ensures delivery of the NHS 
People Plan through the BSW People Plan.  The group also works with Health Education 
England (HEE) to secure financial support for the SCPG and sub-group work (People 
Operational Delivery Group). The SCPG is chaired by the CEO of Great Western Hospital, 
and members of the Group comprise representatives of health and care staff groups. 

Quality Surveillance Group 

The BSW Quality Surveillance Group (QSG) brings together a range of partners from across 
the health and care system, to share intelligence about risks to quality. The QSG is chaired 
by the BSW CCG Director of Nursing and Quality. Members of the QSG include the BSW 
CCG, Councils, Healthwatch, CQC, PHE, and HEE. It covers all NHS-commissioned 
services, and services jointly commissioned by the NHS and Councils. 
The Group is a supportive forum for collaboration and intelligence sharing, and carries out 
quality surveillance to BSW, for which NHS England has delegated responsibility to it. By 
triangulating intelligence from different organisations, it provides the health economy with a 
shared view of risks to quality, and opportunities to coordinate actions to drive improvement.  
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Programme governance  

Governance and programme management arrangements are built into each of our priority 
and enabling programmes. Each programme has a Senior Responsible Owner, typically a 
senior leader, and has a structure that builds in clinical and other stakeholder input, 
representation from each of our localities, and each relevant service sector. 

To drive transformation delivery, we have established programme boards for Digital; Estates; 
and for our key service transformation priorities: Maternity, Ageing well, Mental Health, 
Learning Disabilities and Autism, End of Live Care. Programme Mandates have been 
developed for each programme and enabling work stream.  

Members of our partnership are sharing responsibility for delivery by contributing to the 
distributed leadership arrangements of these groups, and by providing expertise and support 
for these programmes.  As programme arrangements and deliverables evolve over time, the 
mandates will be revised and updated as necessary.  

The programme mandates set out the vision for a transformed service; the specific ambitions 
for improvement and transformation; the component projects and workstreams and the 
leadership arrangements.  

Other governance arrangements between Partners 

The BSW Partnership is underpinned by governance arrangements / forums for engagement 
that pertain to specific sectors, and that aid collaborations. These arrangements include 

The Acute Hospitals Alliance

GWH, SFT & RUH established the Acute Alliance in spring 2018. Over 3 years relationships 
and expectations have steadily strengthened across the Trusts, with leaders now working 
closely together with an agreed programme of work, covering corporate and clinical areas.  

Partnership mutual accountability  

A single consistent approach for assurance and accountability between Partners on BSW 
system wide matters will be applied through the governance structures and processes 
outlined above. In doing so, we recognise the current statutory requirements: 

 NHS England has a statutory duty (under the Health and Social Care Act (2012)) to 
conduct an annual assessment of every CCG, which includes an assessment how 
the CCG works with others (including their local Health and Wellbeing Boards) to 
improve quality and outcomes for patients; 

 NHS Improvement is responsible for overseeing NHS foundation trusts, NHS trusts, 
and independent healthcare providers;  

 The local authorities in our area (B&NES Council, Swindon Borough Council, and 
Wiltshire Council) have social care functions, and can hold the BSW CCG and 
providers of publicly funded health and social care to account for the quality of their 
services. The health scrutiny function operates through statutory powers to obtain 
information, ask questions in public and make recommendations for improvements, 



Page 11 of 26

which must be considered by the commissioner, and by relevant providers.  

Cognisant of the above, through this Memorandum, all Partners agree to take a collaborative 
approach to, and collective responsibility for, managing the BSW system’s collective 
performance, resources, and population health. The Partners will: 

 Agree ambitious outcomes, and intelligent reporting that allows us to get a rounded 
view of our system performance, demonstrate whether our change is really impacting 
where it needs to, and moves us from traditional performance management to 
achieving outcomes and transformation; 

 Through our system governance and our collaborative forums, make collaborative 
and collective decisions, provide assurance to our regulators and stakeholders, and 
engage people and communities across BSW; and 

 Identify good practice, innovation and learning in individual organisations and places, 
and ensure these are spread, applied and adopted through our programmes and 
work streams. 

Our Partnership will approach system oversight as a cycle / process of continuous 
improvement. This will include:  

 Monitoring performance against key multi-agency outcomes metrics, performance 
and quality measures, and statutory standards, and ‘things which matter’ to BSW and 
LTP deliverables; 

 Taking a Population Health / patient pathway approach to support our understanding 
of the pressures in our system, and enabling a focus on inequalities; 

 Clear narrative on the impacts on patient pathways, and on drivers of performance, 
enabling the Partners to agree and own actions to achieve improvement; 

 Harnessing our clinical forums, and our population engagement forums, to identify 
the need for support or action, and to demonstrate how / that the system listens and 
is in service of the BSW population; 

 Application of regulatory powers or functions. 

A number of Partners have their own improvement capacity and expertise. Subject to the 
agreement of the relevant Partner/s, this resource will be managed by the Partner/s in a co-
ordinated approach for the benefit of the overall Partnership, and used together with the 
improvement expertise provided by national bodies and programmes. 

Our localities in our Partnership mutual accountability  

This Memorandum has no direct impact on the roles and respective responsibilities of the 
Partners, which all retain their full statutory duties and powers. 

The Health and Wellbeing Boards of B&NES, Swindon, and Wiltshire Councils are formal 
committees of the respective local authority, charged with promoting greater integration and 
partnership between bodies from the NHS, public health and local government. They have a 
statutory duty, with the commissioner/s in their areas (BSW CCG for the BSW area), to 
produce a joint strategic needs assessment and a joint health and wellbeing strategy for their 
local population. 

In each of our three localities, the respective local Integrated Care Alliance (ICA) Board 
brings together the relevant Council, local health and care providers, and the CCG to further 
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the integration of health and care provision in response to the specific needs of the local 
population, including through joint planning and budgeting.   

Decision-making and dispute resolution       

Our agreed principle of subsidiarity, and our shared values and behaviours underpin our 
approach to making Partnership decisions, and resolving any disagreements. We will take all 
reasonable steps to reach a mutually acceptable resolution to any dispute. 

The Partnership will have three levels of decision-making:  

 Decisions made by individual organisations – this Memorandum does not 
affect the individual sovereignty of Partners or their statutory decision-making 
responsibilities.  

 Decisions made at locality and / or in collaborative forums – consistent with 
our principle of making decisions once and at the right place, we are developing 
collaborative forums at place level (including, currently, Locality Commissioning 
Groups). Arrangements for resolving disputes in such cases are set out in the 
respective memorandum / Terms of Reference and not this Memorandum.  

 Partnership decisions – the Partners will make decisions on a range of matters 
in the Partnership which will neither impact on the statutory responsibilities of 
individual organisations nor have been delegated formally to a collaborative 
forum.  

Collaborative decisions on Partnership matters will be considered by the Partnership 
Board. The Partnership Board has no formal powers delegated by any Partner. 
However, it will increasingly take on responsibility for co-ordinating decisions relating to 
regulatory and oversight functions currently exercised from outside the BSW system, 
and will look to reach agreements and decisions on a ‘Best for BSW’ basis. The Terms 
of Reference for the BSW Partnership Board set out the types of decision which it will 
have responsibility to discuss, and how conflicts of interest will be managed. The 
Partnership Board will reach agreements / make decisions relating to  

 The objectives of priority work programmes and workstreams  
 The apportionment of transformation monies from national bodies  
 Priorities for capital investment across the Partnership  
 Operation of the single NHS financial control total (for NHS Bodies)  
 Agreeing actions when localities or Partners become distressed  

The BSW Partnership Executive will make recommendations to the Partnership Board 
on these matters. As required and appropriate, the Partnership Board will make 
decisions by consensus of the Partners at a quorate meeting. If a consensus decision 
cannot be reached, then it may be referred for resolution (save for decisions on 
allocation of capital investment and transformation funding).  
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Dispute resolution  

Partners will attempt to resolve in good faith any dispute between them in respect of 
Partnership Board (or other Partnership-related) decisions, in line with the principles, 
values and behaviours set out in this Memorandum.  

Decisions made by the Partnership do not impact on the statutory responsibilities of 
individual organisations. Therefore, in resolving disputes regarding Partnership 
decisions, Partners will be expected to apply the shared values and behaviours set out 
in this Memorandum, and to come to a mutual agreement through the dispute resolution 
process.  

If Partners cannot resolve a dispute amongst themselves, the Partnership will apply a 
dispute resolution process to resolve any issues which cannot otherwise be agreed 
through these arrangements.  

The key stages of the dispute resolution process are:  

i. The BSW Partnership Executive Group will come to a majority decision (through a 
majority of Partners participating in the dispute resolution meeting and who are not 
affected or conflicted by the matter in dispute) on how best to resolve the dispute, 
applying the principles, values and behaviours set out in this Memorandum, and 
taking account of the objectives of the Partnership. The BSW Partnership Executive 
Group will seek to resolve the dispute within 14 business days, and advise the 
Partners concerned of its decision in writing. 

ii.   In the unlikely event that the BSW Executive group cannot resolve the dispute, it will 
be referred to the Partnership Board. The Partnership Board will come to a majority 
decision on how best to resolve the dispute in accordance with the terms of this 
Memorandum and advise the parties of its decision. 

Finances    

All Partners to this agreement across BSW are ready to work together, manage risk 
together, and support each other financially when required. The Partners are committed to 
working in collaboration with others to deliver the changes required to achieve financial 
sustainability and live within our resources.  

A set of financial principles have been agreed, within the context of the broader guiding 
Principles for our Partnership. They confirm that we will:  

 aim to live within our means, i.e. the resources that we have available to provide 
services; 

 make decisions which will be system first allowing us to make the right decisions for 
our population 

 collectively maximise ‘best value’ in all our decision making  
 develop a BSW system response to the financial challenges we face; and  
 develop payment and risk share models that support a system response rather than 

work against it.  
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Living within our means and management of risk  

Through this Memorandum, the collective NHS Partner leaders in each organisation commit 
to demonstrate robust financial risk management. This will include agreeing action plans that 
will be mobilised across BSW in the event of the emergence of an unplanned financial risk. 
This might include establishing a BSW risk reserve where this is appropriate and in line with 
the legal obligations of the respective NHS body Partners involved.  

Subject to compliance with confidentiality and legal requirements around competition, 
sensitive information, and information security, the Partners agree to adopt an open-book 
approach to financial plans and risks in BSW leading to the agreement of fully aligned 
operational plans. Aligned plans will be underpinned by common financial planning 
assumptions on income and expenditure between providers and commissioners, and on 
issues that have a material impact on the availability of system financial incentives.  

NHS Contracting principles  

The NHS Partners are committed to considering the adoption of payment models which are 
better suited to whole system collaborative working and consider moving to a cost based 
approach to managing finances across the system.  

The Partners will look to adopt models which reduce financial volatility and provide greater 
certainty for all Partners at the beginning of each year of the planned income and costs.  

Allocation of Transformation Funds  

The Partners intend that any transformation funds made available to the Partnership will all 
be used within BSW.  Funds will be allocated through collective decision-making by the 
Partnership in line with agreed priorities. The method of allocation may vary according to 
agreed priorities. However, funds will not be allocated through expensive and protracted 
bidding and prioritisation processes and will be deployed in those areas where the Partners 
have agreed will deliver the maximum leverage for change and address financial risk.  

The funding provided to individual organisations and Integrated Care Alliances in the future 
(based on weighted population, or other formula agreed by the Partners) will directly support 
agreed transformation programmes. This will be managed by each organisation (and 
Integrated Care Alliances in the future) with clear and transparent governance arrangements 
that provide assurance to all Partners that the resource has been deployed to deliver 
maximum transformational impact, to address financial risk, and to meet the efficiency 
requirements. Funding will be provided subject to agreement of clear deliverables and 
outcomes by the relevant Partners through the mutual accountability arrangements and be 
subject to on-going monitoring and assurance from the Partnership.  

Funding provided to the Programmes will be determined in agreement with Partners through 
the BSW Executives, subject to documenting the agreed deliverables and outcomes with the 
relevant Partners.  

Allocation of ICS capital  

The BSW Partnership will play an important role in prioritising capital funding made available 
to the system in support of the ICS aims and priorities, and how this is spent across 
Partners. In doing this, the Partnership will ensure that:  

 the capital prioritisation process is fair and transparent;  
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 there is a sufficient balance across capital priorities specific to Localities (Integrated 
Care Alliances in the future) as well as those which benefit the whole system;  

 there is sufficient focus on backlog maintenance and equipment replacement in the 
overall approach to capital;  

 the prioritisation of major capital schemes must have a clear and demonstrable link to 
affordability and improvement of the financial position;  

 strategic capital programmes will align to future clinical and service models; 

Across BSW, we already have substantial estate development plans. We are developing a 
system wide approach to capital and estates planning, including locality level reviews of 
estate plans between partners. Collaboration between acute partners on estates issues will 
increasingly be coordinated through the acute hospitals alliance. We will ensure that we 
have the best information, data, and intelligence to inform the decisions that we take. 

Ambitions for the future 

We have shared and will share with each other the following information on an open-book 
basis:

 our opening revenue and capital, financial and operational plans including those 
plans relating to expenditure on specialised and other directly commissioned services  

 planned expenditure against income/allocation, reflecting agreed contract values and 
any reserves 

 key assumptions on which plans are based, including activity levels, workforce, 
premises, investment/de-investment programmes, other cost drivers and efficiency 
plans 

 analysis of key risks to delivery of those plans 
 monthly in-year reports summarising the position against all of the above, showing 

projected year-end position against financial improvement trajectories, highlighting 
any significant (and new/changed) risks and describing action in hand to address 
them; and  

 any further information which may reasonably be required to be available to us all in 
order for us to pursue and achieve our Objectives. 

We will in year work through and agree a clear approach on how we respond to movements 
away from individual organisations control totals to ensure that as a system we are achieving 
the overall system wide control total; focusing on how we move cash around the system.  

We will look to underpin this collaborative approach by strengthening our governance 
arrangements overseen by a BSW Finance Committee. 

Information sharing                

The Partners will provide to each other all information that is reasonably required in order to 
achieve the Objectives and take decisions on a ‘Best for BSW’ basis.  

The Partners have obligations to comply with competition law. The Partners will therefore 
make sure that they share information, and in particular competition sensitive information, in 
such a way that is compliant with competition and data protection law.  

Confidential Information 

Each Partner shall keep in strict confidence all Confidential Information it receives from 
another Partner except to the extent that such Confidential Information is required by Law to 
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be disclosed or is already in the public domain or comes into the public domain otherwise 
than through an unauthorised disclosure by a Partner. Each Partner shall use any 
Confidential Information received from another Partner solely for the purpose of complying 
with its obligations under this Memorandum in accordance with the Principles and Objectives 
and for no other purpose. No Partner shall use any Confidential Information received under 
this Memorandum for any other purpose including use for their own commercial gain in 
services outside of the Partnership or to inform any competitive bid without the express 
written permission of the disclosing Partner.  

To the extent that any Confidential Information is covered or protected by legal privilege, 
then disclosing such Confidential Information to any Partner or otherwise permitting 
disclosure of such Confidential Information does not constitute a waiver of privilege or of any 
other rights which a Partner may have in respect of such Confidential Information.  

The Parties agree to procure, as far as is reasonably practicable, that the terms of this 
Paragraph (Confidential Information) are observed by any of their respective successors, 
assigns or transferees of respective businesses or interests or any part thereof as if they had 
been party to this Memorandum.  

Nothing in this Paragraph will affect any of the Partners’ regulatory or statutory obligations, 
including but not limited to competition law.  

Adding Partners 

If it is deemed appropriate to achieve the Partnership objectives, the Partners may agree to 
invite additional partner(s) to the Partnership. The agreement of all Partners is necessary to 
include additional partner(s) in the Partnership. If they agree such a step, the Partners will 
cooperate to develop the necessary documentation and make revisions to this 
Memorandum, as may be required. 

Any organisation who is to be a Partner to this Memorandum shall commit to the principles, 
values and behaviours, and to the Partnership objectives as set out in this Memorandum, 
and shall take ownership both of system success and system failure.   

Leaving the Partnership 

If a Partner wishes to leave the Partnership, it shall inform the Partnership SRO in writing six 
months before the desired exit date. All obligations of the Partner to the Partnership, as set 
out in this MoU, will end at the date of exit from the Partnership. 

National and regional support 

To support Partnership development as an Integrated Care System there will be a 
process of aligning resources from arm’s-length bodies to support delivery and establish 
an integrated single assurance and regulation approach.  

National and regional capability and capacity will be available to support BSW on its 
journey to becoming a mature, flourishing integrated care system, including support 
regarding governance, finance and efficiency, regulation and competition, primary care, 
urgent care, cancer, mental health.  
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Variations 

This Memorandum, including the Appendices, may only be varied by written agreement 
of all the Partners.  

Charges and liabilities 

Except as otherwise provided, the Partners shall each bear their own costs and 
expenses incurred in complying with their obligations under this Memorandum.  

By separate agreement, the Partners may agree to share specific costs and expenses 
(or equivalent) arising in respect of the Partnership between them in accordance with a 
“Contributions Schedule” to be developed by the Partnership and approved by the 
Partnership Board.  

Partners shall remain liable for any losses or liabilities incurred due to their own or their 
employee's actions.  

Signatories  

[replace the list with the labels of each partner, names of the representative signing on 
behalf of the partner, and signatures] 

- Local Authorities 
o Bath and North East Somerset Council 
o Swindon Borough Council 
o Wiltshire Council 

- NHS Commissioners 
o Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire CCG 

- NHS Service Providers 
o Royal United Hospital (RUH) Bath 
o Great Western Hospital (GWH) Swindon 
o Salisbury Foundation Trust (SFT) 
o Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust (AWP) 
o Virgin Care 
o Medvivo 
o Wiltshire Health and Care NHS partnership (WHC) 
o SWASFT 

- Health Regulators and Oversight Bodies 
o NHS England  &NHS Improvement 
o West of England Academic Health Science Network  
o Health Education England 

- Other partners 
o Healthwatch BaNES 
o Healthwatch Swindon 
o Healthwatch Wiltshire 
o Wessex LMC 
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Stephen Ladyman 
Chair of Wiltshire Health and  Care  

[Medvivo] 



Page 19 of 26

As members of the Partnership all of these organisations subscribe to the vision, 
principles, values and behaviours stated, and agree to participate in the governance 
and accountability arrangements set out in this Charter. 
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Appendix 1 – BSW Partnership Governance schematic 
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Appendix 2 – Applicability of Memorandum Elements 

NHS 
Providers 

CCG Councils NHSE and 
NHSI 

Healthwatch Other 
partners 

Vision, principles, values and 
behaviour 

x x x x x x 

Partnership objectives x x x x x x 

Governance x x x x x x 

Decision-making and dispute 
resolution 

x x x x x x 

Mutual accountability x x x x 

Financial framework – financial 
risk management 

x x x 

Financial framework –
Allocation of capital and 
transformation funds 

x x x x 

National and regional support x x x x 



Page 22 of 26

Appendix 3 – Terms of Reference 



Page 23 of 26

BSW Partnership Board 

Terms of Reference 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Within the applicable legislative and regulatory framework for Integrated Care Systems, and 
the framework set by the BSW Partnership MoU, the Partner organisations of the Bath and 
North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire (BSW) Integrated Care System (ICS) have 
established a BSW Partnership Board that will provide strategic leadership for the BSW 
ICS.  

1.2 Each organisation represented in the BSW Partnership Board works as part of the BSW 
ICS. Decisions taken by this BSW Partnership Board do not affect the liability of each 
individual organisation for the exercise of its functions. 

1.3 The BSW Partnership Executive reports to this BSW Partnership Board, and shall take 
instructions from it. 

1.4 These Terms of Reference set out the membership, remit, responsibilities and reporting 
arrangements of the BSW Partnership Board. 

2. Purpose 

2.1 The BSW Partnership Board is established to ensure that all Partner organisations are 
actively engaged in the leadership and delivery of a successful BSW ICS. 

3. Responsibilities/Duties 

3.1 The BSW Partnership Board remit extends the following areas:

 Appointment of the BSW ICS SRO, within the applicable legislative and regulatory 
framework, and annual appraisal of the BSW ICS SRO;    

 Agreement of the framework and principles for the BSW ICS governance,  within the 
applicable legislative and regulatory framework;  

 Setting the strategic direction for the BSW ICS, and ensuring delivery;  

 Providing the strategic leadership for BSW ICS transformation programmes, and 
ensuring their visibility and support within partner organisations; The BSW Partnership 
Board will delegate responsibility for the delivery of the BSW ICS transformation 
programmes to its Executive. 

 Overseeing the communications and engagement strategy for the BSW ICS;  

 Ensuring that statutory requirements regarding the public involvement in service design 
and / or service change are met; 

 Ensuring  that the voice of service users, and of clinicians and staff are listened to;  

 Setting the direction for the management of system risks;  

 Endorsement of annual expenditure  and delivery plans for the BSW ICS 
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The BSW Partnership Board shall seek the views of, and recommend direction of travel / 
course of action to, the BSW ICS Partner organisations as appropriate. 

The BSW Partnership Board is accountable to NHSE for the development of the ICS.  

The BSW Partnership Board will ensure that the Partnership is adequately reflected in the 
strategies of its constituent Partners organisations.      

4. Membership  

4.1   The following are members of the BSW Partnership Board, i.e. they can participate in the 
BSW Partnership Board’s decision-making within the remit of these Terms of Reference: 

 The BSW ICS Independent Chair 
 The BSW ICS Senior Responsible Officer 
 The Chair and the CEO of the Royal United Hospitals (RUH) Bath  
 The Chair and the CEO of the Salisbury Foundation Trust (SFT) 
 The Chair and the CEO of the Great Western Hospital (GWH) Swindon 
 The Managing Director, Virgin Care BaNES  
 The Chair and the Managing Director, Wiltshire Health and Care 
 The Chair and the Chief Executive of AWP 
 The Managing Director, Medvivo 
 The Cabinet Member Adult Social Care, B&NES Council 
 The Director Adult Social Care, B&NES Council 
 The Director of Public Health, B&NES  Council 
 The Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board, Swindon Borough Council  
 The Director of Public Health, Swindon Borough Council 
 The Director  Adult Social Services, Swindon Borough Council 
 The Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, Public Health and Public Protection, 

Wiltshire Council 
 The Director of Public Health, Wiltshire Council 
 The Corporate Director (DCS and DASS), Wiltshire Council 
 The Chair and the Deputy Chair of Healthwatch 
 The CEO of The Care Forum  
 The Chair and one Lay Member of the BSW Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG) 
 The Chair and the Vice Chair of the BSW Population Health and Care Group 
 The Chair of the BSW ICS Social Partnership 
 The Chief Executive of Wessex LMC 
 The Managing Director and the Chief Operating Officer of the West of England 

Academic Health Science Network (WEAHSN) 
 The Chair of the South West Ambulance Services Foundation Trust (SWASFT) 

4.2 The following normally attend Committee / Group meetings, i.e. they may receive meeting 
documents but cannot participate in the Committee / Group’s decision-making: 

 The Director of Finance, BSW CCG; 
 The Director of Strategy and Transformation, BSW CCG; 
 The Communications Lead, BSW CCG; 
 The Director of Workforce and OD (South West), NHSE. 

4.3 In addition, the Chair, on behalf of the BSW Partnership Board, may invite such individuals 
to the BSW Partnership Board’s meetings as are considered necessary to enable the BSW 
Partnership Board to conduct its business effectively. For the avoidance of doubt, such 
invited attendees cannot participate in the BSW Partnership Board’s decision-making. 
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4.4 Members of the Group must be of sufficient seniority to agree, on behalf of the organisation 
they represent, actions / steps / activities within the remit of the BSW Partnership Board. 

4.5 The Group itself has no decision-making power. On behalf of the organisations they 
represent, representatives make decisions / reach agreements consistent with the powers 
delegated to them through their respective organisation’s scheme of delegations and 
delegated financial limits. 

4.6 For the avoidance of doubt, the Independent ICS Chair will chair meetings of the BSW 
Partnership Board. The Chair of the BSW CCG will be the Vice-Chair of the Partnership 
Board.  

5. Quorum 

5.1 A quorum shall be one half of the members, which must include representation from at least 
one Local Authority, one acute trust, one community provider, and one mental health 
provider.

5.2 If the meeting becomes inquorate, it shall either be suspended, or decisions agreed at the 
next meeting of the BSW Partnership Board.  

6. Reporting 

6.1 After each of its meetings, the BSW Partnership Board will report, through agreed means of 
communications such as minutes or news bulletins, to the BSW ICS Partner organisations. 
In particular, the BSW Partnership Board will ensure that approvals are sought, as 
appropriate and required, through the Partner organisations’ internal governance structures. 

6.2  In addition, and as agreed with the BSW Partnership Board, the Chair shall report on any 
matters within the remit of BSW Partnership Board which in the Chair’s view require 
NHSE’s and / or Partner organisations’ particular attention and/ or decision making. 

7. Authority 

7.1 In furtherance and support of its business, the BSW Partnership Board is authorised to 
request and review reports from external experts and from individual functions within the 
partner organisations, as appropriate; and to seek assurances from the partner 
organisations on relevant matters. 

7.2 The BSW Partnership Board has the authority to determine and approve the terms under 
which the Partnership is established and develops, including proposed delegated decision 
rights.      

7.3 The BSW Partnership Board is authorised to invest the resources allocated to it by the 
funding organisations to ensure the BSW ICS can develop, and implement plans, in line 
with national guidance.  The BSW Partnership Board will exercise this authority through the 
BSW ICS Executive. 

7.4 The BSW Partnership Board may establish such committees and / or groups as it deems 
required and appropriate to be supported in the discharging of its responsibilities and 
functions. 

8.  Frequency of Meetings 
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8.1 Meetings shall normally be held bi-monthly, and otherwise as required.  

9. Secretary 

9.1 The Secretariat for the BSW Partnership Board is provided by the BSW CCG Corporate 
Office. The Secretariat shall: 
 support the Chair in preparing and managing the BSW Partnership Board’s meetings, 

incl. agenda setting; 
 ensure timely provision of meeting papers / materials to BSW Partnership Board 

members; 
 record in formal minutes the business transacted and decisions taken by the BSW 

Partnership Board; 
 support the preparation of onward reports by the BSW Partnership Board; and   
 provide BSW Partnership Board members with governance advice as required. 

10. Conduct of meetings 

10.1 Members of the BSW Partnership Board will  
 conduct the BSW Partnership Board’s business in accordance with any national 

guidance and relevant codes of conduct / good governance practice, including the 
Nolan principles of public life; 

 comply with the standards of business conduct, including the protocols for managing 
conflicts of interest, as determined in their organisations’ relevant policies and guidance 
on good and proper meeting conduct. 

10.2 A meeting is constituted when members attend face-to-face, via telephone or video 
conferencing, any other electronic means, or through a combination of the above. Quoracy 
rules apply in any case. For the avoidance of doubt, this provision applies to and facilitates 
the BSW Partnership Board’s decision making by email, should this be required to expedite 
an urgent decision.  

10.3  Provided the meeting is quorate, the BSW Partnership Board will take decisions through 
consensus of those present.  

10.4 If a representative is not able to attend a meeting, a nominated and suitably authorised 
deputy may attend on their behalf. 

11. Review 

11.1 The BSW Partnership Board will regularly review its performance, its membership and 
these terms of reference, and agree any amendments it considers necessary to ensure it 
continues to discharge its business effectively. 

Effective date:
Review date:
Contact:
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Wiltshire Health and Care Board For decision

Subject: Quality Account 2020/21

Date of Meeting: 22 June 2021

Author: Sara Quarrie - Director of Quality, Professions and Workforce 

1. Purpose 
The purpose of this document is to introduce the Quality Account for 2020/21 and seek Board sign 
off for publication of the Account. 

2. Background 
Every NHS organisation is required to publish an annual Quality Account, every organisation is 
required to publish their 2020/21 Quality Account for the period 1st April 2020- 31st March 2021. WHC 
as an independent health provider does not have to follow the same guidance as NHS Foundation 
Trusts. This is taken into account and relevant sections have been included such as WHC’s 
approach to Freedom To Speak Up.  

The content of the Quality Account has been developed through contributions by the relevant experts 
and leads to provide an accurate reflection of our progress. The Quality Priorities 2021/22 have been 
co-created with WHC employees and focus on improvement to key areas highlighted via our quality 
systems. These Quality Priorities are tracked through our WHC Delivery Plan 2021/22. The content 
has been shared with WHC Audit Committee and Quality Committee Non-Executive Directors (NED), 
Bath, North East Somerset, Swindon, and Wiltshire (BSW) Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), 
Wiltshire Health Select Committee and Healthwatch. NED and Healthwatch comments have been 
reviewed and relevant changes have been made to the account.  A statement has not yet been 
received from Wiltshire Health Select Committee and BSW CCG, but this is expected before the 
publishing due date. 

3. Discussion 
The Quality Account is currently in draft form and will be published once agreed by WHC board and 
statements are received from Wiltshire Health Select Committee and BSW. There will be time given 
in the next 2 weeks to amend the presentation of the document once the content has been agreed by 
Wiltshire Health and Care board. 

4. Recommendation 
4.1 The Board is invited to: 

(a) Approve the Quality Account 2020/21 for publication. 
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Impacts and Links 

Impacts 

Quality Impact There is a national requirement for each organisation to produce a Quality Account (QA).  
The Quality Priorities for 2021/22 reflect the key areas for quality improvement and align 
to the delivery plan 2021/22 

Equality Impact The QA reflects service delivery across all service areas and across the whole of 
Wiltshire 

Financial 
implications 

There is not expected to be any financial implications other than those agreed against 
the 2021/22 delivery plan 

Impact on 
operational 
delivery of 
services 

The content of the QA and the delivery of the Quality Priorities will be central to 
operational delivery. 

Regulatory/ 
legal 
implications 

In line with both NHSI and CQC regulations 

Links 

Link to business 
plan/ 5 year 
programme of 
change 

Quality priorities for 2021/22 are embedded into the 2021/22 Delivery Plan 

Links to known 
risks 

Identification of 
new risks 

None 
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Welcome to Wiltshire Health and Care’s Quality Account 2020/21, which
details the quality of the NHS community services that we provide across
Wiltshire. The Quality Account is one of the ways that we report on our
work, not only to reflect on our achievements but also to identify the
areas where we still have work to do.
 
This has been a year of extra-ordinary challenge for the NHS generally
and also for Wiltshire Health and Care. As an organisation we have been
on the front line of the NHS response to COVID-19 and our staff have
risen heroically to the challenge. Remarkably, as these accounts show,
as well as responding to the pandemic we have continued to make
progress against our priorities in all areas. On behalf of the Board of
Directors I congratulate all our staff on their efforts over the last year.
 
Everything we do is focussed on helping the people who live in the
communities we serve to live healthy, independent lives and in the years
ahead we will try to do even better at achieving that goal. We have set
out how we propose to do that in our delivery plan and the Board is
committed to supporting our staff and partners as they try to develop
services in line with our strategy and key priorities.

Statement from the
Chair  of  the Board

Stephen Ladyman
Chair of the Board
Wiltshire Health and Care
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Statement from the
Managing Director
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Douglas Blair
Managing Director
Wiltshire Health and Care

I am pleased to publish this Quality Account for 2020/21. While inevitably
some of our plans were impacted by the necessary need to focus on the
pandemic, it is pleasing that there is a good range of achievement being
reported.  I am proud to lead a team that has been quick to respond to
the unexpected in the last year and continues to bring energy and
determination to the ongoing challenges of improving and adapting
community services. Given the complexities of delivering healthcare
services, we will not get everything right, all of the time. I am confident,
however, that our teams are always striving to deliver the best quality
service and this includes reflecting and learning from incidents where
they occur. 

Finally, by reading this document, you are demonstrating an interest in
Wiltshire Health and Care and its services. I want to thank you for this
interest and encourage you to get involved to help us continue to
improve in the future by contacting us at: 

Chippenham Community Hospital, Rowden Hill, Chippenham,
Wiltshire, SN15 2AJ
 
01249 456565
 
ask.wiltshirehealthandcare@nhs.net
 
www.wiltshirehealthandcare.nhs.uk
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Trained champions in all localities who are
diverse from all services
Quarterly submissions to the national portal

Measurable outcomes 

2020-21 Quality Priorities

1 Further develop our Freedom to Speak Up Service

2 Quality Improvement Training and Strategy

All staff have access to QI training module
(bronze)
Dedicated QI area on WHC intranet 

Measurable outcomes Our outcome
Training prepared and sessions commence in
July 2021

Quality Priority - Quality Improvement (QI) training (Bronze level) and sharing of QI strategy,
information and tools

Quality Priority - Further develop our Freedom to Speak Up (FTSU) service to enhance staff
awareness of how to raise a concern and who to contact

Our outcome
Review of structure and training of Champions
planned for September 2021

Wiltshire Health and Care (WHC) are committed to providing, safe,
effective, high quality care to our patients and placing their health and
wellbeing at the heart of our service planning and delivery. We are
delighted to report ongoing progress in every area over the past year
whilst responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. All facets of WHC service
delivery were affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. I  am proud of how
WHC we able to adapt, change and redeploy quickly to keep core
services supporting our patients and carers in the midst of uncertain
times of the pandemic. 

Throughout 2021/21 we have ensured we continued to develop and
deliver services in line with our strategy and key priorities:  

About out Qual i ty
Account



Quality Priority - Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (E,D & I) – this year we will ensure that our
website meets Accessibility Standards and will employ a E,D&I officer to liaise with communities
and stakeholders to enhance equality of opportunity for the people we serve, so that we can
implement a plan to eliminate disadvantage, promote understanding and advance equality.

4

Quarterly meetings held
Carers directly involved in the
development of key priorities for WHC
Carers’ Strategy
Carers Café’s held

Measurable outcomes 

Quality Priority - WHC will adapt its delivery of wheelchair services in line with the
recommendations to improve the experience of all service users

WHC will increase the patient and public voice within the
organisation by the development and delivery of a forum

5 WHC will adapt its delivery of wheelchair services in line with the
recommendations to improve the experience of all service users

Quality Priority - We will host carers’ strategy meetings across our sites at regular
intervals throughout the year (quarterly). The aim of this is to give direction to the
development of staff, patient, and carer partnerships; ensuring that the carers’ voice is
heard, their expertise acknowledged and we support an integrated approach to identify
and assess carer health and wellbeing. 

Carer’s cafes commenced but were put on
hold due to COVID-19 Pandemic. 
WHC are recruiting Carers onto the
Patient and Public Involvement Group and
Carer Support Wiltshire is in attendance. 
This priority will continue as part of
2021/22 Quality Priority number three.

Our outcome

Development and delivery of a patient
and carers experience measurement
tool 
Analysis of the results to support
service improvement 
WHC will develop a personalised
wheelchair budget system

Measurable outcomes 
Implemented wheelchair user satisfaction
outcome measure (WATCH tool). 
Acted on user feedback to update our
website information, patient leaflet, 
 referral form and implemented training to
speed up processes for the patient. 
Rollout of development of personal
wheelchair budgets commenced.

Our outcome
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Website meets Accessibility Standards
WHC has a data set which provides an idea
of the diversity of its patients.

Measurable outcomes 
Website meets some Accessibility
Standards pending further website
development. 
WHC has a data set which provides
details of the diversity of its patients. As
the link between Datix [1] and NHS Spine
[2] is developed, the data will become
more complete. 
ED& I Officer appointed.

Our outcome

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
Introduct ion

[1] DATIX - web-based incident reporting and risk management software 
[2] NHS Spine - supports the IT infrastructure for health and social care in England,
joining together over 23,000 healthcare IT systems in 20,500 organisations.

https://digital.nhs.uk/services/spine


Execut ive
Summary

We have proactively sought the views and feedback from our patients and visitors
and will continue to use this feedback to inform future service development, ensuring
that we continue to provide the most appropriate care, for our patients and
community. In the 2021/22 we will focus on the following priorities:

At Wiltshire Health and Care we are privileged to serve our local communities. We are
proud of the achievements of the last year: our responsiveness to the COVID-19
pandemic and our continued commitment to our patients, staff and community, whilst
looking forward to building on those achievements in 2021/22.

With ongoing training, support, and quality improvement programmes our teams have
been proactive in working to continuously improve our services and patient care in a
number of areas, including:

Falls
Pressure Ulcers

Safeguarding
Medicines Management

We will further develop our Quality Systems 1
We will refine our clinical strategy with a focus on the deteriorating patient 2
We will promote a culture of Equality, Diversity and Inclusion across our staff
and patients3
We will aim for a 50% reduction in severe avoidable medicine related
incidents by 20244
We will deliver COVID-19 recovery 5

2020-21 Quality Priorities
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A Quality Account is a report about the quality of services offered by
an NHS healthcare provider. The reports are published annually by
each provider, including the independent sector, and are available to
the public. Quality Accounts are an important way for local NHS
services to report on quality and show improvements in the services
they deliver to local communities and stakeholders.

The quality of the services is measured by looking at patient safety,
the effectiveness of treatments patients receive, and patient feedback
about the care provided. [3]

It is an important way for Wiltshire Health and Care (WHC) to provide
an overview of the quality of the services provided, recognising the
areas of good and outstanding practice and identifying areas where
improvements are needed. The Quality Account also provides a
forward look at the quality priorities for the coming year (2021/22) and
how they will be achieved and measured. The quality of our services is
measured by looking at patient safety, clinical effectiveness and
patient experiences in all areas of delivery.

A draft of the Quality Account was circulated for comments, in line with
statutory requirements, to the following stakeholder groups; Wiltshire
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Wiltshire Health Select
Committee and Healthwatch Wiltshire. We invited them to review the
document and provide us with comments. You can read their
comments made on the draft document in section 6.

0 9
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[3] About Quality Accounts - NHS (www.nhs.uk)

What is a Qual i ty
Account?

https://www.nhs.uk/using-the-nhs/about-the-nhs/quality-accounts/about-quality-accounts/


Who we are

Our vision

Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Royal United Hospitals Bath NHS Foundation Trust
Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust

Wiltshire Health and Care is a partnership, focused solely on
delivering improved community services in Wiltshire and enabling
people to live independent and fulfilling lives for as long as possible.

We are an NHS partnership formed by the three local Foundation
Trusts which serve Wiltshire:

We are responsible for the delivery of adult community health
services in Wiltshire, with our contract extended to 30 June 2023.

We have our own Board, dedicated leadership and plan. We draw on
the expertise of committed professionals, along with drive and the
ambition to work in partnership across Bath, North East Somerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire (BSW) to care for our local population. [4]

Our vision is to enable people to live independent and fulfilling lives
for as long as possible. This vision involves changing and improving
the way in which community services support the people of Wiltshire,
to create a new delivery model for these services in line with the NHS
Long Term Plan. [5]

1 0
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[4] What is Wiltshire Health and Care - Wiltshire Health and Care
[5] NHS Long Term Plan » The NHS Long Term Plan

http://www.gwh.nhs.uk/
http://www.ruh.nhs.uk/
http://www.salisbury.nhs.uk/
http://wiltshirehealthandcare.nhs.uk/about-us/explanation-about-llp/
https://wiltshirehealthandcare.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/WHCs-Board-Executive-Team-and-Senior-Leaders-chart-V11-8-March-2021.pdf
https://wiltshirehealthandcare.nhs.uk/about-us/what-is-wiltshire-health-and-care/
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/


Our Services

1 1

F r a i l i t y  e x p e r t i s e
Consultant practit ioner in frailty and
Consultant Geriatricians from local acute
trusts provide specialist care to the frail and
elderly population 

C o m m u n i t y  H o s p i t a l s  3 of our 6 Community Hospitals have
inpatient wards 

C o m m u n i t y  T e a m  f o r
P e o p l e  w i t h  L e a r n i n g
D i s a b i l i t i e s  
(CTPLD) 

Support people over 18 years old who require
support with a health need

C o m m u n i t y  T e a m s Provide holistic care to patients, carers and
families

C o n t i n e n c e Provides specialist clinical assessments,
advice and treatment 

D i a b e t e s  Provides domicil iary visits and clinics for
people with Type 1 & 2 diabetes 

H o m e  F i r s t  /  2  h o u r  c r i s i s
s e r v i c e s

Is about funding and supporting people to
leave hospital, when safe and appropriate to
do so, and continuing their care &
assessment out of hospital

(IR)
I n t e n s i v e  R e h a b i l i t a t i o n  Work with the relevant providers of additional

care to provide holistic assessment

Introduct ion

L y m p h o e d e m a  Provides non-pall iative Lymphoedema care

L o n g  C o v i d  R e h a b i l i t a t i o n
A s s e s s m e n t  C l i n i c

To help people who sti l l  have symptoms
related to a Covid-19 infection after 12
weeks, to identify what symptoms a person is
experiencing and how this is affecting them
day to day
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I n t e g r a t e d  C o m m u n i t y
N e u r o  &  S t r o k e

Offer assessment, advice, support,
management and/or rehabil itation to adults
with acquired or long-term neurological
conditions

(MIU)
M i n o r  I n j u r y  U n i t s  

Bookable service, via 111, where patients
can be treated for minor injuries in
Chippenham and Trowbridge

O r t h o t i c s  Provides functional devices that wil l support
a person’s activity of daily l iving 

S p e e c h  a n d  L a n g u a g e
T h e r a p y  

Provides a wide range of expertise for
communication and swallowing diff iculties 

R e s p i r a t o r y  T e a m Provide specialised support for patients with
complex chronic lung disease

P o d i a t r y Provides specialist and general interventions
for foot health and biomechanics

Introduct ion

P h y s i o t h e r a p y Provides a comprehensive outpatient
musculoskeletal service

T i s s u e  V i a b i l i t y Manages patients with complex or
compromised skin integrity or leg ulcers

W h e e l c h a i r  S e r v i c e Provides wheelchairs and specialist
supportive seating 

W i l t s h i r e  O r t h o p a e d i c
I n t e r f a c e  S e r v i c e

Is a musculoskeletal (MSK) assessment
service run by Advanced Orthopaedic
Practit ioners



People’s care, treatment and support achieves
good outcomes, promotes a good quality of life
and is evidence based where possible

Effective

Staff involve and treat people with compassion,
kindness, dignity and respect

Caring

Quality is the foundation for all decision making and actions
undertaken by WHC; using an objective to ensure the delivery of safe
and effective care. This is demonstrated in the delivery plan as quality
being a key component quality running throughout. The provision of
high-quality care is measured against the Care Quality Commission
(CQC) domains:

People are protected from abuse and avoidable
harm

Safe

Services are organised so they meet people’s
needs

Responsive

Leadership, management and governance of
the organisation assures the delivery of high
quality person centred care, supports learning
and innovation and promotes an open and fair
culture

Well Led

Introduct ion
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Our approach to
Qual i ty

The Named Executive Lead for Quality in WHC is the Director of
Quality, Professions and Workforce. Since its inception in 2016, WHC
has had a focused approach on developing its Quality Assurance
function, to ensure effective mechanisms are in place to measure
compliance against regulatory and statutory standards.
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Figure  1  |  Wi l tsh i re  Hea l th  and Care  Governance St ruc ture

This has resulted in an increase in subject expert roles, which includes: Medicines
Optimisation Pharmacist, Safeguarding Lead for Children and an increase in Infection
Prevention and Control and Health and Safety support. WHC is now confident in its ‘floor
to board’ governance arrangements, and has a number of Policy and Oversight Groups
(POGs) to support and assure the Executive team. Further enhancement of the clinical
governance structure is provided via oversight and scrutiny by our Non-Executive
Directors through the Quality Assurance Committee. The organisational chart below
shows the flow of quality reporting through WHC.
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Looking Back
at 2020/21

Our quality priorities for 2020/21 were developed by taking into
account a number of key factors: the quality improvements that have
been achieved since the start of WHC in July 2016, what our patients
and the public are telling us and the continual process of checking
against quality and performance data, alignment with WHC’s delivery
plan, best practice, clinical evidence and national guidance. 

We have ensured that a 'quality focus' has been maintained
throughout the COVID19 pandemic but there has been an inevitable 
 impact on all of our services and our progress in delivering these
Quality Priorities. 

2020/21 Qual i ty
Prior i t ies

Quality Improvement Training and Strategy

4

Further develop our Freedom to Speak Up Service1

2

3 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 

WHC will increase the patient and public voice within
the organisation by the development and delivery of a
forum

5 WHC will adapt its delivery of wheelchair services in line
with the recommendations to improve the experience of
all service users



01

Further develop our Freedom to Speak Up (FTSU) service to
enhance staff awareness of how to raise a concern and who to
contact

W e  s a i d . . .

Looking Back
at 2020/21
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Trained champions in all localities who are diverse from all
services 

Quarterly submissions to the national portal

O u r  m e a s u r a b l e  o u t c o m e s . . .

Review of structure and training of Champions planned for
September 2021

A c h i e v e m e n t  a n d  w h a t  w e  w i l l  t a k e
f o r w a r d . . .

Further develop our
Freedom to Speak Up
Service



Looking Back
at  2021/22
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Quality Improvement (QI) training (Bronze level) and sharing of
QI strategy, information and tools

W e  s a i d . . .

All staff have access to QI training module (bronze)

Dedicated QI area on WHC intranet

O u r  m e a s u r a b l e  o u t c o m e s . . .

Training prepared and sessions commences in July 2021

A c h i e v e m e n t  a n d  w h a t  w e  w i l l  t a k e
f o r w a r d . . .

02
Qual i ty Improvement
Training and Strategy
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at  2021/22
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Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (E,D & I) – this year we will
ensure that our website meets Accessibility Standards and will
employ a E,D&I officer to liaise with communities and
stakeholders to enhance equality of opportunity for the people we
serve, so that we can implement a plan to eliminate
disadvantage, promote understanding and advance equality

W e  s a i d . . .

Website meets Accessibility Standards 

WHC has a data set which provides an idea of the diversity of its
patients

O u r  m e a s u r a b l e  o u t c o m e s . . .

The current website meets some Accessibility Standards and
includes information on ED&I. Further progress is pending further
website is developed. WHC has a data set which provides details
of the diversity of its patients. As the link between DATIX [6] and
NHS Spine [7], the data will become more complete. A ED&I
officer has been appointed and full activity plan is in place.

A c h i e v e m e n t  a n d  w h a t  w e  w i l l  t a k e
f o r w a r d . . .

[6] DATIX - web-based incident reporting and risk management software 
[7] NHS Spine - supports the IT infrastructure for health and social care in England,
joining together over 23,000 healthcare IT systems in 20,500 organisations.

03
Equal i ty,  Diversi ty
and Inclusion

https://digital.nhs.uk/services/spine


We will host carers’ strategy meetings across our sites at regular
intervals throughout the year (quarterly). The aim of this is to
give direction to the development of staff, patient, and carer
partnerships; ensuring that the carers’ voice is heard, their
expertise acknowledged and we support an integrated approach
to identify and assess carer health and wellbeing. 

W e  s a i d . . .

Looking Back
at  2021/22

2 0

Quarterly meetings held

Carers directly involved in the development of key priorities for
WHC Carers’ Strategy

Carers Café’s held

O u r  m e a s u r a b l e  o u t c o m e s . . .

Carer’s cafes commenced but were put on hold due to COVID-19
Pandemic. WHC are recruiting Carers onto the Patient and Public
Involvement Group and Carer Support Wiltshire is in attendance.
This priority will continue as part of 2021/22 Quality Priority
number three.

A c h i e v e m e n t  a n d  w h a t  w e  w i l l  t a k e
f o r w a r d . . .

04
WHC wi l l  increase the
pat ient and publ ic
voice within the
organisat ion by the
development and
del ivery of a forum



WHC will adapt its delivery of wheelchair services in line with the
recommendations to improve the experience of all service users

W e  s a i d . . .

Looking Back
at  2021/22
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Analysis of the results to support service improvement 
WHC will develop a personalised wheelchair budget system

Development and delivery of a patient and carers experience
measurement tool 

O u r  m e a s u r a b l e  o u t c o m e s . . .

We have implemented use of an outcome measure from Bangor
University, called the WATCH tool, to allow us to collect data
about the satisfaction of patients in relation to the wheelchair
issued to them. We listen to patients about what their needs and
wishes are, and try to source the most appropriate, but cost
effective, options for them. We constantly review the equipment
we offer to ensure it meets the needs of the maximum number of
patients. 

A c h i e v e m e n t  a n d  w h a t  w e  w i l l  t a k e
f o r w a r d . . .

05
WHC wi l l  adapt i ts
del ivery of wheelchair
services in l ine with
the recommendat ions
to improve the
experience of al l
service users
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updated the website information and service users leaflet to be clear on the
service that patients and referrers can expect.
updated our referral form to allow referrers to give more information about
what the patient needs. 
trained more community therapists to speed the referral process for the
patient
Rollout of development of personal wheelchair budgets commenced.

We acted on user feedback and have:

Development of personal wheelchair budgets has been undertaken, using best
practice from other wheelchair services, and this has now been implemented to
achieve the right outcomes. Therapists think laterally about alternative funding
that can assist service users to get the right outcomes. 
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All incidents regardless of their level of
harm are reviewed and those incidents
assessed as requiring investigation are
reviewed and investigated by senior
clinicians and experts. We aim to
understand if there are areas to
improve and learning from these
incidents. 

WHC are keen to continue to learn from
reported incidents to improve care
outcomes. We have Quality
Improvement Projects (QIPs) underway
for the key themes- Pressure Ulcers
and Falls incidents, alongside a QIP for
medicines management, with the
ambition to prevent medicines incidents
becoming a top theme.

Patient Safety
WHC's continues to increase in incidents reported with 5899 incidents reported
from April 1st 2020 to March 31st 2021, a 21% increase in incident reported year
on year. 933 of these incidents were recorded as third party[8] incidents. The
majority of incidents causing no to low harm (as displayed in the graph below).
Strong incident reporting numbers combined with the majority of incidents reported
causing no to low harm indicates a positive safety culture.

I n c i d e n t  r e p o r t i n g

No harm caused
60.4%

Minimal harm caused
32.2%

Short term harm caused
7% Permanent /Long term harm caused  5%

Graph  1 |  Inc idents  repor t  by  harm caused

[8]   Are incidents that originated outside WHC. When this happens, we ask the third party
organisation for feedback and any action they will take to improve their services. 

WHC utilise this data to support the
prioritisation of transformation projects,
for example Rapid Response Teams
are in the pilot phase within the
community to prevent unnecessary
hospital admission and provide patients
with prompt and appropriate referral
pathways. Our inpatient services have
appointed a discharge co-ordinator,
whose key responsibility is to support
patients in having a safe and timely
discharge from hospital.



The Data Security & Protection Toolkit
(DSPT) sets out the National Data Guardian’s
data security standards for organisations which
have access to NHS patient data and systems.
Each year, WHC completes a mandatory self-
assessment of its information governance
arrangements via the DSPT. There are 10
categories in DSPT, containing 44 mandatory
evidence requirements, plus further sections
which are optional. 

Submission is normally required by
the end of March each year; for the
2019/20 submission, the deadline
was extended to 30/09/2020 to reflect
the coronavirus situation. WHC’s
submission indicated that all
requirements were met (but with an
action to achieve 95% staff
compliance of completion of
Information Governance mandatory
training).

Submission of the 2020/21 DSPT is
not required until 30/06/2021. The
current DSPT has been audited by
our internal auditors (BDO) and
provided a satisfactory level of
assurance with 2 actions due for
completion prior to submission.

Qual i ty &
Effect iveness

Personal Confidential Data 
Staff Responsibilities
Training 
Managing Data Access 
Process Reviews 
Responding to Incidents 
Continuity Planning 
Unsupported Systems 
IT Protection 
Accountable Suppliers

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

10.

Organisations are required to collect accurate data to ensure the quality of the
services provided.

D a t a  Q u a l i t y

Accuracy of data 
Performance metrics around data quality
allows better benchmarking with other
community providers, which shows a more
relevant comparison on performance. As part
of our national data submissions we submit
data for NHS number, postcode, GP practice
code, and clinical coding for inpatients.

Clinical coding error rates
WHC was not subject to the Payment
by Results clinical coding audit during
2019/20.

2 5

99.7%
NHS Number

100%
Postcode

89%
Prac t ice  code

100%
Pr imary  d iagnos is  ( ICD)
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R e g u l a t o r s

Care Quality Commission
Care Quality Commission (CQC) rating and what it means for WHC. In October 2017, WHC
received an overall ‘Good’ rating from CQC. Since then, WHC has continued to improve and
develop its approach. In particular, the following aspects have been achieved: 

Reviewed and improved Governance Structure with established Policy
and Oversight Groups, with clearly defined Terms of Reference and
reporting structure.

Improved quality reporting. This was enhanced further in April 2019 with
the launch of DATIX IQ, and the introduction of the Quality, Performance
and Workforce scorecard.

Wiltshire Health and Care has published its Public and Patients
Involvement Plan. This was developed in conjunction with patient, carers
and the wider public. Wiltshire Health and Care will be continually
referring to this plan as services evolve, expand and increase.

Wiltshire Health and Care has an active recruitment pipeline. With
focused recruitment campaigns, there has been significant improvement
in hard to recruit to areas.

All Executive and Non- Executive board members have up to date
assessments as Fit and Proper Persons.

Improvements

Wiltshire Health and Care has invested in external Root Cause Analysis
(RCA) training for a large number of its senior and middle managers. This
has delivered a new RCA methodology, enhanced knowledge and skills
and focused actions and lessons learned from Serious Incidents. This
supports the delivery of improved pressure ulcer and falls care delivery

Early Warning System roll-out across all wards and community teams

Improved medicines governance arrangements in place with the
appointment of a Medicines Optimisation Pharmacist, and corresponding
Policy and Oversight Group.



Qual i ty &
Effect iveness

2 7

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) was introduced in 2009 to make
a proportion of healthcare providers’ income conditional on demonstrating
improvements in quality and innovation in specified areas of patient care. The key
aim of the CQUIN framework is to secure improvements in the quality of services
and better outcomes for patients. 

The 2020/21 reporting of CQUINs was suspended during the COVID19 Pandemic,
however WHC were committed to deliver and monitor the requirements of the
CQUINs throughout 2020/21. The detail of each CQUIN is provided below, along
with the expected targets and WHC’s achievements

C o m m i s s i o n i n g  f o r  Q u a l i t y  a n d  I n n o v a t i o n

CCG3 Achieving 70% of community hospital inpatients, aged
18+, having a nutritional screening that meets NICE
Quality Standard QS24, with evidence of actions against
identified risks. The requirements from this CQUIN have
been monitored through the Inpatient Discharge Audit.
The graph below shows overall compliance against the
requirements by ward.

M a l n u t r i t i o n  S c r e e n i n g

Aug '20 Sep '20 Oct '20 Nov '20 Dec '20 Jan '21 Feb '21 Mar '21 Apr '21

100% 

75% 

50% 

25% 

0% 

Graph 2 |  Ma lnu t r i t ion  Screen ing  compl iance

Ailesbury
Cedar
Chestnut [no data Feb/Apr]

Longleat
Mullberry
Target

Clinical  Effect iveness
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CCG5 Achieving a 90% uptake of flu vaccinations by frontline
staff with patient contact. Staff flu vaccinations are a
crucial lever for reducing the spread of flu during w inter
months, where it can have a significant impact on the
health of patients, staff, their families and the overall
safe running of NHS services.

S t a f f  F l u  V a c c i n a t i o n s

90%
Target  80%

Year  3  [2019/20 ]

81%
Target  90%

Year  4  [2020/21 ]

84%
Target  75%

Year  2  [2018/19 ]

74%
Target  70%

Year  1  [2017/18 ]

CCG11 Achieving 50% of patients treated in the community
nursing service with a wound on their lower leg have the
following criteria for diagnosis and treatment met within
28 days.

During 2020/21 WHC were committed to develop
improvement plans for each Community Team which has
been achieved. A Pressure Ulcer Quarterly Audit is in
the process of being developed to roll out in Q2 2021/22. 

L o w e r  L e g  W o u n d s
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CCG12 Achieving 60% of community hospital inpatients, aged
18+ having a pressure ulcer risk assessment that meets
NICE guidance with evidence of actions against all
identified risks.

The requirements from this CQUIN have been monitored
through the Inpatient Discharge Audit. The graph below
shows overall compliance against the requirements by
ward

P r e s s u r e  U l c e r  R i s k

Aug '20 Sep '20 Oct '20 Nov '20 Dec '20 Jan '21 Feb '21 Mar '21 Apr '21

100% 

75% 

50% 

25% 

0% 

Ailesbury
Cedar
Chestnut [no data Feb/Apr]

Longleat
Mullberry
Target

Graph 3  |  Pressure  U lcer  R isk
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C l i n i c a l  A u d i t

Clinical audit is a quality improvement
process that seeks to improve patient care
and outcomes through systematic review
of care against explicit criteria and the
implementation of change. Aspects of the
structure, process and outcome of care
are selected and systematically evaluated
against explicit criteria. Where indicated
changes are implemented at an individual,
team, or service level and further
monitoring is used to confirm improvement
in healthcare delivery [9].

WHC have processes in place for

registering and monitoring Clinical Audits,

Quality Improvement Projects and National

Data Submissions. WHC, is commissioned

to deliver NHS care, so has a responsibility

to comply with the national audits for our

services. WHC participated in 100% of the

national projects which we were eligible.

Priority 1 Mandatory Audits: National
Audits, Contract Audits, CQUIN Audits,
National Data Submissions
Priority 2 Internal Priorities:
Organisation priorities such as
Infection, Prevention & Control (IP&C)
audits, local team audits, quality
improvement projects, surveys

The WHC clinical audit programme is
prioritised into two priorities:

The 2020/21 87 projects were registered, 
 on the WHC clinical audit programme. Of
these 33% were closed and 67% have
been carried into the new financial year
because: data collection remains progress;
action plans being implemented; and start
dates being deferred. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has had an
impact on WHC capacity to complete and
engage in audits within the specified
deadline dates. In 2020/21, 28 audits have
been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic,
as listed on the next page.

[9]  The current accepted definition first appeared in Principles for Best Practice in
Clinical Audit (2002) and was retained in New Principles for Best Practice in Clinical
Audit (2011).

Figure   3 |  2020/21 Aud i t  dashboard

http://www.clinicalauditsupport.com/


Delay completion

Audit markers added to list on X-ray folder

to ensure staff complete requests correctly

and completely. 

Audit markers added to X-ray review folder

to ensure safe follow up

Daily sign off sheet now includes daily

checking of reports for X-ray completed that

day to verify treatment given

To audit 20 X-rays a month in each unit to

ensure three monthly report of 60 X-rays

checked. 

Allocate senior staff to ensure referral

standards are upheld

Completeness of referral information

Some staff already completed on line X-ray

interpretation course. 

All staff to maintain personal audit of X-rays

requested and outcome for own

development and assurance 

The aim of the audit was to ensure the process

for x-rays in MIUs for qualified clinicians is safe

an effective. 

Key Assurances 

Key Areas for development:
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COVID-19 Pandemic impact

6

11

8

Audit withdrawn

Delay in
commencing 

3 Delay in implementation of
the audit plan

CS-159/7 -  NHSB National Audit of Intermediate Care
CP-114/5 -  NHSB National End of Life Audit 
CS-176/8 - Electronic Discharge Summary Re-Audit 
CS-218/12   CQUIN Smoking & Alcohol 
CS-265/4 - CQUIN Falls Audit
CS-279/1 - Risk KPI Audit 

CS-166/4 - Compliance with NICE CG88/NG59
CS-201/4 - National Parkinson's Audit
CS-237/2 - MUST Inpatients
CS-244/2 - Safeguarding Children Supervision 
CS-246/2 - Missed Medications (Inpatient Wards)
CS-247/2 - Missed Visits (Community Teams)
CS-257/3 - NHSB Community Services Project 2020
CS-263/2 - Cauda Equina Syndrome Pathway
CS-270/1 - Safer Nursing Acuity Project 
CS-273/2 - NHSB Community Benchmarking
CS-277/1 - Controlled Drug Self-assessment 2019

CS-243/2 - Continence Service Pathway 
CS-256/1 - Infection Control Audit 
CS-257/2 - NHSB Community Services Project 
CS-260/1 - NHSB Community Hospital Project
CS-266/1 - Inpatient Service User Survey
CS-273/1 - NHSB Community Benchmarking Data
CS-284/1 - Food Is A Must - Care Home Survey
CS-315/2 - Carer Survey Community Teams 2019/20

CS-237/1 - MUST (Inpatients 2018)
CS-248/1 - Opiates Audit 2018
CS-263/1 - Cauda Equina Syndrome Pathway 

C o n t i n e n c e
P a t h w a y / D o c u m e n t a t i o n  R e - A u d i t

The audits objectives were to audit the key

pathways which are in line with the relevant

NICE guidelines and to audit the

documentation within the patient records. The

re-audit demonstrated full compliance with the

documentation of the different pathways in the

Continence Service. 

M I U  X - R a y  R e - A u d i t

Examples of completed audits... 
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R e s e a r c h

Clinical audit is a quality improvement
process that seeks to improve patient
care and outcomes through systematic
review of care against explicit criteria and
the implementation of change. Aspects of
the structure, process and outcome of
care are selected and systematically
evaluated against explicit criteria. Where
indicated changes are implemented at an
individual, team, or service level and
further monitoring is used to confirm
improvement in healthcare delivery [10].

[10]  The current accepted definition first appeared in Principles for Best Practice in
Clinical Audit (2002) and was retained in New Principles for Best Practice in Clinical
Audit (2011).

BOOST Research Study

Cauda Equina Syndrome

This research project was undertaken by a
Clinical Specialist Physiotherapist and
Spinal Advanced Physiotherapy
Practitioner as part of an educational
qualification. The aim of this project is to
explore physiotherapists’ experiences of
managing persons with suspected Cauda
Equina Syndrome (CES). Semi-structured
interviews were conducted with
musculoskeletal outpatient
physiotherapists. Five interlinking themes
emerged; the themes of worry in relation
to risk management, and communication
difficulties seemed to represent significant
challenges. The remaining themes were
described as antidotes to these
challenges: Lightening the load with
teamwork and shared responsibility, the
usefulness of a clear pathway, and
perception of improved confidence and
competence with experience and training.
Recommendations were made to facilitate
the physiotherapy management of this
group of patients in order to maintain
patient safety. The research is now
published in Musculoskeletal Care
Journal:
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.
1002/msc.1504 

The aim of the trial was to study the
physiotherapy treatment of back and leg
pain or symptoms due to lumbar spinal
stenosis (also called neurogenic
claudication). There was little research to
identify what type of physiotherapy is best
for people with symptoms due to lumbar
spinal stenosis. Therefore, the study focused
on testing two different approaches to
physiotherapy (1:1 or group) which was
designed to help older adults with symptoms
of lumbar spinal stenosis to stay mobile and
remain independent. WHC recruited 20
patients, who all completed the treatment
phase of the trial and were re-interviewed at
the six and twelve months. The research
study has now closed, and the outcome of
this study is expected to be to be published
early Autumn 2021.

http://www.clinicalauditsupport.com/
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1002/msc.1504
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1002/msc.1504
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Dementia is a global concern but it is most often seen in wealthier countries,
where people are likely to live into very old age. The Alzheimer’s Society (2014)
reports there are over 850,000 people living with dementia in the UK today. Of
these, approximately, 42,000 are people with young onset dementia, which
affects people under the age of 65. As a person’s age increases, so does the risk
of them developing dementia. It is estimated that the number of people living
with dementia in the UK by 2025 will rise to over one million. Rates of diagnosis
are improving but many people with dementia are thought to still be
undiagnosed. [11]

All inpatients should be screened within 72 hours of admission. Dementia
screening compliance for the inpatient wards are shown in the graph below.

D e m e n t i a  C a r e

3 3[11] What is dementia? - Dementia UK

WHC is working along side BANES,
Swindon, Wiltshire to support the
ambition of providing good ‘managing
challenging behaviour’ training to their
support staff. This will be combined
with the Enhanced Care protocol which
is hoped that the teams are supported
with more practical strategies. 

 Graph 4 |  2020/21 Inpat ien t  Ward
Dement ia  Compl iance 

The Community Teams are working hard to evidence that staff are asking Dementia

questions and follow up on initial assessment of all patients. The figure below displays

the number of over 75s screened for Dementia (using the 6-CIT assessment tool) and

those who required an onward referral to the GP. 

Figure   4 |  2020/21  Communi ty  Team Dement ia  Data

https://www.dementiauk.org/?gclid=CjwKCAjwtdeFBhBAEiwAKOIy5xbiZiWst8PQdU07L3bEUu-gORgQQXaHsAq7zOas6VauHZ66-kqFShoCevoQAvD_BwE
https://www.dementiauk.org/?gclid=CjwKCAjwtdeFBhBAEiwAKOIy5xbiZiWst8PQdU07L3bEUu-gORgQQXaHsAq7zOas6VauHZ66-kqFShoCevoQAvD_BwE
https://www.dementiauk.org/?gclid=CjwKCAjwtdeFBhBAEiwAKOIy5xbiZiWst8PQdU07L3bEUu-gORgQQXaHsAq7zOas6VauHZ66-kqFShoCevoQAvD_BwE
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People with dementia are assured respect, dignity and appropriate care.

Agreed assessment, admission and discharge processes are in place, with care

plans specific to meet the individual needs of people with dementia and their

carer/s

People with dementia or suspected cognitive impairment who are admitted to

hospital and their carers/families have access to a specialist mental health liaison

service.

The hospital and ward environment is dementia-friendly, minimising the number of

ward and unit moves within the hospital setting and between hospitals.

The nutrition and hydration needs of people with dementia are well met.

The hospital and wards promote the contribution of volunteers to the well-being of

people with dementia in hospital.

The hospital and wards ensure quality of care at the end of life.

Appropriate training and workforce development are in place to promote and

enhance the care of people with dementia in general and community hospitals,

and their carers/families.

WHC continue to work in line with the 8 regional quality standards for improving the

care and experience for patients with dementia and their carers in hospital. 

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.



WHC have inpatient facilities on three hospital sites, patients can be admitted to
these wards requiring ‘step up’ or ‘step down’ care following treatment and
diagnosis. There are a large proportion of patients who choose the inpatient
service as their chosen place to die. All four wards pride themselves on their
End of Life Care and regularly receive extremely positive feedback. The 11
Community Teams have large caseloads, with End of Life Care being a key
component of the care they deliver. They feel privileged to be providing care at
the end of people’s lives and where possible support them at home to do so.
They work closely with their inpatient colleagues to facilitate admission where
required. End of Life Care is about caring for people as they near the end of
their lives. This period can extend over months, weeks, or days. 

Figure  9  |  End o f  L i fe  Care  feedback
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E n d  o f  L i f e  C a r e  &  L e a r n i n g  f r o m  D e a t h s

"Just wanted to say a huge
thank you for looking after our

Dad and Grandad over the
last few weeks. We couldn’t

have wished for better care for
him and we are so very

grateful."

"To all of you for all the care and
kindness you gave to my mum….
She was where she wanted to be

and she said she felt safe with you
so I’m very appreciative of all you did

to make her feel that way. With a
huge thanks to all." "My sister and I would like to say a big thank

you to all the staff that looked after my aunt
who died with you. She had been in and out
of a few different hospitals recently but your

care and thoughtfulness made such a
difference for her last few days of life, It is

such a difficult time for you all at the moment
so a specially big big thank you!"

"As a family we are
all very grateful for

all the support "

"Thank you for looking
after our father we were

very happy with care
and support received"

"Thank you so
much for the

wonderful care"

"From all her
friends we would
like to say thank

you"

"It was so
important to us

that we were able
to visit any time"



Figure  5  |  March  2021 Dashboard  -  Inpat ien t  Mor ta l i t y
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End of Life Inpatient Wards - During 2020/21 there were a total of 49 deaths
across the inpatient wards, which remains low and within 'normal variation'
levels for our type of organisation as displayed in the dashboard below. The
21% mortality rate in April 2020 was due to a combination of COVID-19
Pandemic effect and reduced bed occupancy (43 admission in April 2020
around half of the normal admissions to our inpatient units).

Figure  6  |  March  2021 Dashboard  -  Communi ty  Teams Mor ta l i t y

End of Life performance Community Teams -  is displayed in the dashboard
below, with consistent numbers of patients receiving our support throughout the
COVID-19 pandemic. This consistent pattern, assures our community that those
people requiring our interventions in End of Life received community team
support as needed.
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Staff were supported to be able to deal with the extra complicated and
traumatic deaths of COVID-19 through use of debrief, clinical
supervision and MDT working. 

MDT meetings were undertaken via Teams or Zoom and many felt this
benefitted the process as GP’s were able to do this remotely from their
surgery consulting room rather than travelling to base. 

Continued Nurse Verification of Expected Death initiative in both the
Community Teams and Inpatient Wards.

Further Syringe Driver training of train the trainer was undertaken for
roll out to teams and in patient wards to ensure consistency of
approach.

Worked collaboratively with General Practice and Primary Care
Networks to deliver syringe driver training sessions to Practice Nurses
so they could help with End of Life patients care at home.

"Verification of Expected Death" Training delivered collaboratively to
Dorothy House Hospice.

Key achievements during 2020/21

Medication Action Learning sets to learn from medication errors / near
misses around End of Life medication, both organisation wide and
bespoke to teams..

Working across BSW to standardise community medicines
administration charts for End of Life care.

Working with BSW on the "Respect" Roll out.

Finalising and ratification of the policy for informal Carers giving
subcutaneous injections for patients with palliative care needs in the
community setting’.

Reviewing and refreshing inpatient nurse training on syringe drivers
and how to use.
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L e a r n i n g  D i s a b i l i t i e s  M o r t a l i t y  R e v i e w  p r o j e c t

WHC is actively involved in the Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme

which is delivered by the University of Bristol and commissioned by the Healthcare Quality

Improvement Partnership (HQIP) on behalf of NHS England. WHC currently do not have a

reviewer, but the Team Manager CTPLD/Lead Nurse in Learning Disabilities for WHC attends

the Quality Assurance Panel to evaluate the reviews. WHC are awaiting the publication of the

2020 annual report. There is a transition from the current notification and review system to a

new web-based platform, and that the University of Bristol’s contract with the LeDeR

Programme is due to come to a planned end on 31 May 2021. 

Q u a l i t y  I m p r o v e m e n t  P l a n s

WHC continued to improve the services it
delivers with Quality Improvement Plans
(QIP) focusing on Falls and Pressure
Ulcers and under development for
Medicines Optimisation and Safeguarding.

To reduce the number of inpatient falls

To reduce the number of falls with

harm

To promote best Falls Prevention

practice across all of WHC

Falls
NICE Clinical Guideline CG161 "Falls in

older people: assessing risk and

prevention and Quality Standard QS86

Falls in Older people" - provides guidance

on assessment of falls risk and

interventions to prevent falls in people

aged 65 and over. It aims to reduce the

risk and incidence of falls and the

associated distress, pain, injury, loss of

confidence, loss of independence and

mortality [12].

WHC objectives in relation to falls are:

Patients who are assessed to be ‘at
risk’ shall have an appropriate and
timely, multifactorial risk assessment;
prompt preventative measures
enacted; and will report they feel safe
in our care
Patients shall receive personalised
care, which will instil confidence that
they will receive services and support
to reduce the risk of falls
We promote a learning culture when
incidents occur 
We use the “3 high impact actions” to

move away from falls being seen as a

nursing problem, or purely a patient

safety issue, to a multi-professional

focus on falls prevention, delivering

quality improvement initiatives to

reduce the number of falls with harm
We utilise all staff/disciplines to
develop a preventative approach to our
falls care this is being addressed with
our Falls champions across Wiltshire
Health and Care.

To achieve these objectives WHC have
committed to the following key outcomes: 

[12] https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs86 and www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg161

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs86
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg161
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During 2020/21 there was a total of 194 falls of which, 9% (n=17) were falls that
caused moderate or severe harm. Although there has been a decrease in the
total number of falls which has been significant, WHC have recognised that over
the last year, in particular during April and May 2021, our bed occupancy has
not been comparable with the previous year due to the COVID19 pandemic. The
graphs 11 and 12, identify the total number of falls for 2019/20 and 2020/21 and
falls with harm.
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Graph 5  |  To ta l  fa l l s  by  year  -  Inpat ien t  Wards
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Graph  6 |  Fa l l s  by  year  caus ing  harm -  Inpat ien t  Wards
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Graph 7  |  Compl iance fa l l s  r i sk  assessment  -  Inpat ien t  Wards
Inpatient performance [all wards]   Target

The falls risk assessment was developed by WHC in line with the NICE
Guidelines and should be completed within four hours of admission to ensure
comprehensive and integrated preventative actions are implemented. The target
for assessment of falls risk is for 95% of patients to be assessed within four
hours of admission. On average the Inpatient Wards achieved 97% overall
across 2020/21. 

A 2017 comprehensive review of falls across the inpatient wards in WHC
resulted in an action plan with an aim to reduce the number of falls. WHC
progressed these actions but remained above the national benchmark (Mar21
National Mean: 6.73, WHC Mean 7.03) [13] for for community inpatient wards. In
2020 a QIP was utilised, in doing so we are using a co-creating change model
with the clinicians on the wards. We believe that these changes are more likely
result in a reduction in falls in our inpatient wards.

Falls QIP Actions delivered 

Established a WHC ‘Falls Fighter Working Group’ and ‘Falls
Champions’ across all WHC clinical services.

A falls workbook has been developed for each member of staff to
complete, where involvement is mandatory. 

Pharmacy and Safeguarding have dedicated time to attend the
Inpatient Wards Falls workshops for advice and education, as part of
the scenario-based training.

[13] https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs86 and  https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg161

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs86
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg161
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Longleat Ward continue to use “Baywatch”, consideration will be given
to how we can implement a change to staff allocation to ensure
oversight in other areas on all the wards.

Falls Fighter’ badges are delivered to all Falls Champions to help
visibly signpost our patients and staff to who they can seek falls advice
from in each clinical setting. 

We have provided a “How to” Lying and standing Blood pressure
poster to ensure correct technique and measurement is adopted
consistently across all wards.

WHC has falls section on the staff intranet page

The Inpatient Wards are implementing Falls Stations that ensures all
paperwork is available for falls prevention and post fall care.

A falls Patient Safety poster has been developed for display in the Falls
Station to share monthly dashboard data (falls rates and improvements)
which will be available to the team, patients and public. 

Falls QIP Actions in progress

We are reviewing our 'Slips, Trips and Fall' module, on Training
Tracker, to ensure it is up to date, reflects NICE Guidelines and the 3
High Impact Actions to prevent falls. 

Inpatient Falls Audit continues identifying areas of focus. The results
from this audit are now feeding into the Falls Quality Improvement
Project dash board for further monitoring. 

Mapping underway of current specialist and outpatient services in
WHC to identify information displayed referencing falls risk and patient
information leaflets. 

Post Fall medical assessment proforma has been developed and is
currently awaiting ratification
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For those patients independently attending outpatient areas WHC to
create a poster for display in all waiting areas to raise awareness and
encourage patients to share information relating to any falls history or
balance/mobility problems to ensure measurement of risk and
appropriate onward referral.

The comprehensive geriatric assessment is under review to
incorporate a Falls prevention section to review risks such as
balance and medications 

Fal ls QIP next steps.. .

Continue the falls workshops on all inpatient wards
Observational study within Falls Workshops of “time to care”
measured the direct and indirect care of Registered Nurses
and Health Care assistants on duty
To map out the consistency of follow up Falls referrals
Continued growth of the falls prevention movement across
WHC, supported by ‘Falls Fighter Working Group’ that will
become part of the wider Frailty strategy 

1.
2.

3.
4.



Pressure Ulcers 
NICE Clinical Guideline 179: Pressure ulcers: prevention and management document aims to
reduce the number of pressure ulcers in people admitted to secondary or tertiary care or
receiving NHS care in other settings, such as primary and community care and emergency
departments [14]. The graph below shows the total number of community acquired Pressure
Ulcers during 2020/21 for the Community Teams [15].

A total of 669 community acquired pressure ulcers were reported in 2020/21; 540 Category II,
82 Category III and 47 Category IV, as demonstrated in graph 15.There has been a clear
increase in the number of pressure ulcers throughout 2020/21 compared to a total of 413
community acquired pressure ulcers in 2019/20, as reflected in graph 16. 2020/21 has seen an
overall increase in the number of patients on caseload within the community teams; with the
overall pressure ulcer incidence based on caseload numbers rising to 0.8% compared to 0.5%
in 2019/20.

These numbers can be seen to reflect the reduced access of community staff to patients
homes during the early part of the pandemic (March and April) with an increase in the following
months when individuals began to access health care more readily and care provided by WHC
staff increased.
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4 3[14] NICE: Clinical Guideline 179 (2014)
[15] Mar21 WHC Dashboard

Graph 8  |  To ta l  communi ty  acqu i red  Pressure  U lcers -  Communi ty  Teams

Graph 9  |  To ta l  acqu i red  Pressure  U lcers  -  Inpat ien t  Wards
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The inpatient wards have seen an increase in the severity of the pressure ulcers
recorded (total number of 37) with an increase in Category III or IV incidence. 

Graph 10 | Total acquired Pressure Ulcers - Inpatient Wards 2019/20

Graph 11 | Total acquired Pressure Ulcers - Inpatient Wards 2020/21

Patients in the community teams and hospital wards have become more complex &
de-conditioned with earlier discharges from hospital 
The teams and the patient numbers increase during periods of additional work, i.e.
vaccines.
Shielding of large amounts of community clinicians (returning from May 2021), staff
vacancies, skill mix, and Rotation posts (SPQ / NSI’s) are also thought to have an
impact. 
Reduced education supporting existing and newly appointed staff has been
considered a key impact in pressure area management.

Considerations for increase in pressure ulcers:
1.

2.

3.

4.
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Pressure Ulcer Patient Information Leaflet rollout to Community
Wards in June 2021. Followed by a review with service users
and clinicians in July 2021. 
SSKIN Tool Bundle Review resulted in an agreed ‘SSKIN Shared
Treatment Plan’. A questionnaire for Allied Health Care Agencies
& Residential Care Homes is under development. Patient &
Informal carer focus group to be considered once the initial
‘Shared Treatment Plan’ developed
BSW Moisture Associated Skin Damage Pathway collaboration
currently in the final stages. Launch planned for June/July 2021. 
Wiltshire wide ‘Stop the Pressure Day’ will resume November
2021

Study Day collaboration with other services to be the focus
– Wheelchair Services, Continence, Dietetics, Podiatry.
Local ‘Drop In’ for Community Hospital sites if able
(COVID-19).

Planned recording of education on Pressure Area Care for
ease of access for Residential Care Homes, Community and
Ward staff. ‘Live’ Q&A session with Tissue Viability following
scheduled viewing of the recording is under development.
Focus Cat III and Cat IV pressure ulceration in End of Life
patients through collaboration with the Hospice.

1.

2.

3.

4.

a.

b.

5.

6.
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Pressure Ulcer QIP next
steps.. .
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Wiltshire Health and Care strive at all
times to achieve the best outcome for
patients. Leading the way in community
care and ensuring best practice is normal
practice forms part of the WHC vision
statements. Promoting and maintaining
Infection Prevention & Control (IP&C) best
practice at all times is a vital part of the
WHC patient safety agenda; thus
contributing to the WHC vision of enabling
people to live independent and fulfilling
lives for as long as possible. 

2020/2021 was a year like no other. Due to

the impact of the COVID19 pandemic, the

demands on the IP&C service were

relentless. Initially the territory was very

new and unknown and decisions were

made using the best possible information

available, which at times was limited. As

national information became available this

was more helpful; however the pace at

which the guidelines changed and the

requirement for immediate dissemination to

the teams posed further significant

challenges. Our Consultant Microbiologist

and IP&C team members, worked

tirelessly. Additional capacity was sought

to support PPE guidance and redeployed

colleagues came on board at the end of

April 2020. 

WHC has an established, corporate level,

IP&C Policy and Oversight Group providing

an essential IP&C governance and scrutiny

conduit for the organisation.  

Performance 
WHC responded to the evolving national

and local COVID19 picture. Cedar Ward

was designated as a COVID19 cohort ward

twice throughout the year. With increased

admissions, particularly during the wave in

winter 2020/21, across the inpatient

service, IPC supported the monitoring of

COVID19 admission screening through a

Visual Bed board and being an integral

part of daily Inpatient and WHC COVID19

calls. All patients were reviewed for

positive / negative results, symptomatic

patients were tracked, and contacts traced

if positive results or on-going symptoms in

the index patient occurred. 

Considerable time has and continues to be

spent ensuring the frequently updated PHE

guidance is reviewed, interpreted for local

implementation and issued or re-issued

where required, IPC specialist advice is

crucial in this process including the

transformation to the new normal business

as usual practice. Additionally, risk

assessments and product reviews for PPE

use or re-use has been undertaken in

conjunction with key specialists i.e. Health

and Safety, Service users and PPE

Champions (WHC redeployed staff).   



In September, as redeployed staff began returning to their substantive posts, the

PPE Champions also stepped back to return to their permanent organisational

responsibilities. Surveillance work surrounding COVID19 increased, which included

regular screening, at Days 1 of admission and then subsequently days 3, 5,7 and 10

and then every 5 days providing IP&C for assurance. By the end of the year, policy

updates were prioritised based on importance, seasonal pressure and expiry. 

IP&C continues to be involved in the review and dissemination of new and updated 

 COVID19 guidance. IP&C work alongside key specialists to ensure we have

effective, compliant PPE, hand sanitizers and decontamination wipes and facilitate

the dissemination of other key supportive guidance / risk assessments. IP&C

support continues to be provided with the Recovery programme for Service Delivery

ensuring the IP&C / COVID-19 principles are implemented to ensure safe care for

service users, staff and visitors to our sites. In recognition for the IP&C’s tireless

commitment and their support in the COVID-19 response they were awarded The

WHC Shining Stars in June 2020.
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In recognition for the IP&C’s tireless
commitment and their support in the

COVID-19 response they were awarded
The WHC Shining Stars in June 2020" "National Infection, Prevention and Control Board Assurance Framework

The framework document is to assure board members, directors of infection 

 prevention and control (DIPC), medical directors and directors of nursing by

assessing the measures taken in line with current guidance. It is used to provide

evidence and also as an improvement tool to optimise actions and interventions.

The IP&C service reviewed this document and developed a WHC IP&C Board 



200
Elements assessed

0
Red rating

24
Amber rating

174
Green rating

Assurance Framework (BAF) in May 2020,
a review of progress was undertaken in
March 2021 to effectively self-assesses
our compliance with Public Health
England, COVID-19 related infection
prevention and control guidance and to
identify risks. 

200 elements were assessed as part of
the IP&C BAF review of these: Red
rating – zero; Amber rating – 24, the
Quality team are working to develop a
full action plan that will be tracked in the
IPC/HSFS POG to mitigate, tolerate or
control these gaps; Green rating – 174 

Outcome of March 2021 Review

4 8
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Capacity to monitor IP&C performance and develop new supporting

guidance/training impacted by IP&C capacity (thus investment by WHC

Executive in Nov. 2020) and staff capacity across the organisation due to 

elements; and Not applicable – 2 elements.

Key issues identified:



FIT test data is being tightened up and improvements to centralised data holding

being scoped.

Board oversight will be improved by shared learning refresh that is underway

and implementation of the National IPC Behaviours Project feedback .

Triage at front door is an accepted risk due to environmental limitations of the

Trowbridge site.

Ventilation of Savernake unit.

Local, internal restructure of roles and responsibilities to support the

appointment of the IP&C Lead role, which will also encompass Health Safety

Fire and Security 

Ratification of all of IP& C related policies 

pressures of COVID-19 pandemic, this is being mitigated via reminders in key

meetings and COVID-19 secure audits to prompt improved performance and

highlight key areas of concern.

Red and Amber elements for which action plans will be established and monitored

through the IP&C/HSFS Policy Oversight Group to mitigate, tolerate or control these

gaps.

The IP&C work programme 2020/21
2020/21 has been dominated by the COVID-19 response. Therefore the majority of

planned activity did not take place. A review of priorities for 2021/22 is discussed in

the following section. Key work streams/priorities planned or already undertaken for

2021/22:

4 9
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5 0[16] Public Health England Guidance - Antimicrobial stewardship: Start smart - then
focus

To learn and improve - Ensuring compliance with the IP&C
Code of Practice and other guidance
Right information in the right format and available at the right
time, by developing a toolkit – access to information to
manage IP&C hazards and risks for all staff in one place i.e.
policies, guidance, assessment tools, forms for completion. 
Appropriate skill mix: To achieve skills and resources to meet
the needs of the service Right Skills 
Review bespoke training requirements for individual services.
Antimicrobial Stewardship: This will form a key part of the next
year's priorities with an emphasis on: Improving awareness of
Antimicrobial Stewardship across all WHC services;
Prescribing habits of antimicrobials: Improve adherence to
formulary guidance; Improved adherence to "Start Smart then
Focus" [16] and target guidance in relation to the use of
antimicrobials. 
Proactive IP&C initiatives to support WHC include: Meetings to
ensure joint work streams are shared / managed through
delivery programmes; Community-based IP&C Link worker
meeting three times a year with a variety of speakers; and
IP&C focused Quality visits, to support best IP&C practice in
clinical teams.

1.

2.

3.

4.
5.

6.

IP&C next steps.. .

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/antimicrobial-stewardship-start-smart-then-focus
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Domestic Abuse (DA)
WHC has ensured routine questioning has

been introduced in the Minor Injury Units

(MIU) as per NICE guidelines. This

included identifying a ‘safe’ space and

documentation of patient’s response via

SystmOne [17]. MIU are now sharing

relevant information at the Multi-Agency

Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) on

a weekly basis. 

The practice influencer forum members

have provided 11 teams with a ‘raising

awareness of domestic abuse’ teaching

session. Practice influencers have also

benefitted from a session on coercion and

control by the DA reduction officer for

Wiltshire Council. DASH training delivered

to Practice Influencers.

Management of self-harm in children
and young people who present to MIU 
Training by Oxford Health for both MIU’s

was well received and promotion of the

HarmLESS assessment, ensuring

compliance with NICE CG16. 

Training and supervision 
Achievements in both of these areas has

improved compliance over the course of

2019/20, with sessions being conducted

via MS Teams or self-directed

THINK child/THINK family
Following audit against QS179 – a THINK

child poster was developed for display in

all clinical areas and a care plan was

developed for the children subject to a

child protection plan. 

A Serious Case Review for Child A was

published as the mother of Child A was

known to a WHC service. This case

highlighted the need for practitioners to

"THINK family" in considering the needs of

children and vulnerable adults in families

where our services may be involved. 

Child missed appointments
An audit against policy standards –

showed non-compliance against the policy

requirements, managers were encouraged

to share the flowchart widely with

colleagues. An alert triangle has been

developed and is being trialled in

physiotherapy. All Levels of children’s

safeguarding training include content on

what to do if children are ‘not brought’.

[17] SystmOne is a centrally hosted clinical computer system used by healthcare professionals in the UK. The system is
being deployed as one of the accredited systems in the government's programme of modernising IT in the NHS.

5 1
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Implementation of the female genital mutilation information
sharing scheme (FGM-IS) via SystmOne. Delayed due to
COVID-19 pandemic, awaiting sign off from NHS digital.
Explore further ways of prompting staff to consider whether
any safeguarding action is required when children do not
attend appointments, within SystmOne. 
Continue to pursue flexibility around delivery of both
safeguarding teaching and supervision via online learning
platforms and MS Teams.
 Further embedding in practice the management of self-harm
in children and young people who present to MIU.
Data analysis of % of patients asked and impact on referrals to
Domestic Abuse and safeguarding services. 
Carry out focus group with relevant services to explore where
a THINK family approach can be incorporated in working
practice.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

Safeguarding Chi ldren next
steps.. .

5 2



S a f e g u a r d i n g  A d u l t s

Qual i ty &
Effect iveness

Levels 1 and 2 safeguarding adults

training delivered via our online

learning portal.

Level 3 safeguarding adults training

delivered via the online portal as well

as half day face-to-face learning.

Mental Capacity Act training (including

the DoL delivered via the online portal).

This is supplemented with a face-to-

face session on the Introduction to

Community Practice Course. 

WHC ensure colleagues are
appropriately trained to safeguard
adults through:

Case study, guest speakers, research,

literature and legislative reviews at the

bi-monthly Practice Influencers Forum.

Bespoke case based training/support

from Safeguarding Adults available at

individual, team and ward level 

Review and streamlining of all

Safeguarding systems including

implementation of a ‘single point of

contact’ for Safeguarding and DoLS to

enable more fluid internal and external

safeguarding activity and compliance

with legal frameworks. By building on

and establishing effective working

partnerships with Multi-Agency

Safeguarding Hub and Wiltshire

Council (WC) DoLS Team. 

Safeguarding Lead (Adults) has

designed and is due to deliver in 2021

a Mental Capacity in Practice Course

which has been accredited by Oxford

Brookes University. This course is

available to all health care colleagues

within the region. 

Wiltshire Safeguarding Adults Board

has issued a county wide Self Neglect

Protocol that has been implemented

across WHC

Additional Work/Achievements:

Legal compliance with the duties
laid out in sections 42-46 of The
Care Act (2014)
CQC Outcome 7 – safeguarding the
people who use the service from
abuse. 
Legal compliance with The Mental
Capacity Act (MCA) (2005) including
section 4(a) MCA 2005, the
Deprivation of Liberty (DoL)
Safeguards 

‘Safeguarding Adults’ relates to the
responsibilities and duties identified in
the following regulatory and legal
frameworks:

5 3
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We will prepare to transition from DoLS to Liberty Protection
Scheme.
Collaborative work with BSW Clinical Commissioning Group to
develop and implement an inclusive Primary and Community
Health Safeguarding/MCA workshop/learning events
programme. 
Support WHC leadership team to fulfil the requirements of the
transformation agenda in relation to Safeguarding Adults and
associated compliance with legal frameworks and guidance.

1.

2.

3.

Safeguarding Adults next
steps.. .
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During 2020/21 WHC committed and
actively engaged in a number of learning
and development projects and initiatives.
Some of these were coordinated across
Banes, Swindon and Wiltshire (BSW)
Local Workforce Action Board (LWAB).
These projects helped to ensure that staff
and services were supported to be skilled
appropriately not only across our services
but across the system – placing the
patient experience and outcomes at the
centre.

During 2020/21
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, some

essential training usually undertaken face

to face such as Adult Basic Life Support,

Fire and manual handling moved to on line

training to ensure staff and patient safety

and to enable those who were shielding to

keep up to date. This was a temporary

measure until we could resume classroom

teaching. 

WHC provided essential training to new

recruits, delivering both mandatory and

essential training to new staff who were

recruited to assist with patient care on the

wards. We provided essential upskilling for

existing staff to enable them to care for

patients with more complex or severe

health needs. These were all undertaken

following risk assessments.

Since the initial easing of lock down

restrictions late last summer, WHC have 

introduced face to face sessions for

practical skills training essential for

delivery of safe patient care, again with

risk assessment, social distancing and

PPE wearing. WHC has had a thorough

review of all training, training materials,

content and delivery. 

Student placements were affected due to

the pandemic and some Universities

withdrew their students from all placement

activity. Others were able to support a

number of students to undertake paid

placements under the emergency NMC

rules, and some worked for us on the bank.

Recent initiatives are the use of

Apprenticeship pathways to enable five of

our Nursing Associates and Associate

Practitioners to commence a shortened

program to upskill to Registered General

Nurse level whilst within our employ,

working with a new provider with staff

using virtual learning with them.

In the past few months, WHC have

recruited a significant number of

Healthcare Support Workers who are now

undertaking their Apprenticeship L3 Senior

Health Care Support Worker. WHC have

also begun a new Apprenticeship

programme for the new Advanced Clinical

Practitioners in the community teams. 



Compliance with and engagement with the Care Certificate has increased. WHC have

developed a more structured and robust Preceptorship programme which will be

shared with our BSW partners during 2021/22. The Return to Practice Nurse

programme was recruited to and we have 3 nurses in the process of becoming re

registered. We are hoping to reinstate our leadership programmes at the necessary

different levels.

The Training department has been working with the Inpatient Wards to develop and

establish a programme for ‘live action’ role play scenario training for staff. This

currently involves three scenarios working around ABLS for an unresponsive patient

and the relevant COVID-19 PPE, an unwitnessed fall and a head injury. These are

designed to support practical application of clinical skills, are part of the falls

improvement work stream and also encourage use of the relevant clinical guidelines. 
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Engagement:
The response rate from all staff has increased year on year, in 2019 it
was 33.95% (n=404) [2018 it was 24.74% (n=284)]
The national response rate reduced in year however it remains
significantly higher, at 47%. The response rate for community Trusts was
also significantly higher at 58%. 

The NHS Staff Survey is an important source of information about what it is like
to work in the health service in England. The NHS Staff Survey results are used
by organisations to support local improvements in staff experience and well-
being and are also examined by external organisations such as the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) and NHS Improvement. 

The annual staff survey was live for a period of eight weeks, between 5th
October and 29th November 2020, in line with national guidelines. WHC send
the survey to all colleagues unlike other NHS organisations who only use a
random selection. The survey was promoted through internal communications.
The survey questions aligned to the national question set, with the addition of
questions on values and behaviours and COVID-19 working conditions. 

Summary of findings:

S t a f f  S u r v e y



Management - Of the 11 questions asked about relationships and
perception pertaining to line management and senior management, 9 of the
11 question responses had positively increased in 2020 compared to 2019. 
Additional hours - There is a slight decrease in the number of staff working
additional unpaid hours, with a slight increase in staff working additional
paid hours. The ratio between part-time and full-time employment remains
stable.
Wellbeing - There is a positive perception surrounding health and wellbeing
at work in year
Violence & Harassment -  There has been a positive reduction in the
number of staff experiencing physical violence or harassment, bullying and
intimidation from management, colleagues and patients and the reporting of
such instances. 
Patient care and safety - The response to perception around patient care
and safety have reduced in comparison to the 2019 results and are down in
comparison to Community Benchmarking data however still remain positive
in relation to the national position.
Retention - Compared to 2019, fewer staff are considering leaving the
organisation in the next 12 months, however instances still remain high in
registered staff.
Organisational values - 96% of staff on average advised they were aware
of WHC Values, which were launched in 2017. This is an increase of 2%
from 2019 however perception around colleagues displaying these
behaviours has decreased by more than 5% in year.
Appraisals & Training - The responses provided in relation to appraisal and
training opportunities have largely increased in satisfaction form 2019, with
the exception of appraisal compliance and the link to identified training.
Unfortunately there is no benchmarking data available for comparison on
this question due to a change in the survey questions nationally and
therefore can only be compared to previous year.

The average change per question for the 2020 Staff Survey equates to a
positive increase of 1.46%. This is compared to an average change per question
of 1.01% (increase) in 2019. The Inpatient / MIU return had the lowest
engagement response with 97.50% questions scoring below the WHC average
response. Community Services had 83% of questions scoring above the WHC
average. Specialist Services had 60% of questions scoring above the WHC
average.

Qual i ty &
Effect iveness
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Health & Wellbeing (4e - I am able to meet all the conflicting
demands on my time at work and 4i - The team I work in often
meets to discuss the team's effectiveness)
Health & Safety (12d - The last time your experience physical
violence at work, did you or a colleague report it?)
Incident Reporting (17a - My organisation treats staff who are
involved in an error, near miss or incident fairly)
Quality Care & Patient Experience (7a - I am satisfied with the
quality of care I give to patients / service users)

These four areas and the delivery mechanism of the 2021 staff
survey will be reviewed in Q1 of 2021/2022 and actions required
will be linked to deliverables in the refreshed 2021/22 WHC
Delivery Plan

The trends within the results of the 2020 Staff Survey and
benchmarking against other community providers identifies that
whilst there has been improvement in some areas, and positive
experiences shared, there are some key areas for focus for 2021
(linked to areas where WHC performed significantly lower than
National average): 

1.

2.

3.

4.

Staff  survey next steps.. .
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Our colleagues are encouraged to speak
up and raise any concerns about working
at WHC. The WHC Freedom To Speak Up
(FTSU) policy is in line with NHS
Improvement policy: Freedom to speak up:
whistleblowing policy for the NHS
This policy's purpose is to making raising
concerns the norm in NHS organisations,
and to standardise how NHS organisations
support staff when concerns are raised.
We know that speaking up saves lives, so
we want all our staff to feel confident, safe
and supported to say something if they
have a concern. 

WHC has one Guardian and an executive

sponsor guardian. These guardians are

responsible for providing confidential

advice and support to staff in relation to

any concerns about patient safety. They

can also offer advice and support to

ensure that when concerns are raised, they

are handled professionally and result in a

clear outcome. 

The policy was renewed and updated early

2021. A champion model with training and

a new campaign will be launched 2021/22

A quarterly report on FTSU incidents is

taken to the Quality Assurance Committee.

Any actions that are deemed required will

be undertaken with the priority deemed

most appropriate in the circumstances –

which may be immediately.     

Staff experience presentation at Board.

Changes to working environments and

flow to adhere to IP&C guidance during

COVID.

Letters to staff on well-being and

diversity.

Changes to training tracker content and

support to those with protected

characteristics.

The use of external bank HR

investigators.

Awareness of additional resources and

support that bank and agency staff

require.

In 2020/21 WHC had 13 concerns raised:

Workforce/ HR issues (n=6), Equality,

Diversity and Inclusion (n=3), Well-being

(n=1), Infection, Prevention and Control

(n=2) and Enquiry to the role (n=1).

All concerns were investigated as

appropriate, some required signposting

and/or advice and guidance. The learning

and action that was taken includes:

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/whistleblowing/freedom-to-speak-up-whistleblowing-policy-for-the-nhs/
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COVID-19 pandemic there was a national

directive to cease collecting and reporting

the FFT to ensure that additional focus

could be placed on preparing for the

impact of COVID-19. During this period a

new online survey was developed to

support collecting responses, via a QR

code, from the FFT. Additionally, an

opportunity was identified with the

introduction of virtual appointments for

patients. At the end of these appointments,

patients are able to complete the FFT

online. 

Data collected in 2020/21 is displayed

below and on the next page, indicates

positive feedback across our patient

cohorts. 

F r i e n d s  a n d  F a m i l y  T e s t  

Service user
exper ience

6 1

The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is an
important feedback tool that supports the
fundamental principle that people who use
NHS services should have the opportunity
to provide feedback on their experience.
Listening to the views of patients and
colleagues helps identify what is working
well, what can be improved and how. The
FFT asks people if they would recommend
the services they have used and offers a
range of responses. When combined with
supplementary follow-up questions, the
FFT provides a mechanism to highlight
both good and poor patient experience.
This kind of feedback is vital in
transforming NHS services and supporting
patient choice. 

Graph 12  |  Age ranges o f  respondents  
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24.8%

45-54
18.7%
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16-24
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Graph 13 |  Gender  o f  Respondents
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Graph 14 |  Responses to  "Overa l l  how good was your  exper ience?"  
Very poor    Poor    Good    Very good 

In 2020 the administration of the Friends

and Family test was brought in house to

WHC. During the outbreak of the 



During 2021/22 the focus will be placed upon utilising other
forms of digital communication to increase the number of
responses. As restrictions begin to lift following the impact of
Covid-19, volunteers will return to our sites to support with
collecting friends and family responses. 

1.

6 2

Service user
exper ience

Figure  7  |  Fami ly  and Fr iends  Tes t  feedback

Friends and Family Test next
steps.. .
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Looking forward -
Qual i ty Pr ior i t ies

2021/22

6 4

Quality is the foundation for all decision making and actions
undertaken. WHC has a clear objective to ensure the delivery of safe
and effective care. This is evidenced by the ‘golden’ thread of quality
woven throughout the delivery plan. The provision of high quality care
is measured against the Care Quality Commission (CQC) domains of
Safe, Effective, Caring, Responsive and Well Led.

We will aim for a 50% reduction  in severe
avoidable medicine related incidents by
2024

4

We will further develop our Quality
Systems 1
We will refine our clinical strategy with a
focus on the deteriorating patient 2
We will promote a culture Equality,
Diversity and Inclusion across our staff
and patients

3

5 We will deliver COVID-19 recovery 

2021/22 Qual i ty
Prior i t ies



Our Electronic quality system is refined, including the "blue
print" of the system; locations and services updates as
organisational structures change; capture and non-capture
modules are designed effectively; development of "how to...
guides"; leavers and new starters access is managed in a
timely fashion; and automation of local and national
reporting. 
Re-introduction of Datix champions and development of a
working group 
Expansion of our solid foundation of 'shared learning" in
WHC
Embed the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) new approach
to oversight, known as the "Transitional Monitoring
Approach" into WHC's business as usual

1.

2.

3.

4.

O u r  m e a s u r a b l e  o u t c o m e s . . .

Looking forward -
Qual i ty Pr ior i t ies

2021/22

6 5

01
We wi l l  further
develop our Qual i ty
Systems 



Looking forward -
Qual i ty Pr ior i t ies

2021/22
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Monitoring accuracy and correct escalation process
Audit in-patient transfers to Acute providers and evidence
appropriate escalation of patient needs
Published organogram of professional lines of
accountability throughout WHC 

1.
2.

3.

O u r  m e a s u r a b l e  o u t c o m e s . . .

02
We wi l l  ref ine our
cl in ical  strategy with
a focus on the
deter iorat ing pat ient 



Looking forward -
Qual i ty Pr ior i t ies

2021/22

6 7

Charitable funds focus for 2021/22 on dementia friendly
environments in WHC
Development of a plan to identify and reduce health
inequalities
Continue our patient centred approach to ensure patients are
empowered to live healthy and independent lives
Understand our patient demographics to ensure that our
services are inclusive and accessible to all
Continue to build a shared understanding of what good patient
and public involvement looks like with staff and stakeholders,
involving broad representation of community members
Use our Patient and Public Involvement Group to involve
patients and the public in developing our services 

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

O u r  m e a s u r a b l e  o u t c o m e s . . .

03
We wi l l  promote a
culture Equal i ty,
Diversi ty and
Inclusion across our
staff  and pat ients



Evidence shared learning from medicines-safety incidents
Reduce incidence of missed medication incidents on in-
patient units
Implement a BSW-wide End of Life community prescription
chart
Complete CQC Controlled Drugs self-assessment
Explore and scope opportunities to utilise the pharmacy
skills set across WHC to improve medicines optimisation 

1.
2.

3.

4.
5.

O u r  m e a s u r a b l e  o u t c o m e s . . .

Looking forward -
Qual i ty Pr ior i t ies

2021/22
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04
We wi l l  a im for a 50%
reduct ion in severe
avoidable medicine
related incidents by
2024



Reduction in pressure ulcers across WHC
Monitoring and management of long-COVID patient needs
Review of Infection, Prevention and Control delivery at
WHC against standards and regulatory requirements to
establish gap and action plans (as needed) 
Improve Anti-microbial Stewardship across WHC
Establish mechanisms for consistent and timely advice from
the Infection, Prevention and Control team 

1.
2.
3.

4.
5.

O u r  m e a s u r a b l e  o u t c o m e s . . .

Looking forward -
Qual i ty Pr ior i t ies

2021/22

6 9

05
We wi l l  del iver
COVID-19 recovery 
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xxxx

S t a t e m e n t  f r o m  B a t h  a n d  N o r t h  E a s t  S o m e r s e t ,
S w i n d o n  a n d  W i l t s h i r e  C l i n i c a l  C o m m i s s i o n i n g  G r o u p    
B a t h  a n d  N o r t h  E a s t  S o m e r s e t ,  S w i n d o n  a n d  W i l t s h i r e
C l i n i c a l  C o m m i s s i o n i n g  G r o u p  r e s p o n s e  t o  W i l t s h i r e
H e a l t h  a n d  C a r e  Q u a l i t y  A c c o u n t  2 0 2 0 / 2 1
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Healthwatch Wiltshire welcomes the opportunity to comment on Wiltshire Health
and Care’s quality account for 2020/21. Healthwatch Wiltshire exists to promote
the voice of patients and the wider public with respect to health and social care
services.

We commend the work undertaken so far in terms of equality, diversity and
inclusion and are pleased that website development is underway to ensure the
new website meets accessibility standards. We would be happy to support with
any testing of the new website in the future.

We were pleased that increasing patient and public voice was a priority area for
the last year and recognise work planned in terms of hearing the carer voice,
which has been on hold due to the Covid pandemic. We are pleased that this
priority will continue in to 2021/22.

Healthwatch Wiltshire commends work around the wheelchair service and use of
the tool that gathers patient feedback on the wheelchair issued. We are also
pleased that actions have be taken to improve the service in line with patient
feedback such as updated leaflet, website and referral form.

We are pleased that you have published your public and patient involvement
plan and that this will be referred to on an ongoing basis. We are delighted to
be involved in the regular public and patient involvement meetings and look
forward to supporting this ongoing work.

Healthwatch Wiltshire notes in the information provided about the CQUINs
(Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) and asks if there is an explanation
for the lack of data for Jan and April for Chestnut? [18]

Healthwatch Wiltshire commends your work on end of life care and learning
from deaths. We were pleased to see that you have included the patient voice
with the use of quotes from patients and their families in this section of the
quality accounts.

S t a t e m e n t  f r o m  H e a l t h w a t c h  ( W i l t s h i r e )
H e a l t h w a t c h  W i l t s h i r e  r e s p o n s e  t o  W i l t s h i r e  H e a l t h  a n d
C a r e  Q u a l i t y  A c c o u n t  2 0 2 0 / 2 1

Formal
statements

[18] Chestnut unit was placed on "restricted admissions" that resulted in zero data
being collected in March & April 2021
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We recognise that despite a number of actions being completed to try and
reduce the risk of falls, the numbers have remained above the national
benchmark. We are encouraged that further work is being done in this area and
look forward to hearing more about this programme shortly.

We note the increase in pressure ulcers over the past year and the reasons
identified for this. We are pleased that there is a series of actions in place to
reduce these going forwards.

We are pleased that you continued to gather feedback from patients and their
families throughout the pandemic and devised new ways to do this, for example
at the end of a virtual appointment.

Healthwatch Wiltshire recognise the significant challenges you have faced due
to the Covid-19 pandemic and the changes that have had to rapidly be put into
effect. We appreciate the commitment and dedication of staff working at this
critical time. This has been reflected in comments we have received from local
people.

Healthwatch Wiltshire welcomes the quality priorities for the forthcoming year
and looks forward to following your progress. We remain committed to
continuing to work with Wiltshire Health and Care, engaging with patients and
sharing their views.

Formal
statements



Wiltshire Health and Care (WHC)

Statement from Wiltshire Council – Health Select Committee, dated 15 June
2021

The Wiltshire Health Select Committee welcomes the opportunity to comment on
the quality account.The 2021 election period and subsequent time before the
Health Select Committee membership was finalised has meant that this review
has been accelerated to meet the account deadline.

As in previous years, the quality accounts have been presented in an engaging
and easy to read format. Thank you once more for including an executive
summary, it was extremely helpful to have a summary of the priorities identified
for the previous year and the subsequent outcomes. 

The tremendous challenges in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic whilst
simultaneously maintaining service delivery was noted, as were the
achievements and opportunities documented within the account.

The focus on training was particularly pleasing and although it had not been
possible to complete during 2020/21, it was welcomed that dates had been
scheduled for Quality Improvement Training in July 2021 and for Staff
Champions in September 2021. The decision to continue to continue to deliver
and monitor the requirements of Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
(CQUINs) was commendable.  In respect of priority 5 relating to wheelchair
services, it was positive to see the utilisation of the new WATCH tool. The
committee will be interested in how this source of intelligence helps to further
improve service delivery. The impact of the pandemic towards delivery of priority
4 (Increasing the patient and public voice) was noted and as initiatives like
‘carer cafes’ commence, it will be key to see how the service evolves to support
carers. 

S t a t e m e n t  f r o m  W i l t s h i r e  H e a l t h  S e l e c t  C o m m i t t e e
S t a t e m e n t  f r o m  W i l t s h i r e  C o u n c i l  –  H e a l t h  S e l e c t
C o m m i t t e e

7 4
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As the country continues to progress along its  road map out of the pandemic,
the committee is particularly interested in understanding the plans in place for
Wiltshire Health and Care as it moves from a ‘response’ mode to one of 
 ‘recovery’. 2020/21 has presented unique challenges for organisations and with
that in mind we intend to invite Wiltshire Health and Care to brief the Health
Select Committee in the autumn on its COVID-19 recovery plans. At the meeting
an update on those priority activities that have been suspended or delayed from
2020/21 would be extremely welcomed. 
 

Cllr Johnny Kidney,
Chairman of the Health Select Committee, Wiltshire Council

7 4
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statements
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Wiltshire Health and Care Board  For decision

Subject: Approval of Annual Modern Slavery Statement

Date of Meeting: 22 June 2021

Author: Katherine Hamilton Jennings,  
Director of Governance & Legal 

1. Purpose 

The purpose of this paper is to: 

 Seek the WHC Operating Board’s approval to WHC’s Modern Slavery Statement for 2021.  

2. Background 

The Modern Slavery Act 2015 has made it compulsory for all organisations with a global annual 
turnover of £36m or more to publish a slavery and human trafficking statement for each financial 
year.  The statement must detail the steps an organisation has taken in that year to identify and 
eradicate modern slavery.   

3. Discussion 

The Modern Slavery Act 2015 prescribes content that all Modern Slavery Statements must 
contain. The statement proposed for WHC for 2021 covers all prescribed content in a tangible 
manner.  

Once the statement has been approved, we will publish it on our website, and also on the 
government’s national modern slavery registry (established this year): Modern slavery statement 
registry - GOV.UK (modern-slavery-statement-registry.service.gov.uk).  

4. Recommendation 

4.1 The Operating Board is invited to: 

A. APPROVE the proposed Modern Slavery Statement for 2021. 
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Impacts/ Risk  

Impacts 

Quality Impact  No negative impact on quality is identified.
Click here to enter text.  

Equality Impact  No negative impact on equality is identified. 
 None of the groups with protected characteristics are treated any differently.  

Financial 
implications 

 There is no direct financial implication. 

Impact on 
operational 
delivery of 
services 

 No operational impact is identified.

Regulatory/ legal 
implications 

 Positive impact.
 Enables WHC to demonstrate compliance with the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 

Consideration of risk  

Links to  
Business Plan 

Ensuring compliance with statutory and contractual obligations.  

Links to known 
risks 

None identified 

Identification of 
new risks 

Implementing this proposal set out in this paper will not introduce any new risks to 
WHC.  
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Modern Slavery Act 2015 and Transparency in Supply Chains Act 
2010 Statement 

Updated 2021 

OVERVIEW 

This statement, made pursuant to section 54(1) of the Modern Slavery Act 2015, sets out the 
approach taken by Wiltshire Health and Care to ensure that slavery, servitude, forced labour 
and/or human trafficking (together Modern Slavery) does not exist in our supply chains.  

OUR BUSINESS AND VALUES 

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP is the provider of NHS community services for patients living 
or residing in Wiltshire.  

Our registered address is Chippenham Community Hospital, Chippenham, Wiltshire, SN15 
2AJ. 

Our members are the three local NHS Foundation Trusts: 

 Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
 Royal United Hospitals Bath MNHS Foundation Trust; and  
 Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust.  

We provide community nursing, physiotherapy, and occupational health services to patients 
who benefit from being cared for in their homes. This is supported by a team of specialised 
community services, who treat patients both at home and in clinic to provide services such 
as tissue viability, podiatry, orthotics, continence, heart failure, respiratory, PACE and 
oxygen, lymphedema, diabetes, dietetics, MSK, speech and language therapy, and 
wheelchair and specialist seating services. We also provide support for those with learning 
disabilities, and support for those with long COVID. We care for patients in community wards 
in three parts of the county (Chippenham, Warminster, and Marlborough), support 
intermediate care and therapy, and run the Minor Injuries Units in Chippenham and 
Trowbridge. We work as part of the local health and social care economy with our acute care 
partners, local primary care, social care colleagues, Carers Support Wiltshire, and many 
other third sector agencies. Of course, this is supported by a broad network of family 
members, friends, carers, and volunteers.  

We have an overarching principle of removing the organisational barriers to healthcare to 
ensure that patients receive a seamless experience.   
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Wiltshire Health and Care has around 1400 employees and operates only out of Wiltshire, 
England, which is deemed a low risk country by the global slavery index. 

We have a zero-tolerance approach to modern slavery. Members of our Executive team 
oversee a series of measures to prevent modern slavery and human trafficking from 
touching our business and supply chains. We expect the same standards from all our 
contractors, suppliers and other business partners. 

OUR SUPPLY CHAINS 

We buy a wide range of goods and services, from medicines, and consumables, through to 
clinical clothing and waste disposal. The majority of these products and services are used in 
the provision of healthcare to patients. 

Our goods come from a range of suppliers, many of which, in turn, have their own supply 
chains. However a large proportion of our purchasing is undertaken through NHS supply 
chain, where suppliers are vetted centrally. Our significant procurements are supported by 
an expert procurement team, hosted by, and shared with, our members. Modern slavery 
checks are a standard part of the supplier questionnaire process.    

MODERN SLAVERY OVERSIGHT MEASURES  

To ensure that other organisations comply with our own standards and values, we have 
developed Modern Slavery Oversight Measures which seek to mitigate supply chain risk. 
This, facilitated by the procurement team that supports Wiltshire Health and Care, includes 
undertaking due diligence on new suppliers and ensuring mandatory modern slavery 
compliance terms are included in new supply contracts (i.e. that the supplier must warrant 
that it is compliant with modern slavery legislation). The procurement team that supports 
Wiltshire Health and Care also carries out regular assessments of key suppliers.  

Where a supplier does not satisfy us of their position with regard to modern slavery, we will 
raise our concerns. If there is a lack of engagement or insufficient assurance provided, we 
will review the continued use of that supplier with a view to changing to a supplier that is able 
to meet our expectations on modern slavery.  

TRAINING  

We have developed a training package in relation modern slavery obligations and the 
Modern Slavery Act. We continually take steps to raise awareness of modern slavery across 
Wiltshire Health and Care through communications and engagement.  

Wiltshire Health and Care has an Anti-Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Policy, which 
is reviewed by our Executive Team at least every three years.  
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RAISING CONCERNS

We are committed to dealing with any concerns raised in an open and honest manner, 
empowering and protecting those who do so. Our staff can report concerns through a variety 
of channels including: (i) to their line manager; (ii) to a member of the Executive and senior 
management team; and (iii) to a Freedom to Speak up Guardian. 

OUR EFFECTIVENESS IN COMBATING SLAVERY AND HUMAN TRAFFICKING 

As part of our Modern Slavery Oversight Measures, our crucial concern is that our staff 
members know what to do if they become concerned that there may be circumstances of 
modern slavery linked to the people we engage as staff or suppliers.  

Throughout the next we will continue to promote awareness through a further 
communication exercise to all staff on our intranet pages. 

Our Executive and senior management team will reflect upon the impact of the above and 
use that intelligence to inform the future development of the strategy and policy for 
combating modern slavery within Wiltshire Health and Care.  

This statement is approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by Douglas Blair, 
Managing Director. 

June 2021 
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Wiltshire Health and Care Board For decision

Subject: Standing Financial Instructions (SFIs) and Scheme of Delegation

Date of Meeting: 25 May 2021

Author: Annika Carroll with support from Katy Hamilton-Jennings

Executive 
Sponsor: 

Annika Carroll 

1. Purpose 

The revised Wiltshire Health and Care SFIs and Scheme of Delegation are submitted to the 
WHC Operating Board for ratification following approval of the documents by the Audit 
Committee on 25th May. 

2. Background 

The updated Wiltshire Health and Care SFIs and Scheme of Delegation were presented to the 
Audit Committee on the 25th May together with proposed next steps and implementation 
timelines. The document was approved by the Audit Committee. 

WHC will be working to the principals of the new SFIs, whilst policies are being refreshed and a 
training programme is rolled out to WHC budget managers and staff. The aim is to ensure 
training for existing staff is completed by the end of October 2021, with relevant documentation 
and guidance also being uploaded on the WHC Intranet pages.  

It is recognised that during the training period and whilst finance policies are being refreshed or 
new ones created where applicable, staff may require guidance on new or amended financial 
processes and matters. It is proposed that the DoF will be the main contact for such support and 
guidance in the first instance during this transitional period.    

3. Recommendation 

3.1 The Board is invited to: 

a) Ratify the SFIs and Scheme of Delegation following the Audit Committee approval on the 
25th May 2021. 
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STANDING FINANCIAL INSTRUCTIONS (“SFIs”) 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1  General 

1.1.1 Wiltshire Health and Care LLP (“WHC”) is a Limited Liability Partnership that 
is wholly owned by NHS entities. Its owners (also known as its “Members”) 
are: (1) Great Western NHS Foundation Trust, (2) Royal United Hospitals 
Bath NHS Foundation Trust, and (3) Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust. The 
obligations of the three Members in relation to WHC are set out in the “WHC 
Members Agreement”.  

1.1.2 The WHC Members Agreement also sets out an obligation for WHC to 
establish a WHC Operating Board, and clearly defines how responsibilities 
relating to WHC are split between the Members and the WHC Operating 
Board.   

1.1.3 In regulatory terms, WHC is categorised as an “NHS-Controlled Provider”, 
and held to account under NHS Improvement’s regulatory regime for this 
class of NHS provider. WHC holds this status because it is ultimately 
controlled by one or more NHS trusts and/or foundation trusts1. 

1.1.4 These Standing Financial Instructions (SFIs) have been put in place to 
ensure all of WHC’s financial transactions are carried out in accordance with 
the law, Government policy, and the regulatory framework set out by NHS 
Improvement, in order to achieve probity, accuracy, economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the way in which WHC manages public resources.  

 
 

Easy reference guide for terminology: 

Standing Financial 
Instructions (SFIs) 

 The set of rules relating to accountability 
for financial decisions/ transactions. 

Scheme of Delegation  Essentially a list of ‘who can approve 
what’. In relation to this document, it 
means the list setting out which WHC 
employees or Operating Board 
Members can approve what decisions/ 
documents.  

Matters Reserved to the 
WHC Operating Board 

 A type of scheme of delegation – but 
relates specifically to what decisions can 
only be taken by the WHC Operating 
Board. 

Matters Reserved to the 
WHC Members 

 A type of scheme of delegation – but 
relates specifically to what decisions can 
only be taken by the WHC Members. 

 
 

1.1.5 The Scheme of Delegation sets out who has the authority to make 
decisions within WHC. It is therefore important to consider it alongside the 
SFIs - which set out accountability for financial transactions/decisions.  

 
1.1.6 These SFIs identify the financial responsibilities which apply to everyone 

working for WHC. They do not provide detailed procedural advice and 
                                                
1 Where 'control' is defined on the basis of IFRS 10. 
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therefore should be read in conjunction with the detailed departmental and 
financial policies and procedures.  

 
1.1.7 Should any difficulties arise regarding the interpretation or application of any 

of the SFIs, then the advice of the Director of Finance must be sought before 
acting.  

 
1.1.8 Deliberate failure to comply with SFIs and/or the Scheme of Delegation will be 

regarded as a disciplinary matter that could result in an employee’s 
dismissal. 

 
1.1.9 Overriding SFIs – if for any reason these SFIs are not complied with, full 

details of the non-compliance and any justification for non-compliance and 
the circumstances around the non-compliance shall be reported to the next 
meeting of WHC’s Audit Committee. All members of the WHC Operating 
Board and WHC employees have a duty to disclose any non-compliance 
with these SFIs to the Director of Finance, as soon as possible. 

 
 

1.2 Responsibilities and delegation  

WHC Operating Board  

1.2.1 The WHC Operating Board exercises financial supervision over WHC by: 

a) Formulating the financial strategy (for ultimate approval by the WHC 
Members Board); 

b) Requiring the submission and approval of budgets within specified 
limits; 

c) Defining and approving essential features in respect of important 
procedures and financial systems (including the need to obtain value 
for money); 

d) Defining specific delegated responsibilities placed on members of the 
WHC Operating Board and employees as indicated in the “Scheme 
of Delegation.” 

 
1.2.2 The WHC Operating Board has certain powers and decisions that it cannot 

delegate. These are set out in the “‘Matters Reserved to the WHC 
Operating Board”. All other powers have been delegated to either: 
members of WHC’s Executive team; or committees of the WHC Operating 
Board. These are set out in the Scheme of Delegation. For convenience, 
and ease of reference, both the “Matters Reserved to the WHC Operating 
Board” and the “Scheme of Delegation” are incorporated into this 
document as Annex 3. 

 
1.2.3 The extent of delegation shall be kept under regular review by the WHC 

Operating Board. 

 
The Managing Director and Director of Finance 

 
1.2.4 The Managing Director and Director of Finance will delegate their detailed 

responsibilities as set out in the SFIs and associated Appendices, but they 
remain accountable for financial control. 
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Managing Director  
 

1.2.5 Within the SFIs, it is acknowledged that the Managing Director (MD) is 
ultimately accountable to the WHC Operating Board for ensuring that the 
WHC Operating Board meets its obligation to perform its functions within 
the available financial resources. The MD has overall executive 
responsibility for WHC’s activities, and is responsible to the Chair and the 
WHC Operating Board for ensuring WHC’s financial obligations and targets 
are met. The MD also has overall responsibility for WHC’s system of 
internal control. 

 
1.2.6 It is a duty of the MD to ensure that members of the WHC Operating Board, 

and all employees, are notified of, and are put in a position to understand, 
their responsibilities within these SFIs. 

 
The Director of Finance 

 
1.2.7 The Director of Finance (Director of Finance) is responsible for: 

a) These SFIs and for keeping them appropriate and up to date; 

b) Implementing WHC’s financial policies and for coordinating any 
corrective action necessary to further these policies; 

c) Maintaining an effective system of internal financial control including 
ensuring that detailed financial procedures and systems incorporating 
the principles of separation of duties and internal checks are 
prepared, documented and maintained to supplement these 
instructions; 

d) Ensuring that sufficient records are maintained to show and explain 
WHC’s transactions, in order to disclose, with reasonable 
accuracy, the financial position of WHC at any time; 

e) Without prejudice to any other functions of WHC, and employees of 
WHC, the duties of the Director of Finance include: 

i) Provision of financial advice to other members of the WHC 
Operating Board and employees; 

ii) Design, implementation and supervision of systems of internal 
financial control; 

iii) Preparation and maintenance of such accounts, certificates, 
estimates, records and reports as WHC may require for the 
purpose of carrying out its statutory duties or obligations under 
the WHC Members Agreement. 

 
WHC Operating Board and WHC Employees 

 
1.2.8 All members of the WHC Operating Board, and WHC employees, are 

collectively and severally responsible for: 

a) The security of the property of WHC; 

b) Avoiding loss; 

c) Exercising economy and efficiency in the use of resources; 

d) Conforming to the requirements of NHS Improvement, the 
obligations as set out in the WHC Members Agreement; these SFIs; 
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the Matters Reserved to the WHC Operating Board; and the 
Scheme of Delegation. 

 
1.2.9 For any and all members of the WHC Operating Board and WHC employees 

who carry out a financial function, the form in which financial records are 
kept and the manner in which members of the WHC Operating Board and 
WHC employees discharge their duties must be to the satisfaction of the 
Director of Finance. 

 
Contractors and their employees 

 
1.2.10 Any contractor, or employee of a contractor, who is empowered by WHC to 

commit WHC to expenditure or who is authorised to obtain income shall be 
covered by these instructions. It is the responsibility of the MD to ensure 
that such persons are made aware of this. 

 
2. AUDIT 

2.1 Director of Finance 
 

2.1.1 The Director of Finance is responsible for: 

a) Ensuring there are arrangements to review, evaluate, and report on 
the effectiveness of internal financial control, including the 
establishment of an effective internal audit function; 

b) Ensuring that the Internal Audit service to WHC is adequate and 
meets NHS Improvement’s mandatory internal audit standards;  

c) Deciding at what stage to involve the police in cases of 
misappropriation of assets and any other irregularities (subject to the 
provisions of the SFI relating to fraud and corruption); 

d) Ensuring that an annual internal audit report is prepared (with interim 
progress reports) for the consideration of the Audit Committee. The 
report(s) must cover: 

i) A clear opinion on the effectiveness of internal control, including 
for example compliance with control criteria and standards. This 
opinion provides assurance to the Managing Director, and also 
provides assurance to the Audit Committee; 

ii) Any major internal financial control weaknesses discovered; 

iii) Progress on the implementation of internal audit 
recommendations; 

iv) Progress against plan over the previous year; 

v) A detailed work-plan for the coming year. 
 

2.1.2 The Director of Finance and designated auditors are entitled without 
necessarily giving prior notice to require and receive: 

a) Access to all records, documents and correspondence relating to any 
financial or other relevant transactions, including documents of a 
confidential nature; 

b) Access during normal working hours to any land, premises or 
members of the WHC Operating Board or employee of WHC; 

c) The production of any cash, stores or other property of WHC under 
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the control of a member of the WHC Operating Board or employee; 
and 

d) Explanations concerning any matter under investigation. 
 

2.2 Role of Internal Audit 
 

2.2.1 Internal Audit provides an independent and objective opinion to the 
Managing Director, the Audit Committee, and the WHC Operating Board 
on the degree to which risk management, control, and governance 
support the achievement of WHC’s agreed objectives. 

 
2.2.2 Internal Audit will review, appraise, and report upon: 

a) The extent of compliance with, and the financial effect of, relevant 
established policies, plans and procedures; 

b) The adequacy and application of financial and other related 
management controls; 

c) The suitability of financial and other related management data 
including internal and external reporting and accountability 
processes; 

d) The efficient and effective use of resources; 

e) The extent to which WHC’s assets and interests are accounted for 
and safeguarded from loss of any kind, arising from: 

i) Fraud and other offences (responsibility for investigation of 
any suspected or alleged fraud is held by the Local Counter 
Fraud Specialist); 

ii) Waste, extravagance, inefficient administration; 
iii) Poor value for money or other causes; 

iv) Any form of risk, especially business and financial risk but 
not exclusively so. 

f) The adequacy of follow-up actions by WHC to internal audit reports; 

g) Any investigations / project work agreed with and under terms of 
reference laid down by the Director of Finance; 

h) The NHS Improvement Well-Led Framework; 

i) WHC’s compliance with the Care Quality Commission Essential 
Standards of Quality and Safety. 

 
2.2.3 Whenever any matter arises (in the course of work undertaken by internal 

audit) which involves, or is thought to involve, irregularities concerning 
cash, stores, or other property or any suspected irregularity in the 
exercise of any function of a pecuniary nature, the Director of Finance 
must be notified immediately and, in the case of alleged or suspected 
fraud, the Local Counter Fraud Service (LCFS) must be notified. 

 
2.2.4 Internal Audit will normally attend Audit Committee meetings and has a 

right of access to Audit Committee members, the Chair and MD. 
 

2.2.5 The reporting system for internal audit shall be agreed between the 
Director of Finance, the Audit Committee and Internal Audit. The 
agreement shall be in writing and shall comply with the public sector 
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internal audit standards as described within the IA Charter. 
 

2.3 External Audit 
 

2.3.1 The External Auditor is appointed by the WHC Members Board with 
advice from the Operating Board and Audit Committee. 

 
2.3.2 The Audit Committee must ensure a cost-effective service is provided, 

and agree audit work-plans, except statutory requirements. 
 

2.3.3 WHC shall comply with the Audit Code and shall require the External 
Auditor to comply with the Audit Code. 

 
2.3.4 If there are any problems relating to the service provided by the External 

Auditor this should be resolved in accordance with the Audit Code. 
 

2.3.5 Prior approval must be sought from the Audit Committee (the WHC 
Operating Board may also be notified) for each discrete piece of additional 
external audit work (i.e., work over and above the audit plan, approved at 
the start of the year) awarded to the external auditors. Competitive 
tendering is not required and the Director of Finance is required to 
authorise expenditure. 

 
2.3.6 The External Auditor shall be routinely invited to attend and report to 

meetings of the Audit Committee, and shall be entitled to meet the Audit 
Committee in the absence of WHC employees, if they so desire. 
 

2.4 Fraud, Corruption and Bribery 
 

2.4.1 In line with their responsibilities, the MD and Director of Finance shall 
monitor and ensure compliance with the relevant NHS Standard Contract 
Service Condition to put in place and maintain appropriate anti-fraud, 
bribery and corruption arrangements, having regard to the NHS Counter 
Fraud Authority’s standards. 

 
2.4.2 The Director of Finance is the executive WHC Operating Board member 

responsible for counter fraud, bribery and corruption in WHC. 
 

2.4.3 WHC shall nominate a professionally accredited Local Counter Fraud 
Specialist (“LCFS”), to conduct the full range of anti-fraud, bribery and 
corruption work on behalf of WHC as specified in the NHS Counter Fraud 
Authority Standards for Providers.  

 
2.4.4 The LCFS shall report to the Director of Finance and the NHS Counter 

Fraud Authority, in accordance with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority 
Standards, the Counter Fraud Manual and NHS Counter Fraud Authority’s 
Investigation Case File Toolkit.  

 
2.4.5 If it is considered that evidence of offences exists and that a prosecution is 

desirable, the LCFS will consult with the Director of Finance to obtain the 
necessary authority and agree the appropriate route for pursuing any 
action e.g. referral to the police or the NHS Counter Fraud Authority. 

 
2.4.6 The LCFS will provide a written report, at least annually, on anti-fraud, 

https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/#:~:text=The%20Code%20of%20Audit%20Practice%20sets%20out%20what,local%20councils%2C%20fire%20authorities%2C%20police%20and%20NHS%20bodies.
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bribery and corruption work within WHC to the Audit Committee. 
 

2.4.7 The LCFS will ensure that measures to mitigate identified risks are included 
in an organisational work plan which ensures that an appropriate level of 
resource is available to the level of any risks identified. Work will be 
monitored by the Director of Finance, and outcomes fed back to the Audit 
Committee. 

 
2.4.8 In accordance with the Freedom to Speak Up (Raising Concerns) Policy, 

WHC shall have a whistle-blowing mechanism to report any suspected or 
actual fraud, bribery, or corruption matters and internally publicise this, 
together with the national fraud and corruption reporting line provided by the 
NHS Counter Fraud Authority.  

 
2.4.9 WHC will report annually on how it has met the standards set by the NHS 

Counter Fraud Authority in relation to anti-fraud, bribery and corruption work 
and the Director of Finance shall sign-off the annual self-review and 
authorise its submission to the NHS Counter Fraud Authority. The Director 
of Finance shall sign-off the annual qualitative assessment (in years when 
this assessment is required) and submit it to the relevant authority. 

 
2.5 Security Management 

 
2.5.1 In line with their responsibilities, the MD will monitor and ensure 

compliance with the relevant NHS Standard Service Condition to put in 
place and maintain appropriate security management arrangements, 
having regard to previously published NHS Protect Standards. 

 
2.5.2 WHC shall nominate a suitable person to carry out the duties of the SAFE 

Accredited Security Management Specialist (“LSMS”) as specified in the 
NHS Protect anti-crime standards. 

 

2.5.3 The Managing Director has overall responsibility for controlling and 
coordinating security. However, key tasks are delegated to the appointed 
LSMS. 
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3. BUSINESS PLANNING, BUDGETS, BUDGETARY CONTROL, 

AND MONITORING 
 

3.1 Preparation and Approval of WHC’s Strategic Plan 
 

3.1.1 In accordance with the WHC Members Agreement, the MD will compile and 
submit to the WHC Members Board (for approval), a “Strategic Plan”. 

 
3.1.2 The Strategic Plan shall be formally reviewed and amended at least 

annually by the WHC Operating Board prior to being presented for approval 
by the WHC Members Board.  

 
3.1.3 Where possible, the Strategic Plan shall be presented for approval by the 

WHC Members Board not less than 4 months prior to the expiry of each 
Accounting Reference Period, to enable the WHC Operating Board to align 
its “Delivery Plan” for the subsequent Accounting Reference Period with the 
approved strategy. 

 
3.1.4 The Strategic Plan shall cover a three year period, and shall set out:  

 
A. The strategic objectives for the use of the WHC LLP vehicle during 

the period; 

B. A minimum three (3) year strategic financial objectives for the LLP;  

C. A financial report including an analysis of the estimated results of 
WHC for the previous Accounting Reference Period compared with 
the Strategic Plan for that year;  

3.1.5 Any amended Strategic Plan approved by the WHC Members Board shall 
update the existing Strategic Plan and shall become the Strategic Plan. 

3.2 Preparation and Approval of WHC’s Delivery Plan 
 

3.2.1 As per clause 5.1 of the WHC Members Agreement, it is the role of WHC 
Operating Board to agree the operational strategy for the delivery of 
community health and associated services in Wiltshire, and how WHC will 
plan for continued improvement in quality and the experience of its service 
users (the “Delivery Plan”); 
 

3.2.2 It is the responsibility of the MD to compile and submit the Delivery Plan to 
the WHC Operating Board on an annual basis. 

 
3.2.3 The Delivery Plan will be presented to the WHC Operating Board not later 

than 2 months after the beginning of the start of the first Accounting 
Reference Period to which it relates, and will cover a three year period, and 
shall include: 

 
3.2.3.1 The operational objectives that will be pursued by WHC across 

the subsequent three year period, this will include detailed 
objectives for year 1, and high level objectives for years 2 and 3; 
 

3.2.3.2 A summary financial plan for the three year period: 
 

3.2.3.3 A statement of the significant assumptions on which the Delivery 
Plan is based; and  
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3.2.3.4 Such other contents as may be determined by NHS Improvement 

(NHSI), which will be set out as annexes to the Delivery Plan. 
 

3.2.4 As well as being presented to the WHC Operating Board, any annexes to 
the Delivery Plan containing the annual planning requirements of NHSI 
shall be submitted to NHSI in accordance with their requirements. 

 
3.2.5 All members of the WHC Executive team shall be responsible for 

contributing to the planning process that informs the Delivery Plan, so that 
the Delivery Plan shall incorporate plans for workforce, service delivery and 
quality, service capacity and activity, and efficiency planning. 

 
3.2.6 The financial plan required by 3.2.3.2 above, will be prepared by the 

Director of Finance, and 

a) Be produced following discussion with appropriate budget holders; 

b) Be prepared within the limits of available funds; 

c) Identify potential risks and mitigating actions; and 

d) Be based on reasonable and realistic assumptions. 

 
3.2.7 The Director of Finance shall monitor financial performance against budget, 

and report to the WHC Operating Board every quarter. 
 

3.2.8 All budget holders must provide information as required by the Director of 
Finance to enable budgets to be compiled. 

 
3.2.9 Planned ‘in year’ business cases for investment will be identified as much 

as is reasonably possible via the annual planning process. Only approved 
business cases will be included in the finance plan supporting the Delivery 
Plan and budget setting. An adjustment to forecast will be made in year for 
those investments that are subsequently approved. Table 1 sets out the 
delegated limits for the approval of business cases: 
 
Table 1 
‘In year’ revenue value Authorisation to approve 
<£5k Budget holder 
£5k>  Executive Committee 

 

Should a project linked to an approved business case (revenue or capital) 
at any point forecast an overspend of more than 10% of its’ originally 
approved cost allocation then it will have to revert to the original approving 
Body as a matter of urgency to seek authority to continue. 

 
Any business case (revenue or capital) approved  > £100k,  should revert 
to the approving authority upon completion of the project within 6 months of 
go live to provide a Post Investment Review comparing the financials to 
business case assumptions and confirming or otherwise the success of the 
intended deliverables, key lessons learnt and any outstanding actions. 
 

3.2.10 The Director of Finance has a responsibility to ensure that adequate training 
is delivered on an on-going basis to budget holders to help them manage 
their budgets successfully. 
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3.3 Budgetary Delegation 

 
3.3.1 The MD, through the Director of Finance, may delegate the management of 

a budget to permit the performance of a defined range of activities. This 
delegation must be in writing and be accompanied by a clear definition of: 

a) The amount of the budget; 

b) The purpose(s) of each budget heading; 

c) Individual and group responsibilities; 

e) Achievement of planned levels of service; 
f) Authority to exercise virements. 

g) The provision of regular reports. 
 

3.3.2 Except where otherwise approved by the MD, taking account of advice from 
the Director of Finance, budgets shall only be used for the purpose for 
which they were provided. 

 
3.3.3 As part of the budgetary oversight, agreements will be reached on the 

value of any budgeted funds not required for their designated purpose(s) 
revert to the immediate control of the Director of Finance. 

 
3.3.4 Non-recurring budgets shall be agreed by the MD or the Director of 

Finance and should not be used to finance recurring expenditure without 
their authority in writing. 

 
3.3.5 The MD and delegated budget holders must not exceed the budgetary 

total limits set by the WHC Operating Board. 
 

3.3.6 Service Leads, who are responsible for ‘trading activities’ must ensure the 
integrity and supply of information to other users.  Price increases in such 
departments should be monitored by the Director of Finance to ensure 
overall efficiency and value for money is maintained. 

 
3.4 Budgetary Control and Reporting 

 
3.4.1 The Director of Finance will devise and maintain systems of budgetary 

control. These will include: 

a) Monthly financial reports to the WHC Executive Committee and 
quarterly finance reports to the WHC Operating Board in a form 
approved by the WHC Operating Board containing sufficient 
information to allow the Executive Committee and WHC Operating 
Board to ascertain the financial performance of WHC. This may include 
the following: 

i) Income and expenditure to date, showing trends and the forecast 
year-end position; 

ii) Workforce spend and WTEs; 
iii) Movements in working capital (including cash); 
iv) Capital project spend and projected outturn against plan; 
v) Explanations of any material variances from budget; 
vi) Details of any corrective action where necessary and the MD’s 

and/or Director of Finance's view of whether such actions are 
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sufficient to correct the situation; 
b) The issue of timely, accurate and comprehensible advice and 

financial reports to each budget holder, covering the areas for which 
they are responsible; 

c) Investigation and reporting of variances from financial, workload and 
manpower budgets; 

d) Monitoring of management action to correct variances; and 

e) Arrangements for the authorisation of budget transfers and virements. 
 

3.4.2 No budget-holder is authorised to overspend their budget. Where 
overspending is occurring, the budget-holder must account to their line 
manager for the overspending and identify the means of addressing it. It 
is accepted that a budget may be exceeded for a short period in the year 
due to the phasing of expenditure. 

 
3.4.3 Each Budget Holder is responsible for ensuring that no permanent 

employees are appointed without the approval of the WHC Executive 
Committee, other than staff provided for within the budgeted workforce 
establishment as amended from time to time through the budgeted 
establishment control process.   

 
3.5 Capital Expenditure 

 
3.5.1 General rules applying to delegation and reporting shall also apply to capital 

expenditure. Accounting for fixed assets must comply with the appropriate 
accounting standards and WHC capital policy. The specific instructions 
relating to capital are contained in section 12 of these SFIs. 

 
3.6 Performance Monitoring Forms and Returns 

 
3.6.1 The Director of Finance, on behalf of the MD, will ensure that any 

applicable monitoring forms and returns are submitted to NHSI in 
accordance with the timetable. The performance figures to the WHC 
Operating Board should reflect the same figures, though not necessarily 
presented in the same format. 

 

4. ANNUAL ACCOUNTS AND QUALITY ACCOUNT 
 

4.1 The Director of Finance, on behalf of WHC, will: 

a) Prepare annual financial accounts and corresponding financial 
returns; 

b) Ensure these annual accounts and financial returns comply with 
current guidelines and directions as to their technical accounting 
content and information/data shown therein, before submission to 
DHSC and Companies House. 

 
4.2 The Director of Quality, Professions and Workforce will prepare the 

annual Quality Account in the format prescribed by NHS England. The 
Quality Account presents a balanced picture of the quality of services 
delivered by WHC over the financial year and up to the agreed 
submission date. 

 
4.3 The WHC’s Annual Accounts and financial returns to DHSC must be audited 
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by the external auditor in accordance with appropriate international auditing 
standard, where relevant. 

 
4.4 The Annual Accounts and Quality Account (including the auditor’s report), 

shall be approved by the WHC Operating Board after review by the Audit 
Committee. The Quality Assurance Committee will also review the Quality 
Account prior to its submission to the Audit Committee. 

 
4.5 The Annual Accounts and Quality Account (including the auditor’s report) is 

submitted to DHSC and annual accounts filed with Companies House (in 
accordance with timetable) by the Director of Finance and put forward to be 
laid before Parliament in accordance with the prescribed timetable. 

 
4.6 The MD, Chair of WHC and Director of Finance, as appropriate, will sign the 

documentation relating to the Annual Accounts and financial returns to NHS 
England/Improvement and the annual Quality Account on behalf of the WHC 
Operating Board. 

 
 

5. BANK ACCOUNTS 
 

5.1 General 
 

5.1.1 The Director of Finance is responsible for managing WHC’s banking 
arrangements and for advising WHC on the provision of banking services 
and operation of accounts. 

 
5.1.2 The Director of Finance will review the banking needs of WHC at regular 

intervals to ensure they reflect current business patterns and represent 
value for money. 

 
5.1.3 The WHC Operating Board will approve recommendations regarding the 

opening of any bank account in the name of WHC. 
 

5.2 Government Banking Service (“GBS”) Bank Accounts 
 

5.2.1 In line with public sector practice, WHC‘s principal bankers are those 
commercial banks working in partnership with the GBS, referred to in 
5.2.2(a) below. However, these SFIs will apply to any other accounts 
opened in the name of WHC or its subsidiaries from time to time. 

 
5.2.2 The Director of Finance is responsible for: 

a) GBS bank accounts and any non GBS bank accounts held for 
banking and merchant services. 

b) Ensuring payments made from bank/GBS accounts do not 
exceed the amount credited to the account except where 
approval has been obtained and arrangements have been 
made, or there is a right of set-off with another account held 
with that bank; 

c) Reporting to the WHC Operating Board any arrangements made 
with WHC’s bankers for accounts to be overdrawn; 

f) Ensuring covenants attached to bank borrowings are adhered to. 
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5.3 Banking Procedures 
 

5.3.1 The Director of Finance will prepare detailed instructions on the operation 
of bank accounts which must include: 

 
a) The conditions under which each bank account is to be operated, 

including the overdraft limit, if applicable; 
 

b) Those members of staff with mandated authority to carry out 
transactions (by signing transfer authorities or cheques or other 
orders) in accordance with the authorisation framework of these 
bank accounts. 

 
5.3.2 The Director of Finance must advise WHC’s bankers in writing of the 

conditions under which each account will be operated. 
 

5.4 Tendering and Review (applicable to any non-GBS bank accounts 
only) 

 
5.4.1 The Director of Finance will review the commercial banking arrangements 

of WHC at regular intervals to ensure they reflect best practice and value 
for money. 

 
6. INCOME, FEES AND CHARGES AND SECURITY OF CASH, 

CHEQUES AND OTHER NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENTS 
 

6.1 Income Systems 
 

6.1.1 The Director of Finance is responsible for designing, maintaining and 
ensuring compliance with systems for the proper recording, invoicing, and 
collection and coding of all monies due. 

 
6.1.2 The Director of Finance is also responsible for the prompt banking of all monies 

received. 
 

6.2 Fees and Charges (including for private use of WHC assets) 

 
6.2.2. The Director of Finance is responsible for approving and regularly reviewing 

and signing off the level of all fees and charges other than those determined 
by the Department of Health and Social Care or by Statute. Responsibility 
for signing off the level of property rentals, and for reviewing rental and 
other charges regularly shall rest upon the Director of Finance who shall 
take into account independent professional advice on matters of valuation. 
The Director of Finance shall be consulted about the pricing of goods and 
services offered for sale. 

 
6.2.3 All Employees must inform the Director of Finance promptly of money 

due arising from transactions which they initiate/deal with, including all 
contracts, leases, tenancy agreements, private patient undertakings and 
other transactions. 

 
6.2.4 Contracts must conform to the strategy and business plans of WHC and 

shall be approved according to the limits specified at SFI Annex 3. 
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6.2.5 Any employee wishing to use WHC assets for private use must comply with 
WHC’s policies, including those on use of the telephone and the loan of 
equipment. 

 
6.3 Debt Recovery 

 
6.3.1 The Director of Finance is responsible for the appropriate recovery 

action on all outstanding debts. 
 

6.3.2 Any write off of income and salary overpayments not received, after all 
attempts at recovery have failed, should be approved by the Audit 
Committee as per Scheme of Delegation (6.5., Annex 3). A schedule 
of written off debt shall be presented to the Audit Committee at least 
annually. A schedule of debts written off in excess of £50,000 and 
approved by the Audit Committee should be presented to the WHC 
Operating Board for information. 

 
6.4 Security of Cash, Cheques and other Negotiable Instruments 

 
6.4.1 The Director of Finance is responsible for: 

a) Approving the form of all receipt books, agreement forms, or other 
means of officially acknowledging or recording monies received or 
receivable; 

b) Ordering and securely controlling any such stationery; 

c) The provision of adequate facilities and systems for employees whose 
duties include collecting and holding cash, including the provision of 
safes or lockable cash boxes, the procedures for keys, and for coin 
operated machines; 

d) Prescribing systems and procedures for handling cash and negotiable 
securities on behalf of WHC. 

 
6.4.2 All unused cheques and other orders shall be subject to the same security 

precautions as are applied to cash. The Director of Finance shall be 
responsible for the arrangements for security and issue of bulk stocks of 
cheques. 

 
6.4.3 WHC monies shall not, under any circumstances, be used for the 

encashment of private cheques or loans or IOUs. 
 

6.4.4 All cheques, postal orders, cash etc. shall be banked intact. Disbursements 
shall not be made from cash received, before banking, except under 
arrangements approved by the Director of Finance. 

 
6.4.5 Any loss or shortfall of cash, cheques, or other negotiable instruments, 

however occasioned, shall be reported immediately in accordance with the 
agreed procedure for reporting losses. (See Section 14 Disposals and 
Condemnations, Losses and Special Payments). 

 
7. TENDERING & CONTRACTING PROCEDURES  

 
7.1 Duty to comply with Standing Financial Instructions 

 
The procedure for agreeing all contracts on behalf of WHC shall comply 
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with these Standing Financial Instructions. 
 

7.2 Thresholds Tender Guide/Placing Contracts/Waivers 

 
7.2.1 The following table (Table 2) outlines the correct procurement process to 

be followed relative to value and the type of product or service being 
purchased. 
 

7.2.2 Where goods, services, disposals and/or capital works are to be supplied 
over a period of time, the values listed must be taken as the value of the 
contract and include the whole life costs, not the annual value and should 
not seek to circumvent public sector procurement regulations. 
 

7.2.3 For the purpose of these SFI’s the definition of a Contract is a voluntary, 
deliberate, and legally binding agreement between two or more competent 
parties. Contracts are usually written but may be spoken or implied, and 
generally have to do with employment, sale or lease, or tenancy. 
 

7.2.4 A contractual relationship is evidenced by (1) an offer, (2) acceptance of 
the offer, and a (3) valid (legal and valuable) consideration. Each party to 
a contract acquires rights and duties relative to the rights and duties of the 
other parties. However, while all parties may expect a fair benefit from the 
contract (otherwise courts may set it aside as inequitable) it does not 
follow that each party will benefit to an equal extent. 

 
Table 2 
Contract 
Value (Excl 
VAT) 

Quotations/Tenders Min number 
invited to 
Quote/Tender 
where 
available 

Form of 
Contract 

<£10,000 Single Quotation may 
be obtained by end 
user 

1 Purchase 
Order 

£10,000 - 
£24,999 

Quotation 
Authorisation required 
from Procurement 
team prior to 
obtaining quotes 

2 Purchase 
Order 

£25,000- 
£75,000 

Quotation 
To be obtained by 
Procurement 
team with 
appropriate 
advertising and 
market engagement 

3 Contract 
and 
Purcha
se 
Order 

£75,001 - 
Public Contract 
Regulations 
threshold 

Tender by 
Procurement team 

4 Contract as 
specified in 
Tender and 
Purchase 
Order 
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> Public 
Contract 
Regulations 
threshold 

Tender by 
Procurement team 

4 Contract as 
specified in 
Tender and 
Purchase 
Order 

7.2.5 Where the opportunity has been advertised, WHC may shortlist suppliers, 
via a transparent supplier selection process, to take forward to the next 
stage of the procurement process. 

 
7.2.6 Threshold limits represent the contract’s lifetime value (e.g. a 5 year 

contract of £25,000 per year requires £125,000 method and 
authorisation). 

 
7.2.7 The cumulative amount spent with the supplier over a rolling 12 month 

period (e.g. 5 separate spends of £5k each will trigger the appropriate 
procurement process in line with the values above) 

 
7.2.8 In circumstances after market engagement has been conducted, where 

the specified number of quotations/tenders cannot be obtained (e.g. where 
there is a limited number of suppliers), the reasons for receiving a lower 
number of quotations/tenders must be recorded in the recommendation 
report and in this event a waiver/ Single Tender Action will not be required. 

 
7.3 Placing Contracts 

 
7.3.1 Authorisation to sign a Contract and recommendation report requirements 

are detailed in Table 3 below. 
 

7.3.2 Under no circumstances should any member of WHC sign and authorise a 
Contract from a supplier unless they are permitted under SFI’s to do so as 
detailed in the Table 3. 

 
 
Table 3 

Contract Value Recommendation 
Report Requirement 

Authorisation To 
Place or sign 
Contract 

<£10,000 
(Inclusive of zero 
nominal value) 

No Managing Director/ 
Director of Finance 

£10,000 – £24,999 Recommendation report 
required only if contract 
has not been awarded to 
the most economically 
advantageous offer 

Managing 
Director/Director of 
Finance 

£25,000 - £500,000 Yes Managing 
Director/Director of 
Finance 

£500,001 - £2,650,651  Yes Operating Board 
>£2,650,651 Yes Members unanimous 

approval needed 
 

 
7.3.3 The Managing Director / Director of Finance may delegate authority to the 
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Procurement advisors  in their capacity  providing r support to WHC as part of 
the Procurement SLA, to sign and place contracts on WHC’s behalf, providing 
a recommendation report has been approved in accordance the authorisation 
limits as detailed in Table 3. 

 
7.3.4 The Managing Director shall nominate officers with delegated authority to 

enter into contracts of employment, regarding staff, agency staff or 
temporary staff service contract 

 
7.4 Electronic Tendering 

 
7.4.1 All invitations to tender should be on a formal competitive basis applying 

the principles set out below using the appropriate E-Tendering Portal. 
 

7.4.2 All tendering carried out through e-tendering will be compliant with WHC 
policies and procedures as set out in SFIs 7.2 – 7.12. Issue of all tender 
documentation should be undertaken by the Procurement Department 
electronically through a secure website with controlled access  using 
secure login, authentication and viewing rules. 

 
7.4.3 All tenders will be received into a secure electronic vault so that they 

cannot be accessed until an agreed opening time. Where the electronic 
tendering package is used the details of the persons opening the 
documents will be recorded in the audit trail together with the date and 
time of the document opening. All actions and communication by both 
procurement staff and suppliers are recorded within the system audit 
reports. 

 
7.5 Manual Tendering – General Exception Rules 

 
7.5.1 All invitations to tender on a formal competitive basis shall state that no 

tender will be considered for acceptance unless submitted in either: 

a) A plain, sealed package bearing a pre-printed label supplied by WHC 
(or bearing the word `Tender’ followed by the subject to which it 
relates and the latest date and time for the receipt of such tender); 

Or 

b) In a special envelope supplied by WHC to prospective tenderers and 
the tender envelopes/packages shall not bear any names or marks 
indicating the sender. 

 
7.5.2 Every tender for goods, materials or manufactured articles supplied as 

part of a works contract and services shall embody such of the main 
contract conditions as may be appropriate in accordance with the contract 
forms described in Section 7.5. 

 
7.5.3 Where appropriate tenders for building and works, shall embody or be in 

the terms of the current edition of the appropriate Joint Contracts Tribunal 
(JCT) or NEC 3 form of contract amended to comply with Concode. When 
the content of the works is primarily engineering, tenders shall embody or 
be in the terms of the General Conditions of Contract recommended by 
the Institutions of Mechanical Engineers and the Association of Consulting 
Engineers (Form A) or, in the case of civil engineering work, the General 
Conditions of Contract recommended by the Institution of Civil Engineers. 
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7.5.4 Every tender for goods, materials, services (including consultancy 
services) or disposals shall embody the NHS Standard Contract Terms 
and Conditions as are applicable. Every supplier must have given a 
written undertaking not to engage in collusive tendering or other restrictive 
practice. 

 
7.6 Receipt, Safe Custody and Record of Formal Tenders submitted 

manually 
 

7.6.1 All tenders on the approved form shall be addressed to the appropriate 
officer according to the appropriate limits specified in SFI 7.2. 

 
7.6.2 The date and time of receipt of each tender shall be endorsed on the 

unopened tender envelope/package. 
 

7.6.3 The appropriate officer shall designate an officer or officers, not from the 
originating department, to receive tenders on his/her behalf and to be 
responsible for their endorsement and safe custody until the time 
appointed for their opening, and for the records maintained in accordance 
with SFI 7.7. 

 
7.7 Opening Formal Tenders 

 
7.7.1 As soon as practicable after the date and time stated as being the latest 

time for the receipt of tenders they shall be opened either electronically or 
if manually by two officers designated by the officer as appropriate. 

 
7.7.2 Every tender received shall be stamped with the date of opening and if 

manually opened they shall be initialed by two of those present at the 
opening. 

 
7.7.3 A permanent record shall be maintained to show for each set of 

competitive tender invitations dispatched: 

a) The names of firms/individuals invited; 

b) The names of and the number of firms/individuals from which tenders 
have been received; 

c) The total price(s) tendered; 
d) Closing date and time; 
e) Date and time of opening; and 
f) The persons present at the opening shall sign the record, where a 

manual process has been conducted. 
 

7.7.4 Except as in the paragraph below, a record shall be maintained of all price 
alterations on tenders, i.e. where a price has been altered, and the final 
price shown shall be recorded. Every price alteration appearing on a 
tender and the record should be logged and where a manual process has 
been conducted it should be initialed by two of those present at the 
opening. 

 
7.7.5 A report shall be made in the record if, on any one tender, price 

alterations are considered so numerous as to render the procedure set 
out in the paragraph above unreasonable. 
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7.8 Admissibility and Acceptance of Formal Tenders (Electronically & 
Manually) 

 
7.8.1 In considering which tender to accept, if any, the nominated individual 

leading WHC’s tender shall have regard to whether value for money will 
be obtained by WHC and whether the number of tenders received 
provides adequate competition. In cases of doubt they shall consult 
Wiltshire Health and Care’s Procurement Advisor. All decisions should be 
recorded in line with the procurement process. 

 
7.8.2 Tenders received after the due time and date may be considered only if 

the Director of Finance or Procurement or nominated officer decides that 
there are exceptional circumstances, e.g. where significant financial, 
technical or delivery advantages would accrue, and is satisfied that there 
is no reason to doubt the bona fides of the tenders concerned. The 
Director of Finance, or nominated officer, shall decide whether such 
tenders are admissible and whether re-tendering is desirable. Re- 
tendering may be limited to those tenders reasonably in the field of 
consideration in the original competition. If the tender is accepted the late 
arrival of the tender should be reported to the Operating Board at its next 
meeting. All decisions in relation to tenders received after the due time 
and date should be recorded in the procurement log. 

 
7.8.3 Technically late tenders (i.e. those dispatched in good time but delayed 

through no fault of the supplier) may at the discretion of the Director of 
Finance or nominated officer be regarded as having arrived in due time. A 
record supporting this decision should be recorded in the procurement 
log. 

 
7.8.4 Materially incomplete tenders (i.e. those from which information necessary 

for the adjudication of the tender is missing) and amended tenders (i.e. 
those amended by the supplier upon his own initiative either orally or in 
writing after the due time for receipt) should be dealt with in the same way 
as late tenders under SFI 7.8. 

 
7.8.5 Where examination of tenders reveals a need for clarification, the supplier 

is to be given details of such clarifications and afforded the opportunity of 
confirming or withdrawing his offer. 

 
7.8.6 Necessary discussions with a supplier of the contents of their tender, in 

order to elucidate technical points etc., before the award of a contract, will 
not disqualify the tender. 

 
7.8.7 While decisions as to the admissibility of late, incomplete, or amended 

tenders are under consideration and while re-tenders are being obtained, 
the tender documents shall remain strictly confidential and kept in 
safekeeping by an officer designated by the Director of Finance. 

 
7.8.8 Where only one tender/quotation is received the Director of Procurement 

/nominated officer (within delegated limits) shall, as far as practicable, ensure 
that the price to be paid is fair and reasonable. 

 
7.8.9 All tenders shall be evaluated on the basis of MEAT (Most Economically 

Advantageous Tender) and in conjunction with published Award Criteria 
and Weightings. 

 



Page 26 of 62  

7.8.10 Where the form of contract includes a fluctuation clause all applications 
for price variations must be submitted in writing by the tenderer and shall 
be approved by the MD or nominated officer (within 7.10 below). 

 
7.8.11 All tenders should be treated as confidential and should be retained for 

inspection. 
 

7.9 Extensions to Contract 
 

7.9.1 In all cases where optional extensions to contract are outlined at the time 
of tendering, the authority to approve contract extensions is given to the 
Director of Finance up to the value of the original contract (including 
formally agreed variations). 

 
7.10 Quotation & Tendering Procedures 

 
7.10.1 Unless permitted, competitive quotations/tenders will be sought for all 

contracts according to the financial limits specified in SFI 7.2 and will 
involve procurement department in line with Table 2. 
 

7.10.2 Tender documents will be issued by procurement on behalf of WHC. 
Procurement will arrange for them to be opened in accordance with the 
SFIs of WHC. 

 
7.10.3 No tender shall be considered which bears any mark or name indicating 

the sender. 

 
7.10.4 Where the total contract value exceeds £25,000 WHC has a legal 

obligation to ensure that they advertise through the appropriate portal in 
line with Public Contracts Regulations and must subsequently ensure the 
respective award is also published. 

 
7.10.5 Where the total contract value exceeds the Public Contracts Regulations 

Thresholds then WHC is committed to conducting a legally compliant 
procurement process in line with the Public Contracts Regulations. 

 
7.10.6 Where appropriate, medicines will be procured at optimal cost and will be 

of a suitable quality, e.g. to British Pharmacopoeia standard. Drugs will be 
purchased at or below NHS contract prices (with explanations where this 
is not possible).   

 
7.10.7 The values listed also apply to disposals (SFI 14). All other Financial 

Limits are detailed at SFI 7.2 
 

7.10.8 Where there is a wide discrepancy between the estimate and / or 
approved funding and the final total tendered cost involving an increase in 
expenditure this is to be reported to the Director of Finance for further 
instructions. 

 
7.10.9 The number of firms to be invited to tender for a particular contract shall 

be in accordance with the financial limits specified in SFI 7.2. 
 

7.10.10 Quotation/tenders will be completed accordance with these SFIs. 
 

7.10.11 Adjudication must be made in accordance with SFI 7.8 recommendation 
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report shall be prepared by procurement for approval or to seek 
authorisation, according to delegated limits. 

 
7.10.12 Acceptance of the tender/quotation must comply with the financial limits 

set out in SFI 7.2). 
 

7.10.13 All contract documentation must be finalised promptly (ideally prior to the 
commencement of the contract) after the award of contact. 

 
7.10.14 The waiving of variation of competitive tendering/quotation procedures 

shall be reported to the Audit Committee regularly. 
 

7.10.15 A flow chart outlining the legally compliant competitive tendering process 
and contract requirements is outlined at Annex 2. 

 
7.11 Quotation & Tendering Procedures Summary – Contracts 

 
7.11.1 Competitive quotation/tenders will be obtained for all items according to 

the financial limits specified in SFI 7.2. 
 

7.11.2 No Pre Qualifications stages should be conducted in accordance with 
Public Contract Regulations 

 
7.11.3 Where goods, services, disposals and/or capital works are to be supplied 

over a period of time, the values listed must be taken as the value of the 
contract, not the annual value and should not seek to circumvent public 
sector procurement regulations. Signed Contracts will be required for all 
Single Tender Action waivers over £25,000. 

 
7.11.4 Quotations/ tenders shall be invited for all purchases over a period of time 

in line with Table 2 in specified in SFI 7.2. 
 

7.11.5 Quotations/ tenders will be issued in accordance with these SFI’s and 
shall incorporate standard NHS Terms and Conditions of Contract. 

 
7.11.6 After tenders/quotations have been opened, procurement will arrange for 

adjudication of the tenders/quotations. Adjudication must be made in 
accordance with SFI 7.8. 

 
7.11.7 A Recommendation Report prepared by the Procurement Team should be 

submitted for approval or to seek authorisation as per Table 2 in SFI 7.3 
according to delegated limits. 

 
7.11.8 All waiving of variation of competitive tendering/quotation procedures shall 

be reported to the Audit Committee on a six monthly basis highlighting all 
waivers over £10,000 in line with STA’s approved by the Director of 
Finance. 

 
7.11.9 All competitive quotations/tenders should come through the e-tendering 

portal to ensure compliance and published in line with Public Contracts 
Regulations. 

 
7.11.10 All WHC quotation/tenders or waivers over £25,000 in value must result in 

a signed contract between the supplier and WHC under agreed terms and 
conditions, clear specifications and KPI’s where appropriate. These will be 
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retained through the WHC Procurement Portal. Any exceptions to this are 
at the discretion of the Director of Finance. 

 
7.12 Waiving or Variation of Competitive Tendering/Quotation Procedure 

 
7.12.1 Signed Contracts will be required for all Single Tender Action waivers over 

£25,000. 
 

7.12.2 In circumstances after market engagement has been conducted, where 
the specified number of quotations/tenders cannot be obtained (e.g. where 
there are a limited number of suppliers), the reasons for receiving a lower 
number of quotations/tenders must be recorded in the recommendation 
report and in this event a waiver/ STA will not be required. 
 

7.12.3 Formal competition need not be applied (and therefore a waiver is not 
required) where: 
 
a. The estimated expenditure does not, or is not reasonably expected   

to, exceed the Contract value set out in SFI 7.2 Table 2 

 
b. The supply is proposed under special arrangements negotiated by the 

Department of Health, which WHC is required by the Independent 
Regulator to comply with 

 
c. The requirement is covered by an existing contract and the additional 

expenditure does not either constitute a material difference (e.g./ change 
of scope, or increase in value of 20% of more), or result in a shift in the 
economic balance of the contract in favour of the contractor 

 
d. The expenditure relates to agency pay however internal governance and 

authorisation will apply 

 
e. National public sector or NHS agreements including NHS Supply Chain 

are in place and have been approved by the Department of Health 
 

f. A direct award to a supplier on a national or regional framework is 
permissible and recommended according to the rules of the 
framework. On these occasions a recommendation report will require 
authorisation in accordance with SFI 7.3 Table 2. WHC will be required 
to demonstrate in the report, with supporting evidence, that a direct 
award offers value for money and is in the best interests of WHC 

 
g. The requirement is to attend a seminar, conference or similar unique 

event 

 
h. A consortium arrangement is in place and a lead organisation has been 

appointed to carry out tendering activity on behalf of the consortium 
members 

 
i. A commissioning body is market testing the whole business to ensure 
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value for money and WHC requires a partner or subcontractor to 
respond to the invitation to tender. The selection of the partner by 
WHC need not be separately competed 

 
j. The requirement is for the securing of a named individual on a temporary 

basis to fulfil a role and where substitution of another resource is not 
acceptable. In this case this does not constitute procurement but the 
nominated Officer must still ensure value for money. 
 

8.  CONTRACTS FOR THE PROVISION OF SERVICES 
 

8.1 Service Contracts 
 

8.1.1 The WHC Operating Board shall regularly review and shall at all times 
maintain and ensure the capacity and capability of WHC to provide the 
mandatory goods and services referred to in its Terms of Authorisation 
and related schedules. 

 
8.1.2 The Managing Director, is responsible for ensuring WHC enters into 

suitable Service Contracts with NHS England/Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and other commissioners for the provision of services and for 
considering the extent to which any NHS Standard Contracts issued by 
the NHS England (NHSE) or NHS Improvement are mandatory for 
Service Contracts. 

 
8.1.3 Where WHC enters into a relationship with another organisation for the 

supply or receipt of other services, clinical or non-clinical, the responsible 
officer should ensure that an appropriate contract is present and signed by 
both parties. 

 
8.1.4 All Service Contracts and other contracts shall be legally binding, shall 

comply with best costing practice and shall be devised so as to manage 
contractual risk, in so far as is reasonably achievable in the circumstances 
of each contract, whilst optimising WHC’s  opportunity  to  generate 
income for the benefit of WHC and its service users. 

 
8.1.5 In discharging this responsibility, the MD should take into account: 

(a) Costing and pricing and the activity / volume of services planned; 

(b) The standards of service quality expected; 

(c) The relevant national service framework (if any); 

(d) Payment terms and conditions; 

(e) Amendments to contracts and non-contractual arrangements; and 

(f) Any other matters relating to contracts of a legal or non-financial 
nature. 

 
 

8.1.6 Any local changes in the counting and coding of patient activity will need to be 
notified to the Director of Finance prior to implementation where it will have a 
financial implication. 

 
8.1.7 The Director of Finance shall produce regular reports detailing actual and forecast 
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income. 
 

8.1.8 The Director of Finance shall oversee and approve cash flow forecasts, 
including figures relating to the collection of all income due under the 
contracts. 

 
8.1.9 The authorisation limits for signing service contracts are set out in Annex 3. 

 
8.2 Involving Partners and Jointly Managing Risk 

 
8.2.1 A good contract will result from a dialogue of clinicians, users, carers, public 

health professionals and managers. It will reflect knowledge of local needs 
and inequalities. This will require the MD to ensure that WHC works with all 
partner agencies involved in both the delivery and the commissioning of the 
service required. The contract will apportion responsibility for handling a 
particular risk to the party or parties in the best position to influence the risk 
in question and financial arrangements should reflect this. In this way WHC 
can jointly manage risk with all interested parties. 

 
8.3 Tendering (where WHC is a competing body) 

 
8.3.1 Where WHC participates in a tendering exercise (whether in competition 

with others or not) for a health related service, approval must be sought 
according to the delegated authority limits. 

 
8.3.2 Delegated authority limits associated with tendering: 

 
 MD  Operating 

Board 
Members 
Unanimous 
Agreement 

Decision to Bid or 
not to 

   

Bid for tendering 
opportunity closely 
related to the core 
purpose of WHC or 
Bid sign- 

   

off prior to    

Submission    

Total annual value 
range 

£0-£500,000 £500,001-
£2,650,601 

>£2,650,651 

    
 

8.3.3 No tender must be submitted without sign-off from the relevant authority. For 
absolute clarity, no WHC employee should sign a tender or contract unless 
they have authority and the total contract value is within the above 
Financial limits. All tender decisions will be reported to the Executive 
Committee for noting. 

 
9. TERMS OF SERVICE AND PAYMENT OF BOARD DIRECTORS 

AND EMPLOYEES 
 

9.1 Remuneration Committee 
 

9.1.1 The WHC Operating Board shall establish a Remuneration Committee, 
with clearly defined terms of reference specifying which posts fall within 
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its area of responsibility, its composition and its reporting arrangements. 
 

9.1.2 Any WHC Operating Board posts will be subject to the requirements of 
the Fit and Proper Persons Test which is administered by the Corporate 
Officer, and conveyed to Human Resources. The Company Secretary 
is responsible for keeping the list of applicable posts up to date. 

 
9.1.3 Appointments to posts with remuneration above the salary of the Prime 

Minister (currently circa £150k) must be referred to NHS 
England/Improvement and onward ratification by the Secretary of State. 

 
9.2 Staff Appointments, Terminations and changes 

 
9.2.1 An Employee or Director to whom a staff budget or part of a staff budget is 

delegated may engage employees, or hire agency staff subject to 
internal approval processes and any approval that may be required by 
the Executive Committee and provided the post is within the limit of their 
approved budget and affordable staffing limit. They may also regrade 
employees after consultation with the HR Business Partner and job 
evaluation has taken place in accordance with WHC policy/ NHS 
Employers Guidance and subject to the approval of the relevant 
Executive Lead and either the Managing Director or Director of Finance. 

 
9.2.2 WHC’s primary mechanism of engagement is for workers to be placed on 

payroll either through permanent employment or fixed term contracts. 
Where a requirement for temporary resourcing appears (or a specific short 
term skills shortage) alternative forms of resourcing may be used including 
Bank and Agency. The use of bank must be in line with WHC’s procedures 
for booking temporary staff. Agency bookings should be in line with WHC 
procedures, ensuring required sign off is obtained and that NHS and Tax 
regulation are complied with. Any off payroll engagements must be 
approved by the Director of Finance prior to contract signature. 

 
9.2.3 Each employee shall be issued with a contract of employment by the HR 

Department which shall comply with current employment legislation. A copy 
of the signed contract shall be submitted to the Director of Finance at the 
earliest opportunity. 

 
9.2.4 All agency staff engaged should be via an approved framework agency and 

through WHC’s agreed supplier. Any individuals directly engaged, who sit 
outside of these 2 categories, should have a suitable contractual agreement 
in place. 

 
9.2.5 Any appointments should follow the WHC Recruitment and Selection 

Policy found on the intranet. 
 

9.2.6 A "Leaver " form and such other documents as the Director of Finance may 
require, shall be completed and forwarded to the payroll department 
immediately upon the date of; an employee’s resignation, retirement, or 
termination, being known. Where an employee fails to report for duty in 
circumstances which suggest they have left without notice, the Payroll 
Manager shall be informed immediately. 

 
9.2.7 Changes forms covering an Employee’s Personal Details i.e. Name, Address 

or Job Details shall be completed and forwarded to the payroll department 
immediately upon the Manager becoming aware of the change. 
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9.2.8 As a general principle WHC will seek to avoid the requirement to make 

staff redundant. WHC will therefore always seek to redeploy staff where 
appropriate. 

9.2.9 In the event that redundancy cannot be avoided WHC shall follow the 
processes as laid out in its Organisational Change Policy. 

 
9.2.10 WHC must seek approval from NHS Improvement before commissioning 

Management Consultants above a cap of £50k. 
 

9.3 Processing Payroll 
 

9.3.1 The Director of Finance shall be responsible for the final determination of 
monetary pay, (including the verification that the rate of pay and relevant 
conditions of service are in accordance with WHC employment contracts), 
the proper compilation of the payroll and for payments made. No monetary 
payment may be made to staff other than that paid through the payroll 
system without the explicit approval of the Director of Finance. 
 

9.3.2 All pay sheets, and other pay records including travel expense claim forms 
supported by vouchers/receipts where appropriate, shall be in a form 
approved by the Director of Finance (manual or electronic) and shall be 
certified and submitted in accordance with his/her instructions. 

 
9.3.3 The Director of Finance shall determine the dates on which salaries and 

wages shall be paid. 
 

9.3.4 All employees shall be paid by bank credit transfer, unless in exceptional 
circumstances agreed otherwise by the Director of Finance. 

 
9.3.5 Payment shall not be made in advance of the pay dates determined as in 

9.3.3 above except where prior approval has been obtained from the MD, 
Director of Finance (or duly appointed representative) or the Director of 
Quality, Professions and Workforce (Director of Quality, Professions, & 
Workforce). In such cases the payment shall be limited to the estimated net 
pay due at the time of payment. 

 
9.3.6 Where WHC HR Policies so allow, loans may be made to staff and 

recovered in accordance with arrangements that the Director of Finance 
and Director of Quality, Professions & Workforce shall determine jointly. 

 
9.3.7 The Director of Finance shall ensure adequate internal controls and audit 

review procedures are in place, and that suitable arrangements are made for 
the collection of payroll deductions and payment of these to appropriate 
bodies. 

 
9.3.8 Managers and employees are jointly responsible and accountable for 

ensuring claims for pay and expenses are timely, correct and any under or 
over payments are highlighted as soon as discovered. The process and 
procedures related to pay related claims and under/ overpayments is 
contained in WHC’s Pay policy. This policy sets out that pay claims in 
excess of normal contractual hours will only be paid within 3 months of the 
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extra shift/ hours. Any claims over 3 months old will need to be approved by 
the Director of Finance. 

 
10. NON-PAY EXPENDITURE 

 
10.1 Delegation of Authority and Service Development Business Cases 

 
10.1.1 The WHC Operating Board will approve the level of non-pay expenditure 

on an annual basis and the Director of Finance will determine the level of 
delegation to budget managers. 

 
 

10.2 Requisitioning and Ordering Goods and Services 
 

10.2.1 The Director of Finance will set out: 

a) The list of managers who are authorised to place requisitions for the 
supply of goods and services; and 

b) The maximum level of each requisition and the system for 
authorisation above that level. Authorisation limits are specified at 
Annex 1. 

 

10.3 Choice, Requisitioning, Ordering, Receipt and Payment for Goods and 
Services 

 
10.3.1 The requisitioner, in choosing the item to be supplied (or the service to be 

performed) shall always obtain the best value for money for WHC. In so 
doing, the advice of Procurement shall be sought. Where this advice is not 
acceptable to the requisitioner, the Director of Finance shall be consulted. 

 
10.3.2 Once the item to be supplied (or service to be performed) has been 

identified the requisitioner should raise a requisition. Only for credit card 
purchases made in line with the agreed policy (10.3.6.e)) and agreed 
goods and services (i.e. agency staff and utilities) should a good or service 
be obtained without a purchase order. 

 
10.3.3 The Director of Finance shall be responsible for the prompt payment of 

accounts and claims. Payment of contract invoices shall be in accordance 
with contract terms, or otherwise, in accordance with national guidance. 

 
10.3.4 The Director of Finance will: 

a) Prepare procedural instructions (where not already provided in the 
Scheme of Delegation or procedure notes for budget managers) on the 
obtaining of goods, works and services incorporating these thresholds; 

b) Be responsible for designing and maintaining a system of verification, 
recording and payment of all amounts payable. The system shall 
provide for: 

i) Authorisation: 
- a list of Directors and Employees authorised to authorise 

invoices and that the expenditure has been authorised by 
the officer responsible for the contract or budget which is to 
be charged 

ii) Certification: 
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- Goods have been duly received, examined and are in 
accordance with specification and the prices are correct. 
Certification of accounts may either be through a goods 
received note or by personal certification by authorised 
officers; 

- Work done or services rendered have been satisfactorily 
carried out in accordance with the order, and, where 
applicable, the materials used are of the requisite standard 
and the charges are correct; 

- In the case of contracts based on the measurement of time, 
materials or expenses, the time charged is in accordance 
with the time sheets, the rates of labour are in accordance 
with the appropriate rates, the materials have been checked 
as regards quantity, quality, and price and the charges for 
the use of vehicles, plant and machinery have been 
examined and are reasonable; 

- Where appropriate, the expenditure is in accordance with 
regulations and all necessary authorisations have been 
obtained; 

- where an officer certifying accounts relies upon other 
officers to do preliminary checking he/she shall, wherever 
possible, ensure that those who check delivery or execution 
of work act independently of those who have placed orders 
and negotiated prices and terms and that such checks are 
evidenced; 

- In the case of contract for building and engineering works 
which require payment to be made on account during 
process of the works the Director of Finance shall make 
payment on receipt of a certificate from the appropriate 
technical consultant or authorised officer. Without prejudice 
to the responsibility of any consultant, or authorised officer 
appointed to a particular building or engineering contract, a 
contractors account shall be subjected to such financial 
examination by the Director of Finance and such general 
examination by the authorised officer as may be 
considered necessary, before the person responsible to 
WHC for the contract issues the final certificate; 

 
iii) Payments and Creditors: 

- a timetable and system for submission to the Director of 
Finance of accounts for payment; provision shall be made 
for the early submission of accounts subject to cash 
discounts or otherwise requiring early payment. 

 
iv) Financial Procedures: 

- Instructions to employees regarding the handling and 
payment of accounts within the Finance Department; 

c) Be responsible for ensuring that payment for goods and services is 
only made once the goods and services are received (except as 
below). 
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10.3.5 Prepayments are only permitted where the financial advantages outweigh 
the disadvantages in such instances: 

a) The appropriate Director must provide, in the form of a written report, a 
case setting out all relevant circumstances of the purchase. The report 
must set out the effects on WHC if the supplier is at some time during 
the course of the prepayment agreement unable to meet his/her 
commitments; 

b) The supplier is of sufficient financial status or able to offer a suitable 
financial instrument to protect against the risk of insolvency; 

c) There are adequate administrative procedures to ensure that where 
payments in advance are made the goods or services are received or 
refunds obtained; 

d) The Director of Finance must approve the proposed 
arrangements before those arrangements are contracted; and 

e) The Budget Manager is responsible for ensuring that all items due 
under a prepayment contract are received and must immediately 
inform the appropriate Director if problems are encountered. 

 
10.3.6 Managers must ensure that they comply fully with the guidance and limits 

specified by the Director of Finance and that: 

a) All contracts (other than for simple purchase permitted within the 
Scheme of Delegation or delegated budget), leases, tenancy 
agreements and other commitments which may result in a liability are 
notified to the Director of Finance in advance of any commitment 
being made; 

b) No requisition/order is placed for any item or items for which there is 
no budget provision unless authorised by the Director of Finance on 
behalf of the MD; 

c) Changes to the list of Directors and Employees authorised to certify 
invoices are in accordance with the scheme approved by the 
Operating Board; 

d) Contracts above specified thresholds are advertised and awarded in 
accordance with EU and GATT rules on public procurement; and 

e) In certain circumstances, where regular transactions are made for items 
such as travel, course and accommodation bookings and one off 
purchases, a WHC purchasing card can be an alternative means of 
procurement. All purchase card holders are required to follow WHC 
purchasing card procedure and complete the credit card request form 
within Unit 4. 

 
10.4 Value Added Tax 

 
10.4.1 Payment and recovery of VAT is the responsibility of the Director of Finance 

who will ensure that procedures and systems are in place in line with 
HMRC requirements. 

 
10.4.2 Where managers are unsure of the VAT status of any particular 

transaction advice will be provided from the Finance Department. 
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11. EXTERNAL BORROWING AND CASH INVESTMENTS  
 

11.1 External Borrowing 
 

11.1.1 WHC may only borrow money for the purposes of, or in connection with, its 
strategic objectives and its operational functions, where this is 
unanimously agreed by the Members in line with Members Agreement 
(Schedule 4, Part 1). 

 
11.1.2 Any application for a loan or overdraft facility must be approved by the 

Operating Board and will only be made by the Director of Finance or a 
person with specific delegated powers from the Director of Finance. Use of 
such loans or overdraft facilities must be approved by the Director of 
Finance. 

 
11.1.3 All short term borrowings should be kept to the minimum period of time 

possible, consistent with the overall cash position. Any short term borrowing 
requirement in excess of one month must be authorised by the Director of 
Finance. 

 
11.1.4 All long-term borrowing must be consistent with the plans outlined in the 

current WHC Strategic Plan approved by the Members Board. 
 

11.2 Investments 
 

11.2.1 WHC may invest money for the purposes of its strategic objectives and 
operational functions. 

 
11.2.2 Investment of cash on a short or long term basis shall be in accordance with 

WHC’s Treasury Management Policy as approved from time to time by the 
Audit Committee. The Director of Finance shall compile and regularly 
review WHC’s Treasury Management Policy and advise the Audit 
Committee of any necessary changes. 

 
11.2.3 Temporary cash surpluses must be held only in investments permitted by 

and meeting the criteria approved by the Treasury Management Policy. The 
Treasury Management Policy will be refreshed and approved by the Audit 
Committee on an annual basis. 

 
11.2.4 The Director of Finance is responsible for advising the WHC Operating 

Board on investments and shall periodically report the performance of all 
investments held, to the Audit Committee. 

 

11.2.5 The Director of Finance (or a senior finance manager with specific delegated 
powers from the Director of Finance) will authorise all investment 
transactions and ensure compliance with the Treasury Management Policy 
at all times, with no investment made which would be outside the laid-down 
parameters for investment risk management in the policy. All investments 
are subject to periodic review and monitoring by the Audit Committee. 

 
 

12. CAPITAL INVESTMENT, PRIVATE FINANCING, FIXED 
ASSET REGISTERS AND SECURITY OF ASSETS  

 
12.1 Capital Investment 
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12.1.1 The Director of Finance will ensure that there is an adequate appraisal and 

approval process in place for determining capital expenditure priorities and the 
effect of each proposal upon WHC’s Business Planning process. 

 
12.1.2 The Executive Committee will oversee the development and monitoring of an annual 

capital plan, including any changes to the plan as necessary in year. The WHC 
Operating Board will approve the annual capital plan. 

 
12.1.3 The Director of Finance shall establish systems to ensure that approved capital 

schemes are progressed effectively and that budgets, phasing and cash flows are 
properly monitored. 

 
12.1.4 The financial performance of the Capital Programme shall be reported to the WHC 

Operating Board on a monthly basis with fuller details of the larger schemes on a 
quarterly basis. 

 
12.2 Approval of Capital Business Cases 

 

12.2.1  Approval of Capital Business Cases will be as follows:  
 

 
Table 4 
Capital Plan Capital for new schemes 

(not in Capital Plan), or 
changes to the Capital 
Plan 

Forum 

N/A < £500,000 Managing Director (who will 
discharge this responsibility 
through the Executive 
Committee)  

N/A > £500,000 Operating Board 

Full capital plan approved by 
WHC Operating Board as 
part of WHC’s Business 
Planning Process. 

  

 
 

12.3 Asset Registers 
 

12.3.1 The Director of Finance is responsible for the maintenance of registers to 
record capital fixed assets. Appropriate adjustments must be made to 
reflect actual WHC assets currently in use. All items over £5,000 must be 
recorded on the Fixed Asset Register. 

 
12.3.2 Approval of acquisition and disposal of fixed assets must be in line with 

scheme of delegation (Appendix 3, 4.0) 
 

12.3.3 The Director of Finance shall prepare procedural instructions on the disposal of assets. 
 

12.3.4 Additions to the fixed asset register must be clearly identified to an 
appropriate budget holder and be validated by reference to: 

a) Properly authorised and approved agreements, architect’s certificates, 
supplier’s invoices and other documentary evidence in respect of 
purchases from third parties; 
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b) Stores, requisitions and wages records for own materials and labour 
including appropriate overheads. 

 
12.3.5 Where capital assets are sold, scrapped, lost or otherwise disposed of, their 

value must be removed from the accounting records and each disposal must 
be validated by reference to authorisation documents and invoices (where 
appropriate). 

 
12.3.6 The Director of Finance shall approve procedures for reconciling balances 

on fixed assets accounts in the general ledger against balances on the 
fixed asset register. 

 
12.3.7 The value of each asset shall generally be depreciated using appropriate 

methods and rates in line with accounting standards. 

 

12.4 Security of Assets 
 

12.4.1 The overall control of fixed assets is the responsibility of the MD. 
 

12.4.2 Asset control procedures (including fixed assets, cash, cheques and 
negotiable instruments, including donated assets) must be approved by the 
Director of Finance. This procedure shall make provision for: 

a) Recording managerial responsibility for each asset; 

b) Identification of additions and disposals; 

c) Identification of all repairs and maintenance expenses; 

d) Physical security of assets; 

e) Periodic verification of the existence of, condition of, and title to, 
assets recorded; 

f) Identification and reporting of all costs associated with the retention of 
an asset; and 

g) Reporting, recording and safekeeping of cash, cheques, and 
negotiable instruments. 

 
12.4.3 The Director of Finance shall approve procedures for reconciling balances 

on fixed assets accounts in the general ledger against balances on the 
fixed asset register. 

 
12.4.4 All discrepancies revealed by verification of physical assets to the fixed asset 

register shall be notified to the appropriate manager who shall inform the 
Director of Finance who shall decide what further action shall be taken. 

 
12.4.5 Whilst each employee has a responsibility for the security of property of 

WHC, it is the responsibility of Directors and senior employees in all 
disciplines to apply such appropriate routine security practices in relation to 
NHS property as may be determined by the WHC Operating Board. Any 
breach of agreed security practices must be reported. 

 
12.4.6 Any damage to WHC’s premises, vehicles and equipment, or any loss of 

equipment, stores or supplies must be reported by Directors and Employees 
in accordance with the procedure for reporting losses and the requirements 
of insurance arrangements. 
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12.4.7 Whenever practicable, assets should be marked as WHC property. 
 

12.4.8 Inventories shall also be maintained and receipts obtained for Equipment on 
loan. 

 

12.5 Property (Land and Buildings)  
 

12.5.1 Significant changes relating to WHC’s Estate must receive the prior 
approval of the Executive Committee. Significant changes in this 
context should be taken to mean a change involving one of:  

 
i. a whole ward 
ii. a section of a building greater than one room 
iii. vacating a building;  
iv. occupying and new building; or  
v. anything else deemed significant by the Executive 

Committee from time to time.   
 

12.5.2 The following matters related to property must be approved by the WHC 
Operating Board: 
 

a) Committing the LLP to terms of occupation in a property where the 
total annual value of the agreement is over £200,000 (excluding VAT) 
by means of a lease, license, or any other formal terms of occupation 
(e.g. a memorandum of terms of occupation) 
 
Where appropriate the WHC Operating Board should take into 
account the findings of an independent valuation.  
 

12.5.3 The following matters related to property may be approved by the 
Managing Director where they fall within the WHC Operating Board’s 
approved Estates principles: 

 
a) Committing the LLP to terms of occupation in a property where the 

total annual value of the agreement is up to and including £200,000 
(excluding VAT) by means of a lease, license, or any other formal 
terms of occupation (e.g. a memorandum of terms of occupation) 

 
12.5.4 The complexity of any property reports to the WHC Operating Board 

should be determined by the materiality of the consideration or lease 
payments and any contentious issues, and must contain: 

a) Details of the consideration or lease payments; 

b) Details of the period of the lease; 

c) Details of the required accounting treatment; 

d) Annual running costs of the property; 

e) Funding sources within WHC of both capital and revenue aspects of 
the acquisition; 

f) The results of property and ground surveys; 

g) Professional advice taken and the resultant cost; 

h) Details of any legal agreement entered into; 

i) Any restrictive covenants that exist on the property; and 
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j) Planning permission. 
 
 

12.5.5 The contracts to acquire the property must be signed by two Executive 
Directors, one of whom should be the MD. 

 
12.5.6 Appointment of professional advisors must be in line with the separate 

procedures for the appointment of advisors. 
 

12.5.7 WHC Operating Board approval must be obtained for the disposal of any 
property over £100,000 (excluding VAT) which is recorded on the balance 
sheet of WHC. A business case must be presented to WHC which must 
include: 

a) The proceeds to be received; 

b) Any warrants or guarantees being given; and 

c) Independent valuations obtained. 
 
 

12.5.8 The disposal must be effected in full accord with Estate code. 
 

 
12.5.9 The granting of property leases by WHC must have prior Operating Board 

approval where the annual value of the lease is in excess of £200,000 
(excluding VAT).  

 
13. INVENTORY AND RECEIPT OF GOODS 

 
13.1 Inventory Stores and Inventory 

 
13.1.1 Inventory Stores, defined in terms of controlled stores and department 

stores (for immediate use) and stock held by WHC should be kept to a 
minimum subjected to at least an annual stock take valued at the lower of 
cost and net reliable value. Inventory shall be controlled on a First in First 
out (FIFO) basis wherever possible; cost shall be ascertained on either this 
basis or on the basis of average purchase price. The cost of inventory shall 
be the purchase price without any overheads, but including value added tax 
where this cannot be reclaimed on purchase. 

 
13.1.2 Subject to the responsibility of the Director of Finance for the systems of 

control, overall responsibility for the control of Inventory Stores and 
Inventory shall be the responsibility of the Director of Finance. The day-
to-day responsibility may be delegated by him/her to departmental officers 
and stores keepers, subject to such delegation being entered in a record 
available to the Director of Finance. The control of pharmaceutical stocks 
shall be the responsibility of the Lead Medicines Optimisation Pharmacist 
and Medication Safety Officer. 

 
13.1.3 The responsibility for security arrangements and the custody of keys for all 

Inventory Stores and locations shall be clearly defined in writing wherever 
practicable; stocks should be marked as Health Service property. 

 
13.1.4 The Director of Finance, in conjunction  with  WHC’s procurement advisors  

and materials management team (as per SLA), shall set out procedures  and  
systems  to  regulate  the  Inventory stores and the inventory contained 
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therein, including records for receipt of goods, issues, and returns to 
suppliers, and losses and specify all goods received shall be checked as 
regards quantity and/or weight and inspected as to quality and specification; 
a delivery note shall be obtained from the supplier at the time of delivery and 
shall be signed by the person receiving the goods; all goods received shall 
be entered onto an appropriate goods received/inventory record (whether a 
computer or manual system) on the day of receipt: 

a) If goods received are unsatisfactory the records shall be marked 
accordingly. Where goods received are seen to be unsatisfactory, or 
short on delivery, they shall only be accepted on the authority of a 
designated officer and the supplier shall be notified immediately; 

b) Where appropriate the issue of stocks shall be supported by an 
authorised requisition note and a receipt for the stock issued shall be 
returned to the designated officer independent of the storekeeper. 

 
13.1.5 Stocktaking arrangements shall be agreed with the Director of Finance and shall 

specify: 

a) The procedures of system for the control of consignment stock will be 
defined in the Consignment Inventory Policy; 

b) That there shall be a physical check covering all items in store at least 
once a year; 

c) The physical check shall involve at least one officer other than the 
storekeeper, and a member of staff from the Finance Department shall 
be invited to attend; 

d) The stocktaking records shall be numerically controlled and signed by 
the officers undertaking the check; 

e) Any surplus or deficiencies revealed on stocktaking shall be reported 
in accordance with the procedure set out by the Director of Finance. 

 
13.1.6 Where a complete system of inventory control is not justified, alternative 

arrangements shall require the approval of the Director of Finance. 
 

13.1.7 The Managers of designated areas supported by the materials 
management team (where applicable) shall be responsible for a system 
approved by the Director of Finance for a review of slow moving and 
obsolete items and for condemnation, disposal, and replacement of all 
unserviceable articles. Any evidence of significant overstocking and of any 
negligence or malpractice shall be reported to the Director of Finance (see 
also SFI 14, Disposals, Condemnations, Losses and Special Payments). 
Procedures for the disposal of obsolete stock shall follow the procedures 
set out for disposal of all surplus and obsolete goods. 

 
13.1.8 Breakages and other losses of goods in stock shall be recorded as they 

occur. Tolerance limits shall be established for all stocks subject to 
unavoidable loss, e.g. natural deterioration of certain goods (see also SFI 
14, Disposals, Condemnations, Losses and Special Payments). 

 
13.1.9 Inventory that has deteriorated, or are not usable for any other reason for 

their intended purposes, or may become obsolete, shall be written down to 
their net reliable value. The write down shall be approved by the Director of 
Finance and recorded. 

 
13.1.10 It is a duty of officers responsible for the custody and control of inventory to 
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notify all losses, including those due to theft, fraud and arson, in 
accordance with SFI 14. 

 
14. DISPOSALS AND CONDEMNATIONS, LOSSES AND SPECIAL 

PAYMENTS 
 

14.1 Disposals and Condemnations (see also WHC Disposals Policy) 
 

14.1.1 The Director of Finance shall prepare detailed procedures for the 
disposal of assets including capital assets and condemnations. 

 
14.1.2 When it is decided to dispose of a WHC asset, the Head of Department or 

authorised deputy will: 

a) Establish whether it is needed elsewhere in WHC; 

b) Determine and advise the Finance Department of the estimated 
market value of the item, taking account of professional advice or the 
assistance of the Procurement department where appropriate. The 
highest possible disposal value will be realised, taking into account 
potential risks and reputational impacts. 

14.1.3 All unserviceable articles shall be: 

a) Condemned or otherwise disposed of by an employee authorised for 
that purpose by the Director of Finance; 

b) Recorded by the condemning officer in a form approved by the 
Director of Finance which will indicate whether the articles are to be 
converted, destroyed or otherwise disposed of. All entries shall be 
confirmed by the countersignature of a second employee authorised 
for the purpose by the Director of Finance. 

 
14.1.4 The condemning officer shall satisfy him/herself as to whether or not there is 

evidence of negligence in use and shall report any such evidence to the 
Director of Finance, who will take the appropriate action. 

 
14.1.5 Disposals of assets must be approved by the MD. 

 
14.2 Losses and Special Payments Procedures 

 
14.2.1 The Director of Finance must prepare procedural instructions on the 

recording of and accounting for condemnations, losses and special 
payments and prepare a register. 

 
14.2.2 The Director of Finance must also prepare a ‘fraud response plan’ that sets 

out the action to be taken both by persons detecting a suspected fraud and 
those persons responsible for investigating it. (See the WHC’s Counter 
Fraud and Corruption Policy). 

 
14.2.3 Any employee discovering or suspecting a loss of any kind must 

immediately act according to WHC’s Counter Fraud and Corruption 
Policy. 

 
14.2.4 The Director of Finance is responsible for monitoring compliance with the 

Directions of the Secretary of State and with any other instructions issued 
by NHS Counter Fraud Authority. 

 
14.2.5 The Service Manager shall inform the Director of Finance of all other losses 
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or recoveries of previous reported losses so that they can be entered in the 
losses and special payments register. 

 
14.2.6 For losses apparently caused by theft, arson, neglect of duty or gross 

carelessness, except if trivial, the Director of Finance shall inform the MD 
in cases where the loss may be material or where the incident may lead 
to adverse publicity. 

 
14.2.7 The Director of Finance shall be authorised to take any necessary steps to 

safeguard WHC’s interests in bankruptcies and company liquidations. 
 

14.2.8 For any loss, the Director of Finance should consider whether any 
insurance claim can be made against insurers. 

 
14.2.9 All losses and special payments (other than compensation payments) shall 

be recorded without delay in WHC’s Losses Register, to be maintained by 
the Director of Finance and investigated in such a manner as the Director 
of Finance may require. Write-off action shall be recorded against each 
entry in the register. 

 
 

15. INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

15.1 Computer Systems and Data 
 

15.1.1 The Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), supported by the Head of IT 
and Data Protection Officer,  shall devise and implement any necessary 
procedures to ensure adequate (reasonable) protection of WHC’s data, 
programs and computer hardware so that they are protected from 
accidental or intentional disclosure to unauthorised persons, deletion or 
modification, theft or damage, having due regard for the Data Protection Act 
2018 and other relevant data privacy legislation ;ensure that adequate 
(reasonable) controls exist over data entry, processing, storage, 
transmission and output to ensure security, privacy, accuracy, 
completeness, and timeliness of the data, as well as the efficient and 
effective operation of the system ensure that adequate controls exist such 
that the computer operation is separated from development, maintenance 
and amendment ensure that an adequate management (audit) trail exists 
through the computerised system and that such computer audit reviews as 
he/she may consider necessary are being carried out ensure procedures 
are in place to limit the risk of, and recover promptly from, interruptions to 
computer operations. 

 
15.1.2 The Director of Finance shall be satisfied that new financial systems and 

amendments to current financial systems are developed in a controlled 
manner and thoroughly tested prior to implementation. Where this is 
undertaken by another organisation, assurances of adequacy will be 
obtained from them prior to implementation. 

 
15.1.3 The Director of Finance shall ensure that contracts for computer services for 

financial applications with another health organisation or any other agency 
shall clearly define the responsibility of all parties for the security, privacy, 
accuracy, completeness, and timeliness of data during processing, 
transmission and storage. The contract should also ensure rights of access 
for audit purposes. 
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15.1.4 Where another health organisation or any other agency provides a computer 

service for financial applications, the Director of Finance shall periodically 
seek assurances that adequate controls are in operation. 

 
15.1.5 Where computer systems have an impact on corporate financial systems the 

Director of Finance shall be satisfied that: 

a) Systems acquisition, development and maintenance are in line with the 
WHC’s IT Strategy; 

b) Data produced for use with financial systems is adequate, accurate, 
complete and timely, and that a management (audit) trail exists; 

c) Finance staff have access to such data; 

d) Have adequate controls in place; and 

e) Such computer audit reviews as are considered necessary are being 
carried out. 

 

15.1.6 No software package for use on WHC equipment (PCs, laptops, tablets) 
should be purchased without the knowledge of the Head of IT. Any quotes 
to purchase software should therefore be managed through the IT 
department. 

 

No hardware equipment should be connected to the network without the 
approval of the Head of IT. 

 
It will be at the discretion of the Director of Infrastructure whether a case 
requires discussion at EDIT POG.  

 
16. PATIENTS' PROPERTY 

 
16.1 Patients’ Property and Income 

 
16.1.1 The WHC has a responsibility to provide safe custody for money and other 

personal property (hereafter referred to as “property”) handed in by patients, 
in the possession of unconscious or confused patients, or found in the 
possession of patients dying in hospital or dead on arrival. Staff have a duty 
of care to take reasonable care of patients’ possessions, which are not 
handed in for safe keeping, particularly if the patient does not have the 
capacity to look after their own possessions. This includes items of daily 
living such as glasses, false teeth, hearing aids etc. 

 
16.1.2 The MD is responsible for ensuring that patients or their guardians, as 

appropriate, are informed before or at admission, (by notices and 
information booklets, hospital admission documentation and property 
records, and/or the oral advice of administrative and nursing staff 
responsible for admissions), of WHC’s policy that WHC will not accept 
responsibility or liability for patients’ property brought into health service 
premises, subject to the exceptions identified above, unless it is handed in 
for safe custody and a copy of an official patients’ property record is 
obtained as a receipt. Patients electing not to conform to this guidance 
must indemnify WHC against any loss. 

 
16.1.3 The Director of Finance will provide detailed written instructions on the 
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collection, custody, investment, recording, safekeeping, and disposal of 
patients’ property (including instructions on the disposal of the property of 
deceased patients and of patients transferred to other premises) for all staff 
whose duty it is to administer, in any way, the property of patients. Due 
care should be exercised in the management of a patient’s money. 

 
16.1.4 Where Department of Health and Social Care instructions require the 

opening of separate accounts for patients’ monies, these shall be opened 
and operated under arrangements agreed by the Director of Finance. 

 
16.1.5 In all cases where property of a deceased patient is of a total value in excess 

of £5,000 (or such other amount as may be prescribed by any amendment to 
the Administration of Estates, Small Payments, Act 1965), the production of 
Probate or Letters of Administration shall be required before any of the 
property is released. Where the total value of property is 
£5,000 or less, forms of indemnity shall be obtained. 
 

16.1.6 Staff should be informed, on appointment, by the appropriate departmental 
or senior manager of their responsibilities and duties for the administration of 
the property of patients. 

 
16.1.7 Where patients’ property or income is received for specific purposes and 

held for safekeeping, the property or income shall be used only for that 
purpose, unless any variation is approved by the patient or patient’s 
representative as appropriate, in writing. 

 
16.1.8 Patients’ income, including pensions and allowances, shall be dealt with in 

accordance with prevailing instructions and guidance issued by the  
Department of Health and Social Care and Department  for Work and 
Pensions 

 
17. CHARITABLE FUNDS HELD ON TRUST 

 
17.1 Introduction 

 
17.1.1 Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GWH) is legally the ‘Sole 

Corporate Trustee’ of registered charity number 1050892 (the Charity). 
Wiltshire Health and Care is a beneficiary of the Charity by virtue of being 
the provider of community health services in Wiltshire.  
 

17.1.2 GWH is responsible for the management of the funds it holds on trust for 
Wiltshire Health and Care through the Charity 1050892 (WHC’s Charitable 
Funds). For the purposes of these SFIs, the members of the charitable funds 
committee shall be termed “Trustees”. Although the management processes 
of GWH and Wiltshire Health and Care may overlap in relation to approving 
applications for funding, the Trustee’s responsibilities must be discharged 
separately and full recognition must be given to the accountability that GWH 
has to The Charity Commission in relation to the charitable funds held on 
trust for Wiltshire Health and Care.  

 
17.1.3 The overriding principle is that the integrity of each charitable fund held 

for the benefit of Wiltshire Health and Care by the Trustees must be 
maintained and statutory and fund obligations met. Materiality must be 
assessed separately from Exchequer activities and funds. 
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17.1.4 The Director of Finance has primary responsibility to the WHC 
Operating Board for ensuring that these SFIs are applied in respect of 
WHC’s Charitable Funds.  

 
17.2 Administration of Charitable Funds 

 
 

17.2.1 The Director of Finance shall: 

a) Ensure that, via GWH’s charitable funds administrative processes, 
such accounts and records as may be necessary to record and 
protect all transactions and funds allocated to WHC (WHC’s 
Charitable Funds) shall be maintained. These shall be maintained in 
accordance with legislative requirements and any directions from 
The Charity Commission.   

b) Ensure that each fund making up WHC’s Charitable Funds has a 
specific fund objective, and that funds are spent appropriately, timely, 
and in line with the donor wishes;  

c) Provide a regular report and spending plan to the Great 
Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund 
Committee (GWH Charitable Fund Committee);  

 

By seeking appropriate assurance from GWH in relation to WHC’s 
Charitable Funds:  
 

d) Ensure codes of procedure covering the financial management of 
funds held are followed;  

e) Ensure funds are held within designated or restricted accounts in 
accordance with charity law;   

f) Ensure there is periodic review and rationalization of funds 
within statutory guidelines 

g) Recommend additional funds where this is consistent with good 
practice for ensuring the safe and appropriate management of 
restricted/designated funds, in particular ensuring that the new fund 
could not adequately be managed as part of an existing fund;  

h) Ensure that all charitable funds are banked in accordance with 
GWH’s SFI for banking arrangements;  

i) Ensure that income and expenditure totals are tracked by the GWH 
Charitable Fund Committee and noted at their quarterly meetings;  

j) Ensure that GWH Charitable Fund Committee is managing WHC’s 
charitable funds’ income and expenditure with due regard to taxation 
implications;   

k) Ensure that GWH Charitable Fund Committee prepares the 
annual accounts and Trustee’s report in the required format for 
timely submission to their Auditors, and the Charity 
Commission.   

 
 

17.3 Fundraising and Incoming Funds 
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17.3.1 All gifts, donations and proceeds of fund raising activities are the 
responsibility of the Trustees and shall be handed immediately to the GWH 
Charitable Funds Administrator to be banked in WHC’s Charitable Funds 
bank account.   

 
17.3.2 All gifts accepted shall be receipted and held in the name of the Trustees and 

administered in accordance with the Trustees’ policies, subject to the terms of 
specific trusts. As the Trustees can accept gifts only for all or any purposes 
relating to the Health Service, Wiltshire Health and Care managers shall, in 
cases of doubt, or where there are material revenue expenditure implications, 
consult the Director of Finance before accepting gifts.  

 
17.3.3 The Director of Finance shall ensure that the Trustees are advised of 

any proposal for fund-raising activities which may be initiated, 
sponsored or approved.  

 
17.3.4 The Director of Finance shall ensure that Wiltshire Health and Care is kept 

informed of all enquiries regarding legacies and shall keep an appropriate 
record. All correspondence concerning legacies shall be dealt with on behalf 
of Wiltshire Health and Care by the Trustees who shall be empowered to 
provide an executor a “good discharge”.  

 
17.4 Investments and Investment Income  

 
17.4.1 On behalf of Wiltshire Health and Care, the Trustees shall be responsible for: 

 
a) Appointing investments advisors to manage investments and provide 

relevant investment advice on these. Charitable funds shall be invested 
in a manner to maximize medium term value, 

c) Monitor the performance of investments and seek clarification from the 
investment advisors on any relevant issues; 

d) Report any significant concerns to the WHC Operating Board; 

 

17.4.2 Allocate dividends, interest, and realised and unrealised gains and losses 
across the funds appropriately. 

 
17.5 Expenditure 

 
17.5.1 Expenditure from WHC Charitable Funds shall be conditional upon the 

item being within the terms of the appropriate trust, the procedures 
approved by the Trustees, and sufficient funds being available. 

 
17.5.2 Day to day management of individual expenditure is delegated to Fund 

Managers who shall not enter into any transaction which will result in any 
fund under their control becoming overdrawn without first obtaining 
authorisation in writing from Wiltshire Health and Care’s Director of 
Finance.   

 
17.5.3 The Trustees shall act on behalf of Wiltshire Health and Care in ensuring 

that all expenditure incurred is in accordance with the purposes identified 
by the donor.  

 



Page 48 of 62  

17.5.4 The powers of delegation available to commit resources are detailed in the 
table below. The levels of authority relate to single orders or connected 
multiple orders. 

 
17.5.5 A connected multiple order could be for example: 

a) The refurbishment of a room where several suppliers are involved 

b) An ECG machine and its trolley 

c) An order to cover a period of more than one year (the whole value of 
the order is considered rather than each annual value). 

 
17.5.6 Levels of Authority 

 
No expenditure can take place without the approval of the following:  
 

 

£ Orders can only be processed once the following people give 
their authority 

Any amount  All requests for charitable funding are submitted to Wiltshire 
Health and Care’s Executive Committee (which includes the 
Director of Finance/ Fund Manager) for approval 

Up to £5,000  WHC Executive Committee  

 

Over £5,000  WHC Executive Committee, and then subsequently the 
GWH Charitable Funds Committee (reported to the GWH 
Trust Board) 

 
 

17.6 Asset Management 
 

17.6.1 Assets granted by the Charity to the ownership of or to be used by WHC, 
shall be maintained along with the general estate and inventory of assets of 
WHC.  

 
17.6.2 The Charity accepts no responsibility, financially or otherwise, for any 

liabilities arising out of the expenditure. 
 

17.6.3 The Charity shall not be responsible for replacement of the equipment, if it is 
to be replaced, when it comes to the end of its natural life. 

 
17.7 Risk Management 

 
17.7.1 The Director of Finance at GWH will be responsible for updating an annual risk 

register relating to the Charity, for agreement by the GWH Charitable Fund Committee 
.This will address the following key areas of risk for the charity: 

a) Governance risks – e.g. inappropriate organisational structure, conflict 
of interest; 

b) Operational risks – e.g. Service quality or development, security of 
assets, fund-raising activity; 

c) Financial risks – e.g. accuracy and timeliness of financial information, 
adequacy of reserves and cash flow, investment management, 
recession; 
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d) External risks – e.g. Public perception and adverse publicity, 
government policy; 

e) Compliance with law and regulation – e.g. Breach of charity law, 
lottery regulations. 

 
18. STANDARDS OF BUSINESS CONDUCT 

 
18.1 The MD shall ensure that all staff, volunteers and any other person 

associated with WHC are made aware of, and comply with, WHC’s 
Managing Conflicts of Interest Policy. This policy details the behaviour 
expected of individuals with regard to: 

a) Interests (financial or otherwise) in any matter affecting WHC  and 
the provision of services to patients, public and other stakeholders; 

b) Conduct by an individual in a position to influence purchases; 

c) Employment and business which may conflict with the interests of 
WHC; 

d) Relationships which may conflict with the interests of WHC; 

e) Hospitality and gifts and other benefits in kind such as sponsorship. 
 

Declarations relating to the above must be made to the Company Secretary for 
inclusion in the Register of Interests. 

 
18.2 The Bribery Act 2010 reforms the criminal law of bribery, making it easier to 

tackle this offence proactively in the public and private sectors. 
It introduces a corporate offence which means that organisations are 
exposed to criminal liability, punishable by an unlimited fine, for negligently 
failing to prevent bribery. In addition, the Act allows for a maximum penalty 
of 10 years’ imprisonment for offences committed by individuals. 

 
Under the Bribery Act 2010 it is a criminal offence to: 

 
a) Bribe another person by offering, promising or giving a financial or 

other advantage to induce them to perform improperly a relevant 
function or activity, or as a reward for already having done so, and 

 
b) Be bribed by another person by requesting, agreeing to receive or 

accepting a financial or other advantage with the intention that a 
relevant function or activity would then be performed improperly, or as 
a reward for having already done so. 

 
These offences can be committed directly or by and through a third person 
and, in many cases, it does not matter whether the person knows or 
believes that the performance of the function or activity is improper. It is, 
therefore, extremely important that staff adhere to this and other related 
policies (specifically WHC’s Counter Fraud and Corruption, Managing 
Conflicts of Interest, and Freedom to Speak Up policies, available via 
W\:Wiltshire_Health_and_Care_Documents\001 Master Documents 
Tracker). 

 
The action of all staff must not give rise to, or foster the suspicion that they 
have been, or may have been, influenced by a gift or consideration to show 
favour or disadvantage to any person or organisation. Staff must not allow 
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their judgement or integrity to be compromised in fact or by reasonable 
implication. 

 
Staff should not be afraid to report genuine suspicions of fraud, bribery or 
corruption and should report all suspicions to the Local Counter Fraud 
Specialist (LCFS) who is responsible for tackling any concerns. Alternatively, 
suspicions can be reported via the National fraud and corruption reporting 
line (0800 028 40 60) or via the National Fraud Reporting 
website www.reportnhsfraud.nhs.uk. 

 
19. RETENTION OF RECORDS AND INFORMATION 

 
The MD shall be responsible for maintaining archives for all records, information, and 
data required to be retained in accordance with NHSX guidelines. The delegated 
responsibility for holding and safekeeping of contracts, in secure storage where 
applicable, is given to the Director of Finance. 

 
Any other contracts not covered by the above which may be held by other 
Managers must be reported to the Director of Finance for a register to be 
maintained. 

 
19.1 The records held in archives shall be capable of retrieval by authorised 

persons. 
 

19.2 Records and information held in accordance with latest NHSX guidance 
shall only be destroyed before the specified guidance limits at the express 
authority of the MD or Director of Finance. Proper details shall be 
maintained of records and information so destroyed. 

 
20. GOVERNANCE, RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSURANCE 

 
20.1 Risk Management 

 
20.1.1 The MD shall ensure that WHC has a risk management policy and 

procedures and sound processes for risk management which will be 
monitored by the WHC Operating Board and its delegated sub committees 
with responsibility for scrutinising risk management. 

 
20.1.2 The risk management and associated policies shall include: 

a) A process for identifying and quantifying risks; 

b) The authority of all managers with regard to managing the control and 
mitigation of risk; 

c) Management processes to ensure all significant risks and potential 
liabilities are addressed, including effective systems of internal 
control, cost effective insurance cover, and decisions on the 
acceptable level of residual risk; 

d) Contingency plans to offset the impact of adverse events; 

e) Audit arrangements including: internal audit, external audit, clinical 
audit, health and safety review. 

 
The existence, integration, and evaluation of the above elements will 
provide a basis to make a statement on the effectiveness of Internal 

https://webmail.uhs.nhs.uk/owa/redir.aspx?SURL=I3hCqiWtsEy20U0EtqTZXiwzoNEu3uAfZjD3zg0yHvNolautF73TCGgAdAB0AHAAOgAvAC8AdwB3AHcALgByAGUAcABvAHIAdABuAGgAcwBmAHIAYQB1AGQALgBuAGgAcwAuAHUAawA.&amp%3Bamp%3BURL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.reportnhsfraud.nhs.uk


Page 51 of 62  

Financial Control. 
 

20.2 Insurance 
 

20.2.1 On an annual basis, the Director of Finance shall review membership of 
insurance arrangements and recommend whether or not to continue with 
current arrangements 

  
20.2.2 The Corporate Services team, with reference to the Director of Finance, 

shall act as WHC’s contact on insurance matters, liaising with Insurance 
Brokers over queries and negotiating renewal terms. 

 
20.2.3 The Corporate Services team shall ensure timely reporting of incidents 

against commercial insurance policies. 
 

20.2.4 The Corporate Services team shall ensure timely reporting of losses and 
the submission of claims against commercial insurance policies. 

 
 

20.3 Clinical Risk Management/CNST 
 

20.3.1 The Company Secretary shall: 

a) Provide a central point of contact within WHC for CNST issues; 

b) Report on claims to WHC Operating Board within the set limits and values. 

 

 

21. LITIGATION PAYMENTS 
 

21.1 Claims made by Patients and the Public 
 

21.1.1 The Managing Director shall approve all offers of settlements for clinical negligence 
claims.  

 
21.1.2 The Members are required to approve the discontinuing or settling of any actual or 

threatened litigation or arbitration or compromises agreements in other type of claim 
made by patients or the public.  

 
21.1.3 NHSE Improvement must be consulted before making any special payments that are 

novel, contentious or repercussive.  
 

 

22. EMPLOYEE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS & EMPLOYMENT TRIBUNALS 
 

22.1 All employee settlement agreements must be approved by the Director of 
Quality, Professions and Workforce. As applicable, the Director of Quality, 
shall submit a business case to be approved by Treasury.  
 

22.2 Any settlement agreement in excess of contractual entitlement must be 
approved by all three of: 

i. the Director of Quality, Professions and Workforce 

ii. the Director of Finance, and 

iii. the Managing Director.  
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22.3 The out of court settlement of Employment Tribunal applications shall only 
be made where the Director of Quality, Professions & Workforce advises it 
to be prudent to do so, and only after taking into account the monetary sum 
involved and any legal advice received. Approvals must be provided in line 
with Scheme of Delegation (Annex 3).  

 
22.4 Any payments proposed in relation to the out of court settlement of 

Employment Tribunal applications or other employee settlement agreements 
that are against/ contrary to legal advice must be approved by the WHC 
Operating Board. 

 
22.5 NHS Improvement must be consulted before making any special payments 

that are novel, contentious or repercussive.  
 
 

23. RESEARCH 
 

23.1 The undertaking of research by WHC employees within WHC’s premises 
shall be strictly in accordance with WHC’s policies and strategies on 

research and shall be subject to approval accordingly. 

23.2 Proposals to undertake research shall be fully costed, in accordance with the 
national guidance, ‘Attributing the costs of health and social care research and 
development’ (AcoRD DH2012) using the national costing guidance/templates. 
Excess treatment costs should be submitted to CRN:Wessex for funding. 

23.3 The undertaking of research shall not commit WHC to future expenditure and 
no relationship may be entered into with a third party that could affect the 
impartiality of a future procurement. 

 
23.4 The Standing Orders and other sections of the SFIs apply equally to the 

undertaking of research and this includes declaration of interests, security of 
assets, budgetary control, purchasing and contracting, charitable funds, and 
the section on casual gifts, hospitality and commercial sponsorship. 

23.5 The submission of grant applications to support research shall be signed by 
the Director of Finance or designated representative. 

23.6 The agreement covering any undertaking of research shall give cognisance to 
WHC policies governing Intellectual Property rights. Where there is any lack of 
clarity this shall be resolved prior to undertaking the project. 

23.7 The principles governing probity and public accountability shall apply equally to 
work undertaken through research. 

 

24. ANNUAL REVIEW OF SFI AUTHORISATION LEVELS AND AMENDMENTS 

24.1 The Director of Finance is responsible for an annual review of the accuracy and 
content of the SFIs including updating the authorisation levels where applicable 
in line with updated annual contract values and any changes to the Members 
Agreement. 
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Annex 1  Authorisation Levels For Electronic Requisitioning System 
 
All staff authorised to approve the purchase of goods or services, and signing of invoices 
where appropriate, will be allocated an authorisation level. 

 
Level 1 - Up to and including £3,000 per total requisition (e.g. Flexible Workforce Team, 
Wheelchair Clinical Lead, Project Officer, Estates Officer, Administration Manager 
 
Level 2 - Up to and including £5,000 per total requisition: Community Team Leaders, 
Community Ward Managers, Team Managers: Podiatry, SLT, Respiratory, CTPLD, MIU 
 
Level 3 - Up to £10,000 per total requisition: Department Managers, CSMs, Finance 
Manager, Head of IT  
 
Level 4 - Up to £30,000 per total requisition: Members of the Executive Committee, but 
not attendees (other than those included at Level 5 and 6), Heads of Operations, and 
Contracts Manager 
 
Level 5 - Up to £100,000 per total requisition: Chief Operating Officer, Company 
Secretary, Senior Finance Manager  
 
Level 6 - Over £100,000 per total requisition (but subject to any other limits approved by 
the Operating Board): Managing Director, Director of Finance 
 
1.2 Each Budget Manager is responsible for compiling their own authorised 
signatories list; including determining which staff should be given authorisation below 
level 3. 
 
Amendments to the above levels of authorisation may be approved in specific cases but 
will need to be approved by the Director of Finance. 
 
1.3 The Finance Department will maintain a database of staff on each authorisation 
level. All budget managers will be responsible for notifying the Finance Department of 
any additions, deletions or other changes to their authorised signatories’ lists. The 
Finance Department will ensure the database is amended to reflect the changes and 
ensure the computer security is amended accordingly and that an authorised signatoree 
list is maintained. 
 
Authorisation Levels for Electronic Ordering System 
 
2.1 All requisitions will be converted to Orders and processed within the Royal United 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Procurement Department (as per agreed SLA) where 
individual staff will have specific levels of authorisation. The electronic requisition will 
have already been authorised at the appropriate level within the organisation prior to 
receipt by Procurement.



 

 

Contract Value 

Analysis 

 

Quotation 

Required 

 

2 Quotation 

Required 

 

Procurement involvement required for the expenditure at the start of the process as a 

tender process is required 

 
Purchase Order 

 
Purchase Order 

 

Quotation 

 

Tender 

 

EU Tender in 

line with PCR 

 
If >£25,000, advertise appropriately 

 

Annex 2 Tendering & Contracting Procedures  
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Annex 3  WHC Approval Limits and Scheme of Delegation  
 
Note: This annex will be updated on an annual basis to reflect the annual turnover of the 
previous year.  

 
WHC approval limits  

21/22   

Approval level 
needed 

Annual value (£) Source 

Director of 
Finance 

Spend not covered by an 
existing budget < £5,000 

Director of Finance (in line with SOP) 

Executive 
Committee  

Spend not covered by an 
existing budget >£5,000 

Executive Committee TOR 

Managing 
Director/ 
Director of 
Finance 

Any spend up to the value 
of £500,000 

WHCs Scheme of Delegation 

WHC 
Operating 
Board  

Any spend where the value 
is over £500,000 but below 
£2,650,651 

WHC’s Scheme of Delegation   

Members 
(unanimous 
approval) 

Spend where the value is 
>5%, £2,650,651 

 

WHC LLP Member’s Agreement  

Schedule 4, Part 1 states that where spend is >5% of WHC’s annual 
turnover (as recorded in the previous year), Members approval is 
needed.  

In 20/21 the annual turnover was £53,013,032, so for spend in 
21/22, unanimous Members approval is needed where the annual 
value of the contract/ obligation is >£2,650,651.  

Members 
(unanimous 
approval) 

Spend deviating from 
Strategic Plan where the 
annual value is >2%, 
£1,060,260 

WHC LLP Member’s Agreement 

A decision  to deviate from the Strategic Plan which will or does 
commit the LLP to additional expenditure (in aggregate in any 12 
month period) in excess of 2% of the Turnover recorded by the LLP 
in the previous Accounting Reference Period; for 21/22 £1,060,260 

 
Scheme of Delegation 

1.0 Budgetary Control  
 

Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

1.1 Overall budget and planning process, 
and budget management to include 
maintenance of records of financial 
procedures, journal entries, use of non-
recurring budget for recurring 
expenditure 

Managing Director or Director of 
Finance  
 

 

1.2 Delegation of Management of budgets  Managing Director and Director 
of Finance  

 

1.3 Request for Budget Virements Initiator and recipient Budget  
1.4 Approve all budget virements from 

inflation or other reserves  
Director of Finance  

Budget movement between Pay, Non-
Pay or Income  

Director of Finance   

Budget movement between business 
units 

Director of Finance  With written approval of budget holders 

Sign off annual business unit budgets  Director of Finance With written approval of budget holders 



 

 
 
 
2.0 Purchasing and Payments (excluding 

Capital) of budgeted expenditure 
Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

2.1 Approve general 
orders/commitment to 
spend for non-capital 
goods or services 
(including VAT) and 
authorisation of 
requisitions for individual 
non-capital purchases  
whether pre-contracted 
or not (limits include 
irrecoverable VAT) 
 

Up to 
£500,000 

Managing Director or Director of 
Finance  
Within budget/plan to deliver the 
purpose of the budget/plan All orders must be placed in line with good 

procurement practice.  Expenditure limits 
for supplier contracts are for total cost 
incurred (including VAT if payable) within a 
three-year period or over the period of the 
contract if longer. 

£500,001-
£2,650,000 

Operating Board  

 
 

>£2,650,000 

 
 
Members (unanimous 
agreement) 

2.2 Engage consultancy 
services 

Below 
£50,000 

Director of Finance 
 
Within budget/plan to deliver the 
purpose of the budget/plan 

 

Above 
£50,000 

Managing Director with NHSE/I 
approval  

2.3 Authorisation of individual invoices due 
for payment where the approved order 
process has not been followed 

Director of Finance All purchases should be made via ordering 
system. Only in the extenuating 
circumstances should such invoices be 
presented for authorisation to the Director 
of Finance 

2.4 Authorisation of expenses claims Authorisation by line manager/ 
budget holder not older than 3 
months 
 
Director of Finance over 3 
months old or relating to 
previous financial year 

 

2.5 Authorisation of staffing returns Authorisation by line manager 
(must be budget manager or 
have delegated authority) 

 

2.6 Authorisation of timesheets, Adhoc 
overtime and Adhoc additional hours 

Authorisation by line manager 
(must be budget manger or 
have delegated authority) within 
budget.  
 
Permanent additional hours to 
Executive Committee.  

 

2.7 Authorisation of Agency and Bank staff 
expenditure, with framework and budget 
and authorisation of off-framework 
agency staff 

 
Managing Director 
Director of Finance 
Chief Operating Officer  
Director of Quality, Professions 
& Workforce  
In line with agreed authorisation 
process 

 

2.8 Approve balance sheet payments 
including payroll deductions, Payovers, 
Pension Payovers and other payroll 
deductions 

Director of Finance Within budget 
Exempt from orders being placed 
through the LLP Purchasing and 
Supplies Process 

2.9 Approve payments in relation to staff, 
including changes to increments, 
changes to payments, increases, 
upgrades, re-grades, payments outside 
agenda for change, advances of salary, 
payments outside the payroll system, 
payroll monthly run, overtime, other 
national terms and conditions and any 
other 

Director of Finance with Head of 
People 

 

2.10 Authorisation of 
removal and 

Up to £8,000 Director of Finance with Head of 
People  

 



 

2.0 Purchasing and Payments (excluding 
Capital) of budgeted expenditure 

Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

relocations 
expenses  

Above £8,000 Wiltshire Health and Care Board  In exceptional circumstances only 

 
  
3.0  Contracts  

  
Delegation Arrangements   Additional Information   

Committing the LLP to expenditure – in line with the Strategic Plan  
3.1  Entering into new 

contract, Service Level 
Agreement (SLA), or 
other agreement 
committing the LLP to 
expenditure (such as a 
letter of intent)   

 

Renewal, variation, 
extension and 
termination of existing 
contracts, Service 
Level Agreements 
(SLAs), or other 
agreements committing 
the LLP to expenditure  

 

Where the annual 
value of the 
commitment is up to 
£100,000 
(authorisation level 
as per Annex 1) 

Company Secretary   

Where the annual 
value of the 
commitment is up to 
£500,000 

Managing Director or Director of 
Finance 

 

Where the annual 
value of the 
commitment is 
between £501k and 
£2,650,000 

WHC Operating Board   

Where the annual 
value of the 
commitment is 
£2,651,000 or above 
(i.e. >5% of annual 
turnover) 

Reserved to Members by 
Members Agreement (unanimous 
agreement) 

 

3.1B  
  

Signing of any agreements committing the 
LLP to expenditure in line with the Strategic 
Plan  
  

Managing Director; or  

Director of Finance  

  

Only where the approval to enter into such 
agreement is approved by in line with the 
requirements set out in 3.1 

Committing the LLP to expenditure –  in a manner that deviates from the Strategic Plan   
3.2 Entering into new 

contract, Service Level 
Agreement (SLA), or 
other agreement 
committing the LLP to 
expenditure (such as a 
letter of intent)   

 

Renewal, variation, 
extension and 
termination of existing 
contracts, Service 
Level Agreements 
(SLAs), or other 
agreements committing 
the LLP to expenditure  

 

Where the annual 
value of the 
commitment is up to 
£100,000 
(authorisation level 
as per Annex 1) 

Company Secretary   

Where the annual 
value of the 
commitment is up to 
£500,000 

Managing Director or Director of 
Finance 

 

Where the annual 
value of the 
commitment is 
between £501k and 
£1,060,000 (i.e. 2% 
of the annual 
turnover) 

WHC Operating Board   

Where the annual 
value of the 
commitment is 
£1,060,000 or above 
(i.e. >2% of annual 
turnover) 

 

Reserved to Members by 
Members Agreement (unanimous 
agreement) 

 

3.2B  
  

Signing of any agreements committing the 
LLP to expenditure  in a manner that 

Managing Director; or  
Director of Finance  

Only where the approval to enter into such 
agreement is approved by in line with the 



 

deviates from the Strategic Plan   
  

  requirements set out in 3.2 
 
 
 
 

Income contracts or recharges 
3.3  Entering into new 

contract, Service Level 
Agreement (SLA), or 
other agreement where 
the LLP will receive 
income   
 
Renewal, variation, 
extension and 
termination of existing 
contracts, Service 
Level Agreements 
(SLAs), or other 
agreements where the 
LLP will receive 
income  
 
 

Where the annual 
value is up to 
£500,000 

Managing Director or Director of 
Finance 

 

 

Where the annual 
value is between 
£501k and 
£2,650,000 

WHC Operating Board  

Where the annual 
value is £2,651,000 
or above (i.e. >5% of 
annual turnover) 

Reserved to Members by 
Members Agreement (unanimous 
agreement) 

3.3B 
  

Signing of any agreements whereby the LLP 
will receive income  
  

Managing Director; or  
Director of Finance  
  

 

Procurement  
3.4 Single tender / single quote action for 

maintenance or other support contracts for 
existing goods or assets where the LLP is 
contractually tied to specific companies  

Managing Director; or   
Director of Finance  

Must be reported to Audit and Assurance 
Committee annually with a register 
maintained by the finance team  

3.5  Monitoring the use of single tender / single 
quote action   

Audit Committee    

3.6  For Receipt of Tenders   
The governance is either provided via an 
electronic tendering portal or, in the case of 
a manual tendering process, Director of 
Finance  

Director  of Finance    

3.7  For Receipt of Tenders   
The governance is either provided via an 
electronic tendering portal or, in the case of 
a manual tendering process, Director of 
Finance  

Director of Finance     

3.8  Permission to consider later tenders  Managing Director   With advice from the Director of Finance  
3.9  Tender ratification and 

award / approval of 
contract close to 
core activities (including 
acceptance of a tender or 
quote other than the 
lowest that meets the 
award criteria) and 
authorisation of any 
actions resulting from 
post tender clarification   
  
 

Up to £500,000 
(total value over 
the term) 
 
 

Managing Director / Director  of 
Finance   
  
  
  
  
   

Public Contract Regulations must be followed 
and administered or purchased utilising an 
existing framework agreement  

£500,001-
£2,650,651 (total 
value over the 
term) 
 

Wiltshire Health and 
Care Operating Board  

>£2,650,651 (total 
value over the 
term) 
 

Members unanimous approval  



 

3.10  Approval to let premises and equipment to 
outside organisations, including agreement 
of rents and charges  

Director of Finance     

  
 
4.0 Capital & Asset Purchase (including 

capital funded via leased finance or 
charitable grants) 
 

Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

4.1 Maintenance of LLP Fixed Asset Register  Director of Finance   
4.2 Approval of asset acquisitions and 

disposals (Dispose of obsolete, redundant, 
irreparable items of equipment)  

£1-£500,000 MD/Director of 
Finance  
>£500,000 Members 

The Director of Finance is responsible 
for ensuring the LLP receives best 
value from disposals and so must be 
notified of potential disposals where 
an asset may have any value. The 
Director of Finance must always be 
informed of any asset disposals to 
enable the asset register to be 
updated. 
 
 

4.3 Approve, grant, extend or terminate leases, 
licences and tenancy agreements 

Managing Director to £200,000 
Operating Board above £200,000  

 

 
5.0 Contracts of Employment 

 
Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

5.1 Approval of leave   Line Managers  In line with relevant HR policies  
5.2 Setting contracts of employment regarding 

staff, agency staff or temporary staff 
service contracts 
 

 Managing Director; or  
 Director of Finance 
 

In line with relevant HR policies  

5.3 Variations to or termination of contracts of 
employment 

 Managing Director; or  
 Director of Finance 
 
 

In line with relevant HR policies  

5.4 Ensuring all contracts of employment 
comply with employment legislation 

Managing Director or Director of 
Finance 
 

In line with relevant HR policies  

5.5 Recruitment to vacant posts  Budget holder in the Recruitment 
Approval Panel 

 

5.6 Agreeing settlement agreements Managing Director 
 

 

5,7 Executing settlement agreements 
previously agreed by Managing Director  
 

Head of People; or  
Company Secretary 

 

5.8 Agreeing terms of secondment agreements   Managing Director; or 
 Director of Finance 

 

 

5.9 Executing secondment agreements 
previously agreed by the Managing 
Director or Director of Finance 
 

 Any member of the Executive 
team; or 

 Head of People 

 

5.10 Agreeing integrated working arrangements 
relating to staff employed by other entities 
 

 Managing Director 
 Company Secretary 

 

5.11 Executing integrated working 
arrangements relating to staff employed by 
other entities where terms agreed by 
Managing Director of Company Secretary  

 Any member of the Executive 
team; or  

 Head of People  

 

 
 
 



 

6.0 Invoicing and Debt write off  
 

Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

6.1 Invoicing, including cancellation of invoices Managing Director or Director of 
Finance 
 

There are arrangements in place for 
onward delegation to the Finance 
Team 

6.2 Requests for invoices to be raised  Budget Managers may raise an 
invoice request if they have been 
approved to do so by Director of 
Finance.  
 

 

6.3 Authorisation of discounts, credit notes  Managing Director or Director of 
Director   
 

 

6.4 Collection of debts / use of debt collection 
agencies / pursuance of legal action for 
bad debt 

Director of Finance  

6.5 Authorisation of individual debt / 
overpayment write off  

Audit Committee  This delegation also applies to the 
effective write off through lack of 
invoicing for income to which the LLP 
is entitled. Whether it occurs through 
action, lack of action or the passing of 
time.  

 
7.0 Bank Account and Payment Methods  

 
Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

7.1 Approve banking arrangements 
Opening of Bank Accounts  

Wiltshire Health and Care Board 
 

 

7.2 Approval, BACS Schedules and RFT 
authorisation  

 Electronic  
 Manual 

 

Managing Director and Director of 
Finance /or accounting service 
representatives 
 

In accordance with the Bank Mandate 

7.3 Approval and variation of signatories  
 

Managing Director or Director of 
Finance  

Signing of bank forms in line with 
Bank Mandate. 

 
8.0 Borrowings  

 
Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

8.1 Approval of loans and loan facilities  
(including working capital facilities) 
 

Members In line with requirements in Members 
Agreement for unanimous agreement 
of members. 

8.2 Use of loans and loan facilities  
 

Members 
 

In line with requirements in Members 
Agreement for unanimous agreement 
of members. 

8.3 Use of leasing  Director of Finance   
 
9.0 Losses and Special Payments 

 
Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

9.1 Authorisation of 
individual losses, 
compensation, 
special and ex-
gratia payments 

Less than £50,000 Director of Finance For payments to staff, in consultation 
with the Head of People 

Over £50,000 Wiltshire Health and Care Board   

9.2 Monitoring of losses and special payments Audit  Committee On behalf of the Board  
9.3 Negotiation of 

compromise 
agreements and 
approval of financial 
settlements and 
authorisation of 
early or ill health, 
retirement, 
redundancy and all 
other termination 
payments to staff 
and inclusion claw 

Less than £50,000 Managing Director/Director of 
Finance 

Only after advice from the Head of 
People and Company Secretary 
subject to claw back clauses being in 
place as appropriate  
 
Dismissing any WHC Operating 
Board Member(s) or employee(s) or 
consultant(s) of the LLP in 
circumstances in which the LLP 
incurs or agrees to bear redundancy 
or other costs  

in excess in total of 
£50,000 in 
aggregate 

Members (majority agreement) 



 

back clauses  

 
 
 
10.0 Stores and Stock Control  

 
Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

10.1 Management and control systems for 
stocks and stores, including training  
 

Director of Finance   

 
11.0 Fraud and Irregularity  

 
Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

11.1 Counter Fraud and Corruption  
 

Director of Finance  It is expected that Local Counter 
Fraud Specialist and Internal Audit 
would be involved in any investigation 
/ Counter Fraud Policy  

 
12.0 Policies, Procedures, Guidelines and 

any other Documents  
 

Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

12.1 Policies, procedures, guidelines and any 
other document approval  
 

Managing Director  The Managing Director delegates 
these responsibilities to the 
appropriate Director who manages 
the approval via the appropriate policy 
oversight group.  

 
13.0 Operational Limits  

 
Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

13.1 Approval of the operational limits for 
exercising the delegated functions in this 
Scheme of Delegation  
 

Managing Director and Director of 
Finance  

Having regard to agreed Terms of 
Reference for Committees  

 
14.0 Standards of Business Conduct 

 
Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

14.1 Maintenance of register of interests and 
secondary employments 
 

Managing Director for Board 
Members or Director of Finance 
for all other staff  
 

With support to maintain register from 
Company Secretary  

14.2 Maintenance of gifts and hospitality register Director of Finance  
 

With support to maintain register from 
Company Secretary 

 
15.0 Insurances and legal 

 
Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

15.1 Insurance Arrangements  
 

Managing Director /Director of 
Finance 
 

 

15.2 Legal arrangements 
 

Managing Director  
 

 

15.3 Authorisation of admissions of liability for 
clinical negligence claims  
 

Managing Director, Director of 
Quality, Professions, and 
Workforce or Company Secretary 

 

15.3 Authorisation of compensation payments 
for clinical negligence claims 
 

Managing Director or  
Director of Quality, Professions, 
and Workforce 

 

 
16.0 Other Matters  

 
Delegation Arrangements  Additional Information  

16.1 Approval of the use of non-licensed 
medicines  
 

Director of Quality, Professions, 
and Workforce 

The Director of Quality, Professions, 
and Workforce must seek the 
appropriate clinical approval 

16.2 Approval of named individuals for 
designated roles 

Director of Quality, Professions, 
and Workforce 
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Wiltshire Health and Care Board For decision

Subject: Delivery Plan 2021-2024  and financial information 

Date of Meeting: 22 June 2021

Author: Katherine Hamilton Jennings and Annika Carroll

1. Purpose 

The purpose of this paper is to seek Board approval to the Wiltshire Health and Care (WHC) Delivery 
Plan for 2021-2024.  

2. Background and Discussion  

2.1: Why we have a Delivery Plan and how we use it  

For the last four years, WHC has produced a Delivery Plan - a published plan setting out the 
operational objectives that it will pursue in the upcoming financial year. This has been used as a tool 
to communicate with our staff and stakeholders, so that there is a common understanding of our 
goals - guiding our priorities.  

WHC colleagues have become increasingly familiar with the document – appreciating its purpose, 
and referring to it on a regular basis. Every quarter, the plan is updated with progress updates, 
shared with colleagues, via Connected (our Intranet page). The plan is also used as a framework to 
demonstrate our progress against specific goals to the CCG.  

In addition to the above, the Delivery Plan provides a very visual tool for the Board to hold the 
Executive team to account in relation to the achievement of the key operational objectives that it has 
endorsed for the period ahead.   

2.2: What period does the Delivery Plan cover? 

The Board agreed, in June 2020, a three year plan covering the period 2020-2023. This plan set out 
detailed objectives for year 1, with an outline approach set out for years 2 and 3.   As part of the 
annual refresh of the plan, it is proposed that this should be on the basis of a rolling three years, with 
detailed objectives have been set out for 2021-22, and in outline for the subsequent two years. 

2.3: How we developed the Delivery Plan  

The first three year plan was the subject of road shows across the county in February and March 
2020, to ask staff for their views on what the operational objectives for WHC should be in the 
upcoming financial year and beyond. This input is still reflected in this refreshed plan.  In addition, the 
Executive team have considered the detail of the plan in workshop sessions, together with 
involvement of subject matter experts and leads, to ensure the proposed objectives align with: 

 the objectives set out in the NHS Long Term Plan and Operational Planning Guidance published 
in March 2021; 

 the priorities of the BSW ICS and the Wiltshire Integrated Care Alliance  
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 the set of strategic priorities signed off by the Members Board in March 2021 

We therefore believe that the plan presented to the Board is one that takes into account the wider 
strategic priorities of the system and the NHS, whilst addressing the needs of WHC to ensure it is an 
organisation fit for purpose to delivery community care in 2021 and beyond.  

As last year, we have not produced a narrative plan, as the simplicity of the grid plan has worked well 
during 2020/21. 

2.4: Other planning documents 

The overall number of objectives in this plan has reduced from the previous year (127 lines) and now 
totals 75 lines. 

Comparing this refreshed version of the plan with the latest position on the Delivery Plan 
communicated to the Board in February 2021:  

 61 objectives were met and have therefore been removed.   

 17 objectives from the 2021-23 plan were removed as judged as not being relevant or too low a 
priority given the need to create space for new objectives. 

 42 objectives have been rolled forward into this year, either because delivery slipped in 2020-21, 
or because it was an ongoing commitment in the previous plan. 

 27 new objectives have been added. 

2.5: Sharing our Delivery Plan 

We intend to share our Delivery Plan (Section A) in a number of ways.  

 Patients and the public - We will share the Delivery Plan on our website, so that it can be 
viewed by our patients and the public. We will include a page of narrative ahead of the gridded 
text, to explain - in accessible terms - the purpose of the document, how it was created, how 
feedback/ comments can be sent to us in relation to us. 

 Staff and volunteers – We will publish the full version of the Delivery Plan on our intranet, and 
send out a staff-wide comms to accompany it. This will include the narrative described above. 
We will also, produce a “Delivery Plan on a poster” and will encourage colleagues to print copies 
of this to display in the areas where they work – as they have done in previous years.  

 CCG and stakeholders – We will share the full version of our Delivery Plan with the CCG/ STP 
and other interested stakeholders. The CCG is now familiar with our format, as this is our fourth 
year of presenting our objectives in this manner.  

3. Recommendation 

3.1 The Board is invited to: 

A. Consider the Delivery Plan 2021-2024, and if it is satisfied with the content, provide 
its APPROVAL. 
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Wiltshire Health and Care ‘Delivery Plan’ Refresh: 2021-2024

Meeting: Wiltshire Health and Care (“WHC”) Operating Board 

Date: June 2021 

RAG key: Objective KPI achieved. 
Objective KPI on track to be completed by target quarter. 
Objective KPI off-track to be completed by target quarter, but actions in place to achieve milestone by target year.
Delivery milestone off-track to be completed by target quarter and milestone unlikely to be achieved by end of target year.
Delivery milestone not due to be commenced until 22/23 or later. 
Delivery milestone no longer applicable because of national decision making/ commissioner decision making/ other.

Type of 
objective key:

An objective from 2020/21 that will continue into 2021/22 (and potentially beyond). 

A new objective to be delivered as part of pre-existing services/business activities. 

A new objective to support delivery of the BSW programme of work/ national requirements. 

An objective to test or scope a new idea.  It would require additional funding to deliver.  

Implementing a new model of care 
# Objectives  Lead Type 2021-2022 2022-2023 23-

24 
R
A
G: 

Objective KPI Narrative on current position  
(quarterly updates) 

Q
1 

Q
2 

Q
3 

Q
4 

H1 H2

RESET AND RECOVERY

1.  As part of reset and recovery, we will: 

A. Manage the safe return to workplaces
including developing new policies. 

B. Maintain activity levels and waiting 
times back to pre-Covid-19 baselines. 

C. Maintain our control and incident 
centre. 

D. Work to bring back radiology within 
Minor Injury Units. 

Chief Operating 
Officer  

(Lisa Hodgson)

Waiting times/ activity 
levels. 

New policies in place. 

Work with RUH1 to bring 
radiology access back to 
pre-Covid-19 levels. 

Identify how we will work 
post pandemic to ensure 
staff have a work life 
balance and are 
ensuring the safe and 
effective delivery of 
services. 

SERVICE DEVELOPMENTS 

2 HOUR CRISIS RESPONSE

2.  Urgent Response in the Community 

o Delivery of the national specification for 2 
hour response (by March 2022)

o Expand in line with national expectations 
(beyond March 2022)

Chief Operating 
Officer  

(Lisa Hodgson) 

Implementation of 
national specification.  

3.  Expand Community Teams to deliver 24/7 
nursing   

o Scope, design and deliver (by winter 2021)

Chief Operating 
Officer  

(Lisa Hodgson) 

Implemented 24/7 
nursing 

OPTIMISING FLOW AND RESILIENCE

4.  We will further optimise the efficiency of the 
Home First pathway to support hospital 
discharge. 

Further work required: 
o Define requirements  
o Mobilise new capacity  

Head of 
Operations – 
Community 

Teams  
(Heather Kahler) 

Patients wait no more 
than 48 hours into a 
home first pathway.  

5.  We will model the requirements for bed-
based discharge within the system and help 
design a change in the use.

Chief Operating 
Officer  

(Lisa Hodgson) 

System bed base 
reviewed (this will 
include the folowing 
types of bed: Discharge 
to Assess, Intermediate 
care Rehabilitation beds, 
and community hospital 
beds).  

6.  Improve Emergency Preparedness Resilience 
and Response (“EPRR)” coordination   

Chief Operating 
Officer  

(Lisa Hodgson) 

Reorganised approach 
in place by Q2. 

NEIGHBOURHOOD TEAMS 

1 RUH stands for “Royal United Hospitals Bath NHS Foundation Trust”. 
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7.  We will lead integration in neighbourhoods, 
tested through a focused neighbourhood test 
project, which includes: 

o Close joint working with primary care teams 
o Reduced duplication of services and joint 

case management rather than individual 
care. 

o Use of population data to map need and 
workforce requirements.

Managing 
Director  

(Douglas Blair)

Delivery of test project 
as part of Wiltshire 
Alliance2.  

8.  We will develop a model for adoption and 
spread of Personalised Care and Support 
Plans.  

We will progress this in 22/23 once Graphnet 
available.  

Service 
Transformation 

Manager 
(Ann Marie 

Nuth) 

Individual management 
plans are captured in a 
manner that meets 
national requirements.  

ENHANCED HEALTH IN CARE HOMES/ ANTICIPATORY CARE

9.  Expand our virtual ward to more care homes 
and beyond into primary care. 

Chief Operating 
Officer  

(Lisa Hodgson)

Virtual ward expanded 
to include all care 
homes and Primary 
Care Networks (PCNs)3

within the localities. 
10.  We will develop a frailty pathway for our local 

system 
Chief Operating 

Officer  

(Lisa Hodgson)

Clear frailty pathway 
agreed across BSW. 

11.  In 21/22, we will develop a common model for 
the provision of specialist advice and support 
for people with long term conditions. This 
will include identifying how community service 
specialists optimally wrap around the provision 
within Primary Care Networks. 

Head of 
Operations – 
Long Term 
Conditions 

(Carol Langley 
Johnson)

Long term model 
defined.   

OTHER

12.  We will ensure that our operational structure 
appropriately supports our inpatient staff and 
the services that we need to deliver. This will 
include clinical development. 

Lisa Hodgson 
(Chief Operating 

Officer)

New operational 
structure in place by Q2.  

13.  We will work with our local system colleagues 
across BSW to improve and establish 
community-based heart failure services.

Head of 
Operations – 
Long Term 
Conditions 

(Carol Langley 
Johnson) 

KPI(s) dependent on 
commissioners.  

14.  We will support the expansion of the delivery 
of pulmonary rehabilitation and oxygen 
assessment services to patients in South 
Wiltshire.   

Head of 
Operations – 
Long Term 
Conditions 

(Carol Langley 
Johnson) 

Expanded pulmonary 
rehabilitation services in 
place. 

15.  We will work with our commissioner to develop 
personalised wheelchair budget systems. 

Head of 
Operations – 
Long Term 
Conditions 

(Carol Langley 
Johnson)

A clear process is in 
place for personalised 
health budgets. 

16.  We will work with our local system colleagues 
across BSW to define a system-wide solution 
for orthotics. 

Chief Operating 
Officer  

(Lisa Hodgson) 

System wide 
procurement solution 
agreed. 

17.  We will confirm our longer-term model for 
physiotherapists in our urgent care facilities 

Head of 
Operations – 
Long Term 
Conditions 

(Carol Langley 
Johnson) 

AND 
Head of 

Operations – 
Inpatients 

(Rachel Green)  

Longer term model 
confirmed. 

18.  We will agree proposals for the expansion of 
early supported discharge for stroke

Head of 
Operations –
Long Term 
Conditions 

(Carol Langley 
Johnson)  

Agree proposal by Q2. 

Implement proposal by 
Q3. 

2 The Wiltshire Alliance is a partnership of health and care organisations in Wiltshire, focused on delivering health and care change and improvement for the population of Wiltshire.  It is part of the 
Integrated Care System which covers Bath and North East Somerset, Swindon and Wiltshire (collectively these regions are referred to as “BSW”). 

3  A Primary Care Networks or “PCN” consists of a group of general practices working together, and in partnership with community, mental health, social care, pharmacy, hospital and voluntary 
services in their local area, to offer more personalised, coordinated health and social care to the people living in their area.
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Developing our People and strengthening our workforce  
# Objectives  Lead Type 2021-2022 2022-2023 23-

24 
R
A
G: 

Objective KPI/ Aim  Narrative on current position  
(quarterly updates) 

Q
1 

Q
2 

Q
3 

Q
4 

H1 H2

PEOPLE RECOVERY 

19.  We will undertake an assessment of WHC’s 
Education and Training materials to assess 
how these could be adapted to meet the needs 
of a virtual audience. 

 We will review all face to face training content, 
and the regularity of review requirements in line 
with any best practice guidance. 

Learning And 
Development 
Via Head of 

People 
(Hanna Mansell) 

Practices reviewed and 
updated to reflect our 
new ways of working. 

20.  We will continue the rollout Allocate Health 
Roster, and, in priority order: 

o Revise the project plan splitting out areas 
for attendance and absence or full 
rostering.  

o Manage implementation and training of 
areas for attendance and absence only. 

o Rollout full rostering in community teams. 

Workforce 
Systems 

Via Head of 
People 

(Hanna Mansell) 

Staff members are 
managed effectively, 
have regular rest breaks 
and annual leave.  

21.  We will review the experience of joining our 
organisation. We will subsequently implement 
agreed actions and measure success. 

HR Operations 
Via Head of 

People 
(Hanna Mansell) 

All staff have the best 
experience when joining 
the organisation. 

22.  We will continue to increase the number of our 
volunteers and improve the experience of our 
work experience placements.  

HR Operations 
Via Head of 

People 
(Hanna Mansell) 

Voluntary workforce 
increased by 10-15% 
using our embedded 
approach.  

Work experience 
strategy devised to 
encourage uptake by 
young people with an 
interest in health care. 

DEVELOPING OUR PEOPLE 

23.  We will work as part of the BSW Academy4

partnership to:  

o Review talent management practices and 
processes within WHC to embed the basic 
principles utilising existing practices and 
development platforms. 

o Review the succession planning practices 
and processes within WHC and implement 
any changes. 

o Review the current and future needs of our 
clinical workforce, and link plans to the 
available educational opportunities to meet 
this demand. As part of this, we will: 

1. Review clinical workforce risks through 
reviewing the recent workforce 
demographics.  

2. Look at both local and national drivers 
and strategies to address any of these 
risks. 

3. Provide an analysis of these workforce 
risks over the next 2-3 years, including 
the current development pipelines and 
how they will meet future skill mix. 

4. Provide a risk-based Training Needs 
Analysis of the findings to support the 
organisation in decision making around 
current and future investment. 

Learning And 
Development 
Via Head of 

People 
(Hanna Mansell)

We have the skills within 
its current workforce to 
deliver safe and 
effective services. 

We have systems in 
place to enable us to 
forecast future workforce 
demands and align 
current practice to meet 
this demand. 

24.  We will review development pathways for non-
clinical roles, linking to the organisational 
priorities and workforce data.  

Learning And 
Development 
Via Head of 

People 
(Hanna Mansell)

We have the skills within 
its current workforce to 
deliver effective non-
clinical services 

25.  We will review current systems and processes 
for monitoring and providing assurance around 
the provision of Continued Professional 
Development (CPD). 

Learning And 
Development 
Via Head of 

People 
(Hanna Mansell)

Expanded development 
opportunities for both 
clinical and corporate 
staff. 

4 The ‘BSW Academy’ is an initiative championed by the local BSW health and care system. It has been established to help ensure the local system has a workforce fit to deliver the health and care 
needs of the future. This will cover both the capacity and the capability that is needed. 
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VALUING OUR PEOPLE 

26.  We will review our practice against national 
guidance for a “just culture”5 and implement 
changes required.   

 HR Operations 
Via Head of 

People 
(Hanna Mansell)

Staff are living and 
demonstrating WHC’s 
values and behaviours.  

27.  We will undertake a review of the mechanisms 
for recognition within WHC and implement the 
recommendations of this review.  

HR Operations 
Via Head of 

People 
(Hanna Mansell) 

We will recognise and 
celebrate hard work and 
success. 

28.  We will develop the staff-led WHC “Wellbeing 
Promise”, and support delivery through WHC’s 
Health and Wellbeing Forum.  

HR Operations 
Via Head of 

People 
(Hanna Mansell) 

The wellbeing of our 
workforce is at the 
centre of everything we 
do. 

Appointment of a non-
executive board member 
as a Wellbeing 
Guardian6.    

29.  We will promote a culture of equality, diversity, 
and inclusion.  

As part of this  
o Develop and agree a Wiltshire Health and 

Care Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion 
Statement 

o Review the WHC EDI Policy, update and 
ratify 

o Understand our workforce demographics 
o Undertake a review of EDI training and 

provide benchmarking for best practice 
o Commission Executive and senior 

manager level training 
o Increase diversity across the organisation 

Head of People 
 (Hanna 
Mansell) 

Agree and ratify WHC’s 
Equality, Diversity, and 
Inclusion priorities for 
21/22 

Implement the agreed 
priorities through the 
Equality Diversity and 
Incision forum. 

Supporting staff and patients with good Information Technology & 
Information Governance (IT and IG) 
# Objectives  Lead 

(Person to 
obtain 

quarterly 
update from) 

Type 2021-2022 2022-2023 23-
24 

R
A
G 

Objective KPI Narrative on current position  
(quarterly updates) 

Q
1 

Q2 Q
3 

Q
4 

H1 H2

PROJECTS

IT AND TELEPHONY SERVICES 

30.  We will carry out a review and upgrade of
WHC’s telephone system. 

Head of IT 
(Kelsa Smith)

New telephone system 
in place across WHC. 

31.  We will carry out a significant network 
hardware refresh for every WHC site. This is 
critical to safe delivery of services and required 
to achieve Cyber Essentials Plus certification. 

Head of IT 
(Kelsa Smith) 

All WHC sites have 
network hardware that 
is vendor-supported.  

32.  We will complete migration to Office 365. Head of IT 
(Kelsa Smith) 

Completion of 
migration to Office 
365.  

33.  We will work with BSW colleagues to develop 
usage of office 365 collaboratively and WHC 
will engage and implement the agreed solution. 

Head of IT 
(Kelsa Smith) 

WHC uses Office 365 
in a collaborative way 
with BSW colleagues.  

VIDEO CONSULTATION SOFTWARE
34.  We will confirm our user requirements and 

work with system partners to re-procure video 
consultation software so that clinicians across 
our services continue to have a way to conduct 
electronic consultations with patients.  

If necessary, we will implement new systems. 

Clinical 
Information 

Officer  
(Christian 

Bailey) 

Confirm our 
requirements. 

Support procurement 
of a platform.  

Implement any 
changes.  

HEALTH RECORDS DIGITISATION/ SHARED CARE RECORD
35.  We will review and reform records management. Data Protection 

Officer  
(Steve Lobb)  

Full records inventory 
will be developed. 

Standardised 
processes and 
guidance will be 
implemented. 

An appraisal schedule 
shall be generated. 

Off-site storage will be 
managed through the 
Corporate Services 
Team. 

36.  We will participate in system wide efforts to
implement a shared care record (Graphnet).  

Head of IT 
(Kelsa Smith) 

The necessary work to 
integrate with 
Graphnet is 
completed.  

5 NHS guidance on a “just culture” can be accessed here: https://www.england.nhs.uk/patient-safety/a-just-culture-guide/
6 NHS guidance on what a “Wellbeing Guardian” is can be accessed here: https://people.nhs.uk/executivesuite/support-in-difficult-times/wellbeing-guardians/
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SERVICE DEVELOPMENTS

37.  We will establish Wi-Fi for patients at 
community sites from which inpatient services 
are provided. 

Head of IT 
(Kelsa Smith) 

Patients at all inpatient 
sites have access to 
Wi-Fi.

38.  We will improve hardware to support multi-
disciplinary remote consultation from our 
wards. 

Head of IT 
(Kelsa Smith) 

Improved hardware to 
support multi-
disciplinary remote 
consultation from our 
wards 

39.  Improved IT hardware for our inpatient 
wards.  

Head of IT 
(Kelsa Smith) 

Wards have ready 
access to IT hardware. 

40.  We will scope what is needed to achieve a fully 
digitalised system on our wards (patient 
records, medications management, pathology 
requests, etc.) 

Project resouce 
- TBC 

Clarity on preferred 
way forward for a 
complete Electronic 
Patient Record (EPR) 
for the ward. 

41.  We will work as part of BSW’s business 
intelligence programme to:

o Migrate to new data visualisation tools; and
o Review data warehousing options 

Managing 
Director  

(Douglas Blair) 

WHC can maintain 
continuity of reporting. 

42.  We will roll out pathology requesting for 
community teams. 

Project resouce 
- TBC 

Pathology requesting 
for community teams 
rolled out.

ONGOING PRIORITIES

43.  We will implement a multifunction device 
replacement (scanning, printing, etc.).  

IT Project 
Manager 

(Dave 
Thompson)  

New multi-function 
devices in place.  

44.  We will deliver a rolling refresh replacement 
programme for desktop and laptop machines.  

IT Project 
Manager 

(Dave 
Thompson)  

Rolling replacement 
programme in place 

Supporting patients and staff with physical infrastructure that betters 
meets need 

# Objectives  Lead Type 2021-2022 2022-2023 23-
24 

R
A
G: 

Objective KPI Narrative on current position  
(quarterly updates) 

Q
1 

Q
2 

Q
3 

Q
4 

H1 H2

PROJECTS 

45.  We will contribute to BSW’s Estates Strategy, 
including 11 ‘PCN plans’ and 3 ‘place plans’. 

Director of 
Infrastructure 

(Victoria 
Hamilton)

BSW estates strategy 
includes strategies for 
North and South Wilts - 
including plans for all 
Primary Care Networks.  

46.  We will work with partners to develop a plan to 
move to Devizes Health Centre and initiate the 
move to this new site  

Director of 
Infrastructure 

(Victoria 
Hamilton) 

Ready for move in July 
2022. 

47.  Devizes Community Team move to Green 
Lane Hospital 

Director of 
Infrastructure 

(Victoria 
Hamilton) 

Community team co-
located with partners. 

48.  We will work with partners to develop a plan to 
move to West Wiltshire Health and Care 
Centre and initiate the move to this new site 

Director of 
Infrastructure 

(Victoria 
Hamilton) 

Ready for move in 2023.

49.  We will work with NHSPS on a programme of 
improvements to the environment at
Warminster Community Hospital. 

Director of 
Infrastructure 

(Victoria 
Hamilton) 

Improved facilities for 
our staff and patients.  

50.  We will implement improvements to estates 
in South Wiltshire 

Director of 
Infrastructure 

(Victoria 
Hamilton) 

Occupation of Five 
Rivers by end of June 
2021. 

Better utilisation of other 
South Wiltshire facilities 
achieved by the end of 
Q2. 

SERVICE DEVELOPMENTS

51.  We will work with our facilities management 
team to eliminate use of single-use plastics 
in WHC.  

Victoria 
Hamilton 

(Director of 
Infrastructure)

Elimiation of use of 
single-use plastic in 
servces provided to 
WHC.  
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Quality Focus – consistently improving the quality of services 
# Objectives  Lead Type 2021-2022 2022-2023 23-

24 
R
A
G: 

Objective KPI Narrative on current position  
(quarterly updates) 

Q
1 

Q
2 

Q
3 

Q
4 

H1 H2

QUALITY PRIORITIES

52.
 We will further develop our quality systems:

 stabilisation of Datix (electronic quality 
system)  

 expansion of the solid foundation of 
“shared learning” in WHC.  

 embed the Care Quality Commission’s 
(CQC) new approach to oversight into 
WHC as business as usual.  

(Quality Priority 1) 

Director of QPW 
(Sara Quarrie) 

Our Electronic quality 
system is refined 

Re-introduction of Data 
champions and 
development of a 
working group 

Vision for expanding 
shared learning 
processes established. 

Key elements of the 
shared learning process 
are automated through 
electronic systems. 

CQC’s new approach is 
embedded 

53.  We will refine our clinical strategy with a 
focus on the deteriorating patient (Quality 
Priority 2) 

Director of QPW 
(Sara Quarrie) 

Audit in-patient transfers 
to acute providers and 
evidence appropriate 
escalation of patient 
needs 

Published organogram 
of professional lines of 
accountability 
throughout WHC 

54.  We will promote a culture of Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion across our staff and 
patients (Quality Priority 3) 

Director of QPW 
(Sara Quarrie) 

See ‘Patient Experience’ 
objectives below. 

55.  We will aim for a 50% reduction in severe 
avoidable medicine related incidents by 
2024 (Quality Priority 4) 

Director of QPW 
(Sara Quarrie) 

Reduce incidence of 
missed medication 
incidents and utilisation 
of pharmacy skill set on 
in-patient units 

Implement a BSW-wide 
End of Life community 
prescription chart 

Complete CQC 
Controlled Drugs self-
assessment 

56.  We will deliver COVID-19 recovery (Quality 
Priority 5) 

Director of QPW 
(Sara Quarrie) 

Reduction in pressure 
ulcers across WHC 

Monitoring and 
management of long-
COVID patient needs 

IPC delivery at WHC is 
in line with standard and 
regulatory requirements, 
with consistent and 
timely advice. 

Improve Anti-microbial 
Stewardship across 
WHC 

Patient experience  
# Objectives  Lead Type 2021-2022 2022-2023 23-

24 
R
A
G: 

Objective KPI Narrative on current position  
(quarterly updates) 

Q
1 

Q
2 

Q
3 

Q
4 

H1 H2

ONGOING PRIORITIES 

57.  We will establish a Patient and Public 
Involvement Group involving staff, patients, 
and the public, and which has with close links 
to other engagement groups in the system 
(Q1). 

 We will use our Patient and Public 
Involvement Group to involve patients and the 
public in developing our services (throughout 
the year)  

Public and 
Patient 

Involvement 
Officer  

(Lina Middleton) 

We can evidence that 
the development of our 
services has been 
informed by the views of 
our patients and the 
public. 

58.  We will continue to build a shared 
understanding of what good patient and public 
involvement looks like with staff and 
stakeholders, involving a broad representation 
of community members.  

Public and 
Patient 

Involvement 
Officer  

(Lina Middleton) 

Friends and Family 
feedback. 
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59.  We will continue to have a patient centred 
approach to ensure that patients are 
empowered to live healthy and independent 
lives. 

Head of Patient 
Safety and 

Quality  
(Caroline Wylie) 

Patient satisfaction 
survey.  

Post incident reviews 
and learning. 

CQC reviews. 

Patient stories are 
routinely used at board 
meetings.  

60.  We will understand our patent demographic to 
ensure that our services are inclusive and 
accessible to all. This will include ensuring: 
- accessibility and readability of patient 

information.  
- that we understand the health inequality 

within our patient community 
- a plan to identify and reduce health 

inequalities 

Head of Patient 
Safety and 

Quality  
(Caroline Wylie) 

Intranet/ internet/ hard 
copy leaflets accesible.  

Our workforce is trained 
to support all patients 
who access services 
and that we are able to 
meet their needs. 

Publication of plan.

Financial sustainability and productivity/ environmental sustainability  
# Objectives  Lead Type 2021-2022 2022-2023 23-

24 
R
A
G 

Objective KPI Narrative on current position  
(quarterly updates) 

Q
1 

Q
2 

Q
3 

Q
4 

Q1-
2 

Q3-
4 

SERVICE DEVELOPMENTS

61.  We will embed strengthened procurement 
support.   

 Director of 
Finance 

(Annika Carroll) 

We have consistent 
access to procurement 
support when needed.  

62.  We will improve our analysis of the cost of 
delivering services.  

Director of 
Finance 

(Annika Carroll) 

We have an enhanced 
view on the costs of 
delivering components 
of our support services.  

ONGOING PRIORITIES 

63.  2.5% of our resources will be released from 
planned expenditure for reinvestment to 
support services. 

Annika Carroll 
(Director of 
Finance) 

Cost improvement plans 
in place and delivered. 

SUSTAINABILITY (“GREEN PLAN”) 

64.  We will seek to minimise travel through 
continued utilisation of digital platforms to 
contact and engage with patients and 
colleagues, and to undertake training.  

Managing 
Director 

(Douglas Blair) 

Staff mileage is reduced 
in 21/22 compared to 
19/20 (pre-Covid-19) 
levels. 

65.  We will continue to secure arrangements so 
that staff can access lease cars that are low or 
ultra-low emissions. 

Sarah 
Greenland 
(Contracts 
Manager) 

Maintain arrangements 
so that WHC can lease 
cars that are low or 
ultra-low emissions.  

66.  We will appoint a Board-level lead with “net 
zero” in their portfolio (by April 2022)  

Managing 
Director 

(Douglas Blair) 

WHC has a Board level 
lead with net zero in 
their portfolio. 

67.  We will implement increased promotion of our 
cycle to work scheme.  

Managing 
Director 

(Douglas Blair) 

Cycle to work scheme is 
actively promoted and 
staff know where to go 
to obtain information on 
how to join the scheme.  

68.  We will review the facilities for encouraging 
staff to cycle to work at WHC sites. 

Director of 
Infrastructure 

(Victoria 
Hamilton) 

All sites reviewed. 

69.  We will work with NHS Property Services to 
review the electric charging infrastructure
required to support net zero travel at WHC 
sites. 

Director of 
Infrastructure 

(Victoria 
Hamilton) 

Plan in place and 
progress being made by 
2023. 
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Wiltshire Health and Care Board For decision

Subject: Hosting of BSW Academy

Date of Meeting: 22 June 2021

Author: Douglas Blair, Managing Director and Katy Hamilton Jennings, 
Director of Governance and Legal

1. Purpose 

1.1 To seek the approval of the Operating Board for Wiltshire Health and Care LLP to act as host 
for the BSW Academy function. 

2. Background 

2.1 Board members will recall a business case for the establishment of a BSW Academy, which 
was circulated in April for any views.  The purpose of the BSW Academy, alongside the wider system 
capability workstream, is to act as a change engine and develop collective capability among the 
Partners, so that Partners are able to support and develop their workforce and are thus better placed 
to respond to tomorrow’s challenges. The BSW Academy has been endorsed by the BSW 
Partnership Executive, which took the view that the BSW Academy should be hosted by Wiltshire 
Health and Care LLP.  

3. Discussion 

3.1 Given that the BSW Academy is a function of the BSW Partnership with no commissioning 
entity, consideration has been given to the best way to establish the hosting arrangements, with 
sufficient clarity about the responsibilities of WHC, and those of all partners in terms of sharing any 
risk.  The attached document has therefore been drafted as a document to be agreed by the BSW 
System Capability and People Group, which is the group within the BSW partnership arrangements 
overseeing the BSW Academy.  As such the document is framed as being linked to the overarching 
principles set out in the BSW Memorandum of Understanding, which has been signed by all partners.  
This document is being presented for agreement by the group at its meeting on 18 June 2021.  The 
Operating Board is therefore being asked to ratify the arrangements following confirmation that this 
document has been agreed. 

3.2 As well as setting out detailed arrangements in the interests of clarity during the operation of 
the Academy, the most important aspect for WHC of any written document is to clarify and agree the 
approach to residual risk, in particular redundancy risk.  Although not a legally binding document, the 
agreement does set out an agreed approach, linked to principles that have been signed off as part of 
the BSW Partnership Memorandum of Understanding.  This is considered to be a suitable mitigation 
for this risk. 

3.3 At the time of writing this paper, the detailed financial schedule (Schedule 1) is not yet 
finalised, as further discussions with key individuals is required.  It is anticipated that this will be 
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complete in time to seek the agreement of the BSW System Capability and People Group on 18 
June.  An update will be provided to the Board.  It is anticipated that the scale of hosting 
arrangement in Year 1 will be relatively limited in nature with fewer than half a dozen staff requiring 
hosted, with a financial value of c£200k. 

4. Recommendation 

4.1 The Board is invited to: 

(a) Note that outcome of the BSW System Capability and People Group meeting on 18 
June 2021 (to be reported to the Board at its meeting);  

(b) Subject to being satisfied with the arrangements agreed, agree that Wiltshire Health 
and Care should act as host of the BSW Academy. 

Impacts and Links 

Impacts 

Quality Impact The hosting arrangement is not considered to have a negative effect on quality. 

Equality Impact One of the objectives of the BSW Academy is to combine efforts on inclusion. 

Financial 
implications 

The arrangements are being put in place to ensure that the hosting arrangements do not 
require cross-subsidisation from other WHC income. 

Impact on 
operational 
delivery of 
services 

The hosted BSW Academy team will be separate from community services operation.   

Regulatory/ 
legal 
implications 

None identified. 

Links 

Link to delivery 
plan 

The hosting of the BSW Academy is not part of the WHC Delivery Plan as it is and will 
be separate from the delivery of the community services contract. 

Links to known 
risks 

The BSW Academy is a partnership effort to provide focus on workforce, which is a 
major area of risk for all partner organisation, including WHC. 

Identification of 
new risks 

There are risks relating to residual redundancy and other liabilities.  It is considered that 
the proposed written agreements mitigate these risks to the level that they can be 
accepted. 
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Arrangements for hosting the BSW Academy 

Preamble 

A. As set out in the BSW Partnership Memorandum of Understanding (“the BSW 
Partnership MOU”), certain health and care providers across Bath and North East 
Somerset, Swindon, and Wiltshire (“BSW”), have agreed to act in a collaborative manner 
to achieve the goal of empowering people to lead their best life. The parties to the BSW 
Partnership MOU (“Partners”) have, in entering into the BSW Partnership MOU, formed 
the BSW Partnership. 

B. The BSW Partnership MOU sets out governance and accountability arrangements for 
how the Partners will work together. This includes setting out arrangements for a System 
Capability and People Group (“SCPG”), which, as part of its remit, is responsible for 
delivering the NHS People Plan across BSW.  

C. In line with its remit, the SCPG has proposed the establishment of the BSW Academy. 
The purpose of the BSW Academy, alongside the wider system capability workstream, is 
to act as a change engine and develop collective capability among the Partners, so that 
Partners are able to support and develop their workforce and are thus better placed 
to respond to tomorrow’s challenges. The BSW Academy has been endorsed by the 
BSW Partnership Executive, which took the view that the BSW Academy should be 
hosted by Wiltshire Health and Care (“WHC”).  

D. This document sets out the arrangements for hosting the BSW Academy by WHC, as 
endorsed by the SCPG. 

In the event the arrangements for hosting of the BSW Academy need to be amended, this 
document will be updated, with the agreement of WHC, and the revised arrangements 
agreed by the SCPG. 

1. Responsibilities  

SCPG 

1.1 The SCPG shall remain responsible for: 

i. setting, revising, and, if relevant, discontinuing the general principles relating 
to the BSW Academy; 

ii. setting, revising, and, if relevant, discontinuing the priorities, objectives, and 
the detailed delivery plan for the BSW Academy; 

iii. setting, revising, and, if relevant, discontinuing the financial principles
relevant to operating the Academy, and agreeing the funding model;   

iv. setting, revising, and, if relevant, discontinuing the terms of these hosting 
arrangements for the BSW Academy; and   
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v. reviewing the performance of the BSW Academy in relation to delivering its 
priorities, objectives, and the detailed delivery plan and shall be responsible 
for holding the Academy Director to account. 

1.2 The SCPG shall be responsible for making arrangements to ensure that WHC 
receives appropriate funding in relation to these hosting arrangements in accordance 
with paragraph 3.1.  

1.3 The SCPG shall be responsible for facilitating the necessary arrangements to ensure 
the liabilities under section 4 of these hosting arrangements are discharged.  

WHC 

1.4 WHC shall be responsible for employing, or hosting the secondment of, (i) an 
Academy Director; and (ii) staff members to carry out the core functions of the BSW 
Academy (collectively “Academy Staff”), and for ensuring that such Academy Staff 
are engaged on NHS Agenda for change terms and conditions.  The agreed staffing 
requirements for the BSW Academy are set out in Schedule 1. 

 However: 

a. Academy Staff shall work exclusively on the priorities, objectives, and the 
detailed delivery plan of the Academy, unless directed by the SCPG (via the 
Academy Director) to do otherwise 

b. Academy Staff shall work under the instruction of the Academy Director, and 
in accordance with the line management structure specified by the Academy 
Director (as updated from time to time).  

1.5 In relation Academy Staff, WHC shall be responsible for: 

i. providing laptops or alternative suitable IT equipment, access to an IT 
network, and printing facilities 

ii. providing office space in line with WHC’s applicable policies as updated from 
time to time 

iii. providing access to mandatory training 
iv. providing access to appropriate health and safety assessments, HR support, 

occupational health support, and WHC’s staff wellbeing services (and 
ultimately ensuring the health and safety of Academy Staff whilst at work); and  

v. securing adequate employer’s liability insurance to cover the BSW Academy 
function. 

vi. ensuring that any national funding received by WHC for Continued 
Professional Development that relates to Academy Staff is made available to 
the Academy so that the Academy Director can decide how this is used.  
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1.6 To ensure WHC is able to discharge its responsibilities under these hosting 
arrangements, the Academy Director and/or any member of the SCPG who becomes 
aware of any issues relating to the responsibilities set out in paragraph 1.5 above, 
shall promptly notify WHC’s Managing Director of such issues. 

1.7 WHC will provide a dedicated budget code and access to a financial ledger for the 
Academy function along with the necessary support for good budget management 
and best value procurement. This will include: 

i. a budget statement being produced by WHC at least quarterly 
ii. ad hoc procurement advice 
iii. finance support commensurate to that of other WHC budget managers 

The Academy Director

1.8 The Academy Director shall be responsible for reporting to the SCPG in relation to 
the operational and financial performance of the Academy. 

2. Accountabilities  

2.1 The Academy Director shall be accountable to the SCPG for the operational and 
financial performance of the BSW Academy.  

2.2 In the event that the Academy Director reasonably considers that the BSW Academy 
might exceed its budget within a given period, it must promptly notify the chair of the 
SCPG so that the SCPG had take a view on the appropriate action(s) to be taken.  

2.3 The Academy Director shall be accountable to WHC’s Managing Director in relation 
to the following matters in relation to all other Academy Staff: 

i. line management in line with WHC’s HR policies and procedures 
ii. the health and safety and wellbeing 
iii. compliance with mandatory training and WHC policies (as applicable to their 

activities) 

To enable the Academy Director to discharge this accountability, the person in this 
role shall meet with WHC’s Managing Director at least once a month.  The Managing 
Director will ensure that an annual appraisal is put in place for the Academy Director, 
with appraisal being led by the Chair of the SCPG, with WHC’s Managing Director 
contributing as shall be agreed, from time to time, between the chair of the SCPG and 
WHC’s Managing Director.  

2.4 The Chair of the SCPG shall notify WHC’s Managing Director of any performance or 
conduct concerns relating to the Academy Director in relation to their responsibilities 
set out in paragraph 1.8. 
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2.5 WHC’s Managing Director shall notify the Chair of the SCPG of any performance or 
conduct concerns relating to the accountabilities set out in paragraph 2.3.  

2.6 Any informal or formal action relating to performance or conduct of the Academy 
Director will only take place following a discussion between WHC’s Managing Director 
and the Chair of the SCPG.  

2.7 WHC’s Managing Director shall be the authorised signatory on all contractual 
commitments entered into by the BSW Academy. This function will be performed 
recognising the commitments that need to be entered into to give effect to the 
Academy’s objectives. 

3. Staffing requirements and Funding    

3.1 Schedule 1 sets out the staffing requirements and associated funding that WHC shall 
receive in order to host the BSW Academy.  An updated schedule will be agreed by 
both WHC and the SCPG at least annually, or, at any other time if decisions are 
made by the SCPG that seek to expand or modify the remit of the BSW Academy.   

4. Liabilities 

4.1 In line with: 

i. the principle of ‘Partnership Mutual Accountability' set out on pages 10 and 11 
of the BSW Partnership MOU, whereby all Partners agree to take a 
collaborative approach to, and collective responsibility for, managing the BSW 
system’s collective performance, resources, and population health; and  

ii. the principles for financial risk set out on pages 13 and 14 of the BSW 
Partnership MOU, whereby all Partners agree to work together, manage risk 
together, and support each other financially when required, 

Partners shall be collectively liable for, and will pay WHC for, the following: 

(a) any spend of the BSW Academy exceeding its own budget in a given financial 
year;  

(b) the costs associated with the redundancy of any Academy Staff; and 
(c) any payment that WHC pays to a third party in connection with any act or 

omission of Academy Staff, and any costs of WHC related to claims or 
disputes arising from those acts or omissions. 

4.2 To mitigate the risk associated with 4.1(b), it is acknowledged that in line with the 
spirit of the BSW Partnership MOU, Partners would collectively consider alternative 
options to redundancy in the first instance, such as redeployment into suitable 
alternative roles across partner organisations.  
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Schedule 1 – Staffing requirements and associated costs of hosting the BSW 
Academy  

Schedule 1 sets out the staffing requirements and associated funding that WHC shall receive 
in order to host the BSW Academy. An updated schedule will be agreed by both WHC and 
the SCPG at least annually, or, at any other time if decisions are made by the SCPG that 
seek to expand or modify the remit of the BSW Academy.   

Band WTE

Overheads 

Direct 
cost 

Dept 
mgmt 
O/H 

Total 
Direct 
Costs 

Corporate  
O/H 

2021-22 
Annual 
Cost of 

recurrent 
resources 

£ 

2021-22 
Part Year 
Cost £ (7 
Months) 

Factor Actual 10% 6% 
Pay costs 

Academy Director 9 1.00 
116,590 11,659 128,249 7,695  135,944 79,301

Project Manager (7 
months of 12 month 
fixed term in 2021/22) 

8b 1.00 
39,438 

-    39,438  2,366  41,804
Pillar Lead (currently 
vacant CCG post) 

8b 1.00 
67,607 -    67,607  4,056  71,664 41,804

Administrator 4 1.00 
30,029 -    30,029  1,802  31,831 18,568

2 x CCG Seconded 
Posts  

2.00 
- -    -    -    0 0

Total Pay 6.00 253,665 11,659 265,324 15,919   239,439 181,477

Non-pay costs 

IT Equipment 5,385 0 5,385 323   5,708
Mobile Phone 

Purchase 1,987 0 1,987 119   2,106
Mobile Phone Line 

rental 815 0 815 49   864 504

Travel 3,000 0 3,000 180   3,180 1,855

Print budget 2,000 0 2,000 120   2,120 1,237
Branding and 

Marketing Collateral 10,000 0 10,000 600   10,600 6,183
Ongoing Comms and 

Promotion 2,500 0 2,500 150   2,650 1,546
Licence cost for 

comms 1,100 0 1,100 66   1,166 680

Total non-pay 26,787 0 26,787 1,607   20,580 19,819

 Total 280,451 11,659 292,110 17,527 260,019 201,296 

This 6% corporate overhead covers standard overheads such as HR, payroll, IT, estates and occupational health, 
but does not include support from supplementary services such as Informatics, Information Governance, 
Communications and Engagement or substantial financial management support. 
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Wiltshire Health and Care Board For decision

Subject: Audit Committee Highlight Report & Recommendation for the 
Adoption of the Financial Statements 20/21

Date of Meeting: 22 June 2021

Author: Martyn Burke – Chair of Audit Committee

1 Introduction  

The Audit Committee (AC) is a sub-committee of Wiltshire Health and Care’s (WHC) Board. This 
paper summarises the key issues considered by the Audit Committee at its meeting on 25 May 2021, 
which it is considered should be drawn to the attention of the full Board and formally requests the 
approval of the 20/21 Annual Financial Statements and Reports and also ratification of the SFI’s.     

2 Advise 

2.1 Year End Reporting & Audit of the Financial Statements 2020/21 

The AC received and reviewed the draft financial statements, management representation letters to 
the auditors, KPMG’s External Audit opinion and ISA 260 report. The AC also received the annual 
report and opinion from the Internal Auditor on the adequacy of the control environment and the 
annual report of the Counter Fraud specialist.  

The AC was pleased to see that from the external audit process - no errors were highlighted, no 
actual or suspected fraud had been detected, that there were no points of disagreement or difficulties 
with the auditors, and only one adjusting item had needed a re-statement in its classification but with 
a net nil impact on the Balance Sheet (a creditor classification for Soft FM).  

The external auditors confirmed that no significant findings had arisen from their review of the 
significant risk areas (fraudulent revenue recognition/fraudulent expenditure recognition/management 
override).  

The AC and the external auditors were sufficiently reassured that WH&C remains a going concern – 
evident in the positive net asset position and strong cash balances in the accounts and also having 
seen the detailed work and necessary assurances on medium term cash flows and ongoing financial 
performance (tabled at May Board) - albeit recognising a degree of uncertainty exists in NHS 
planning regimes currently as a result of Covid impacts. The external auditor confirmed that no 
specific representations in addition to those normally required will be asked for from management. 

It was confirmed that the accounts have been prepared on a consistent basis with no changes to 
accounting policies and remains aligned to the LLP requirements, and exemptions, to comply with 
UK GAAP specifically FRS102 LLP SORP and the Companies Act 2006. 

Following a detailed review the AC did request some minor revisions to the draft financial statements 
and still required visibility of the members report but, subject to no new material matters arising from 
the residual audit activity, were happy that once these items were included and satisfied - the 
statements should be circulated to AC members before tabling to the Board meeting on 22nd June for 
formal adoption as a true and fair view of WH&C’s financial performance in 20/21. The full final 
accounts, including the members report, carbon disclosure and audit opinion were subsequently 
reviewed and approved to progress for formal adoption at Board by the AC membership in mid June. 
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The AC thanked the Finance Director and the Audit teams for their work to date in completing the 
audit and for the transparency of progress throughout the audit however we should seek to mutually 
improve disciplines on the final AC review timings for 2022. 

2.2 Internal Audit Annual Report 20/21 and Annual Statement of Assurance 

The AC received BDO’s annual assurance report and statement. During the year 20/21 the internal 
audit team sought assurances on the internal controls, governance and risk management disciplines 
in the following areas; 

 Business Continuity Planning,  
 Key Financial Systems, 
 Materials Management and  
 Data Security & Protection Toolkit.  

The ensuing findings and recommendations for improvement were provided promptly to 
management and the AC accordingly. The auditors had no restrictions placed upon them and 
complied with Public sector Internal Audit standards. 

Overall the Internal Auditor has provided a Moderate assurance that there is a sound system of 
controls designed to meet the LLP’s objectives and that controls are applied consistently (this is a 
second tier rating after ‘substantial’ and ranks above ‘Limited’ or ‘None’) . Key highlights noted by the 
Internal Auditor were as follows:- 

 The Key Financial Systems review provided substantial assurance over both design and 
operational effectiveness 

 Business continuity testing identified areas for improvement (on testing and training) 
 The LLP has a good track record of implementing auditor recommendations and monitoring 

progress however the AC feels that this needs to remain a key area of focus in 21/22 
 A robust financial performance yielding a surplus 
 Establishing an Audit committee in 2021  
 There were no limited assurance reports in 20/21 

2.3 Counter Fraud Annual Report 20/21 

The AC received the annual counter fraud report which, due to it being a transition year, had to self-
evaluate for 20/21 against both the old NHSCFA standards and the new Government Functional 
standards on Counter Fraud. Overall we rated as Green in April 21 against the NHSCFA areas of 
activity with a strong track record on governance, inform and involve and prevent and deter but 
amber on hold to account due to the lack of outcomes based evidence . 

Against the newly introduced criteria – and after critical review with the FD and AC - we recorded a 
balanced scorecard with 4 ambers and 8 greens with those areas requiring further evolution being 
Strategy, Response Plans, identified losses and the development of outcome based metrics. The AC 
has approved the strategic plan of activity in line with the new requirements. 

The AC was pleased to see that WH&C had appointed its executive Fraud Champion in line with the 
new accountability and governance requirements 

The AC also noted the following highlights from the activity in 20/21… 

 Prompt adaptation of plans cognisant of the fraud risk in a covid environment 
 Engagement - Delivery of e-learning training to colleagues & Annual counter fraud survey  
 Potential fraud risks added to risk registers and emerging threats highlighted to colleagues 
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 Proactive reviews of conflicts of interest, Procurement processes and Invoice Matching  
 Investigated two potential fraud allegations 

2.4 Control Regime - Standing Financial Instructions (SFI’s)  

The AC reviewed and approved the final draft of the comprehensive document of financial controls, 
thanked Annika Carroll for co-ordinating it’s production and bringing it to fruition. The AC discussed 
the plans and timelines for roll out within WH&C. It was agreed to evaluate progress in October. The 
AC unanimously agreed that now the committee has approved the SFI’s they should now go to 
Board for ratification.

2.5 Risk Review  

The AC continues to routinely review the risk assurance processes in WH&C and in May reviewed 
again the current 12+ risks and also the emerging risks. It was noted that there was a new risk at 12+ 
level relating to the aged hardware network servers within WH&C but that management were taking 
action to replace end of life assets and approve the necessary investment to remedy. The two others 
remain risk 57 pertaining to patient falls and risk 202 for surge planning for other impacts of C19 or 
other untoward events. The emerging risks primarily relate to uncertainty in the national financial 
planning regime as a result of covid and capacity in the Finance team.

2.6 Deep dive – Workforce Training  

Hanna Mansell (HM) provided assurance to the AC relating to the processes for ensuring colleagues 
are suitably trained to fulfil their duties. HM confirmed that Statutory and Mandatory training 
compliance is tracked through the system and aligned nationally. This is shared monthly at the 
Executive Committee. Bank worker compliance had been low due to historical tracking and lack of 
support; these gaps have now been filled and the compliance is improving. 

HM confirmed that monthly dashboards and quality report give overarching views of trends and wider 
issues to be highlighted. External leadership courses/courses are discussed via appraisal and would 
sit with line managers but are monitored via the CPD panel.  HM confirmed that there was not a 
backlog for the Change of Assignment (COA process) for staff changing roles/training requirement 
and that the incident response training used to be captured via GWH but would now be via WHC role 
essential training. The AC thanked HM for a comprehensive report.

2.6 Frailty Strategy (Follow up to Risk 57 Patient Falls)  

Rachel Taylor gave a brief overview of the Frailty Plan and RB was pleased to hear that RT had 
been liaising with the Public and Patient Involvement Officer and that it would be useful to update at 
the Quality Assurance Committee too.  RT confirmed that she was keen to develop a Frailty 
Dashboard and had been working alongside Anne-Marie Nuth with the Falls Improvement Plan. 

2.7 The Annual Quality Account Report 20/21 

The Quality Account was not available in time for the AC meeting in May but was subsequently 
reviewed and approved offline by the AC Chair and RB in June with amends reflected accordingly. 

It was accepted that the quality account represented a comprehensive and transparent overview of 
quality performance in 20/21, a difficult year dominated by covid impacts, and gave good outline of 
the prioritised intentions to continuously improve our service quality in future. 

It was recognised that there had been good engagement with the Exec and other third party 
stakeholders in compiling this report - however the AC Chair has requested improvements in the 
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process of assurance for this important annual statement to ensure the rigour of a full AC meeting 
review in 2022 prior to Board ratification and ultimate submission. SQ agreed to collaborate with 
MB/RB to align timelines accordingly to ensure this discipline occurs.  

The AC will continue to seek reassurance on quality matters via routine monitoring of the minutes, 
receiving regular updates from QAC throughout the year, undertaking any deep dives and directing 
internal audit activity as necessary in order to ensure processes for control and risk management are 
adequate. 

2.8 Future Deep Dives 

The AC is currently seeking a deep dive on the learnings post covid linked to business resilience  – 
we are awaiting confirmation from management on the date that this will come to AC.   

A further deep dive is to be scoped and scheduled on understanding the adequacy of the processes 
for ensuring compliance on safety matters for our workforce from both an Estates perspective (e.g. 
fire safety/asbestos/gas safety/legionella/electrical safety/building safety etc etc) and also lone 
worker policy.  

3 Alert 

3.1 There are no alerts.  

4 Action 

4.1 Following a comprehensive programme of work that has yielded satisfactory assurances from 
the External Auditor, management, counter fraud and the Internal Auditor - coupled with the 
AC’s own review of the draft statements and audit progress in March, May and June- the AC 
recommends that the Board approves and signs the annual financial statements and reports. 

4.2 The Board is recommended to ratify the adoption of the SFI’s. 

4.3 The Board is requested to note the content of this report. 

5 Date of next meeting  

5.1 The next meeting of the Audit Committee is on 20 July 2021 10:00-13:00 
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Wiltshire Health and Care Board For decision

Subject: External Audit Report and Financial Statements (2020/21)

Date of Meeting: 22 June 2021

Author: Annika Carroll

1. Purpose 

The purpose of this paper is: 

 As per the recommendation made by the Audit Committee, the purpose of this paper is to 
seek the Board’s approval to the Annual Report and Accounts for 20/21. 

 Ask the Board to delegate the task of signing-off the Annual Report and Accounts to the 
Managing Director. 

 Ask the Board to approve the signature of the proposed letter of representation.  

To support the Board in the above, the Annual Report and Accounts and the unsigned letter of 
representation are presented alongside the External Audit report. 

2. Background and Discussion  

The External Audit report from KPMG is attached.  KPMG will be present at the meeting to present 
their findings.   

Key points to note:  

 No new recommendations have been raised during the audit. 

 Recommendations from previous years have been closed. 

3. Recommendation 

3.1 The Board is invited to: 

A. Approve the Annual Accounts for 2020/21 as recommended by the Audit Committee. 

B. Agree the Letter of Representation and delegate authorisation to the Managing Director 
to sign the Letter of Representation and financial statements, for and on behalf of the 
LLP. 



Year end 
report 2020/21
Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

22 June 2021

I confirm that this is the final version of our ISA 260 Audit Memorandum relating to our audit 
of the 2020/21 financial statements for Wiltshire Health and Care LLP. This document was 
discussed and approved by the Audit Committee on 25 May 2021, and subsequently 
updated to resolve the outstanding items at that date.

…………………………………………….
Rees Batley

Director, for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
66 Queen Square, Bristol, BS1 4BE

22 June 2021

Our audit opinions and conclusions: Financial Statements: unqualified
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To the Audit Committee of Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

We are pleased to have the opportunity to meet with you on 22 June 2021 to discuss 
the results of our audit of the financial statements of Wiltshire Health and Care LLP 
(the ‘LLP’), as at and for the year ended 31 March 2021. 

We are providing this report in advance of our meeting to enable you to consider our 
findings and hence enhance the quality of our discussions. This report should be read 
in conjunction with our audit plan and strategy report, presented in March 2021. We 
will be pleased to elaborate on the matters covered in this report when we meet.

Our audit is complete. We expect to issue an unmodified Auditor’s Report on the 
financial statements.

We draw your attention to the important notice on page 3 of this report, which 
explains:

• The purpose of this report; 

• Limitations on work performed; and

• Restrictions on distribution of this report.

Yours faithfully,

Rees Batley

4 June 2019

How we have delivered audit quality

Audit quality is at the core of everything we do at KPMG and we believe that it is not 
just about reaching the right opinion, but how we reach that opinion. Some of the 
ways in which we drive audit quality are demonstrated throughout our report and 
include:

Contents

Important notice 3

1. Summary 4

2. Financial statements audit 6

Appendix 12

Introduction

Understanding 
the LLP

Robust 
challenge

Quality 
reviews
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Important notice 

This report is presented under 
the terms of our audit 
engagement letter.

— Circulation of this report is 
restricted.

— The content of this report 
is based solely on the 
procedures necessary for 
our audit.

This Report has been prepared 
for the LLP’s Board, in order to 
communicate matters of 
interest as required by ISAs 
(UK), and other matters coming 
to our attention during our audit 
work that we consider might be 
of interest, and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone (beyond that which 
we may have as auditors) for 
this Report, or for the opinions 
we have formed in respect of 
this Report.

Purpose of this report

This Report has been prepared in connection with our audit of the financial statements of Wiltshire Health and Care LLP (the ‘LLP’), 
prepared in accordance with FRS102 LLP SORP, as at and for the year ended 31 March 2021.  This report summarises the key issues 
identified during our audit but does not repeat matters we have previously communicated to you. 

Limitations on work performed

This Report is separate from our audit report and does not provide an additional opinion on the LLP’s financial statements, nor does it add 
to or extend or alter our duties and responsibilities as auditors.  We have not designed or performed procedures outside those required of 
us as auditors for the purpose of identifying or communicating any of the matters covered by this Report.

The matters reported are based on the knowledge gained as a result of being your auditors. We have not verified the accuracy or 
completeness of any such information other than in connection with and to the extent required for the purposes of our audit.

Status of our audit

Our audit is complete.

Restrictions on distribution

The report is provided on the basis that it is only for the information of the LLP Board; that it will not be quoted or referred to, in whole or in 
part, without our prior written consent; and that we accept no responsibility to any third party in relation to it.



Summary
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Section one

Financial statements audit - our summary findings

Significant audit risk
Risk change 
(since PY)

Our findings

Fraud risk from revenue 
recognition

Stable
The results of our testing were satisfactory and we have 
not identified any issues with the revenue recognition. 

Fraud risk from 
expenditure recognition

Stable
The results of our testing were satisfactory. We have not 
identified any issues with the expenditure recognition. 

Management Override of 
Controls

Stable We have not identified any instances of override of control.

Uncorrected audit 
misstatements

Page 17-19

Number of Control deficiencies  Page 15

Significant control deficiencies

Other control deficiencies

Prior year control deficiencies 
remediated

Whole of Government Accounts

We are in process of finalising this assessment, 
and do not intend to issue an any issues to the 
NAO regarding the Whole of Government 
Accounts submission, or GAAP differences, made 
through the submission of the summarisation 
schedules to Department of Health and Social 
Care. 

0

0

2

Significant audit risks                                                             Page 9-11

Representations
You are required to provide us with representations on specific matters such as your going concern 
assertion.  We have included a draft of this representation letter to the withing our AC papers.  We draw 
your attention to the requirement in our representation letter for you to confirm to us that you have 
disclosed all relevant related parties to us.  We are not asking management to provide any specific 
representations.

Accounts Production
We produced a prepared by client list to summarise the working papers and evidence we ask you to collate 
as part of preparation of the financial statements. We discussed and tailored our request with the finance 
team. 

We received complete draft accounts on 4 May 2021. The members report, accounting policies, accounting 
estimates and financial statement disclosures are in line with the requirements of the LLP SORP.

We are required to report on differences over £300,000 between the financial statements and the 
consolidation schedule to the NAO, as well as reporting on differences over £1 million between FRS 102 
LLP SORP and IFRS DHSC GAM to the DHSC. We have not identified any differences to report.

We thank the finance team for their co-operation throughout the visit which allowed the audit to progress 
and complete within the allocated timeframe.

We have not identified any unadjusted audit 
differences in our work to date that impact on 
the reported financial performance of the LLP.



Financial 
Statements 
Audit
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Financial statements audit – COVID-19: Audit implications
Section one

Materiality – Materiality this year is higher than in a normal year to reflect the increased level of income/expenditure at the LLP. Materiality was considered 
on a normalised basis, with additional one off funding such as Covid-19 top up funding was removed from the benchmark used to calculate 
materiality to allow materiality to not be artificially inflated by the non-recurrent funding received, however the impact did not significantly 
change the value proposed at planning, therefore no changes were made.

– We can confirm that we have completed all our audit work to the materiality that we proposed at the planning stage of the audit, which was a 
total materiality of £1.2m, performance materiality of £900k with an audit differences posting threshold of £60k.

Subsequent 
events 
disclosures

– Due to the rapidly evolving situation, we considered the impact of events subsequent to the reporting date to determine whether subsequent 
events should be reflected (adjusting) vs. disclosed (non-adjusting) in the financial statements. We did not identify any subsequent events.

Going 
concern 

– The required enhanced procedures under the revised ISA (UK) 570 on your risk assessment process and the fact that we need to perform 
procedures through to the date of the auditors’ report, which is due to be later than in prior years, meant a different approach in this key area.

– Practice Note 10 (and the Group Accounting Manual) have been updated during the year to reiterate the continuation of services principal and 
therefore, despite the ongoing uncertainty of funding, however this does not formally apply to the LLP. We have considered the wider context 
around NHS planning and the current delays as part of the Going Concern assessment, we conclude with managements assessment that there 
is no material uncertainty around the Going Concern status of the LLP.

Obtaining 
sufficient
appropriate
audit 
evidence

– There was an extension to the standard timetable (to 2 July 2021) for the completion of our audit to enable us to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence to support our audit opinion. We anticipate this later deadline to be applied for future periods. This was made for all providers 
and was to allow auditors more time to:

– modify audit procedures when expected audit evidence was unavailable;

– collate external confirmations or perform alternative audit procedures;

– allow further time for the settlement of invoices; or

– allow for delays in the completion of component audits.

We anticipate that the audit will be completed in early June with minimal COVID-19 impact on approach..

The table below identifies the specific areas of our audit that were expected to be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, and how our audit differs from those prior to 
the pandemic. 
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Fraudulent revenue recognition 

The risk

̶ Professional standards require us to 
make a rebuttable presumption that 
the fraud risk from revenue 
recognition is a significant risk.

̶ We recognise that the incentives in 
the NHS differ significantly to those in 
the private sector which have driven 
the requirement to make a rebuttable 
presumption that this is a significant 
risk. These incentives in the NHS 
include the requirement to meet 
regulatory and financial covenants, 
rather than broader share based 
management concerns.

̶ As the majority of the LLPs income for 
2020-21 has been contracted and 
paid on a block basis we rebut the 
presumed fraud risk over income 
received from within the NHS 
boundary during the year. Therefore 
the risk relates to revenue recognition 
around the period end, and revenue 
from outside the NHS boundary.

Significant audit risk
Response

Our work focused on the completeness, existence and accuracy 
of the balances recorded within the financial statements.

̶ We tested the design and implantation of controls related to 
revenue recognition process;

̶ We completed sample testing of invoices for material credit 
notes in the period following 31 March 2021 to determine 
whether income is recognised in the correct accounting 
period;

̶ We tested material non NHS income balances by agreeing a 
sample of income transactions through to supporting 
documentation and bank balances; and

̶ In 2020/21 the LLP participated in the Agreement of 
Balances (AoB) exercise with other NHS organisations. We 
review these third party confirmations from your 
commissioners and compared the values they are disclosing 
within their financials statements to the value of income 
captured in your financial statements. Seeking  explanations 
for any variances, the remaining variances are discussed on 
page 18.

Financial statements audit – significant risks
Section one

Outcome from audit work

The results of our testing have been satisfactory, 
with no issues raised. 
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The risk

̶ The setting of fixed funding envelope 
for the system can create an incentive 
for management to understate the 
level of non-pay expenditure around 
the period end, due to the pressures 
on the LLP, or its Trust members to 
operate within the funding receive.

̶ We consider this would be most likely 
to occur through understatement of 
accruals at the end of the year to defer 
expenditure to the following year. This 
risk relates to the completeness of 
non-pay, non-depreciation expenditure

Response

Our review of heightened fraudulent expenditure recognition 
focused on non-pay and non-depreciation operating expenses, in 
particular we completed the following procedures: 

̶ We assessed the design and implementation of controls for 
reviewing manual expenditure accruals at the end of the year;

̶ We inspected invoices for material expenditure, in the period 
immediately prior to and following 31 March 2021, to 
determine whether expenditure has been recognised in the 
correct accounting period;

̶ We selected a sample of year end accruals and inspected 
supporting evidence to assess whether the accrual is 
appropriate and had been accurately recorded;

̶ We compared the items that were accrued at 31 March 2020 
to those accrued at 31 March 2021 in order to assess whether 
any items had significantly increased, to ensure were 
inappropriately accrued for; 

̶ We inspected journals posted as part of the year end close 
procedures that increase the level of expenditure recorded in 
order to critically assess whether there was an appropriate 
basis for posting the journal and the value could be agreed to 
supporting evidence; and

̶ We assessed the outcome of the agreement of balances 
exercise with CCGs and other NHS providers and compared 
the values reported to the value of expenditure captured in 
the financial statements. We will seek explanations for any 
variances over £60k, and all balances in dispute.

Financial statements audit – significant risks
Section one

Fraudulent non-pay expenditure recognition 

Outcome from audit work

We note the LLP has high level controls in place 
designed to detect misstatement of accruals 
(such as monthly review of management 
accounts) and we understand year on year 
comparisons are undertaken as part of 
preparation of the financial statements. However 
these controls are not formally documented, 
and/or lack the detailed precision to be required 
to meet the management review control 
requirements as defined by Auditing Standards. 
As such we have not been able to confirm the 
operating effectiveness of these controls, and 
performed a substantive approach to our testing. 
We are not raising a formal control observation in 
this regard, and consider the Trust existing 
controls to be proportionate to address the 
associated risk, as accruals is associated with 
our significant risk, we are required to bring this 
matter to your attention.

The results of our testing have been satisfactory, 
with no issues raised.

Significant audit risk
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The risk

̶ Professional standards require us to 
communicate the fraud risk from 
management override of controls as 
significant.

̶ Management is in a unique position to 
perpetrate fraud because of their 
ability to manipulate accounting 
records and prepare fraudulent 
financial statements by overriding 
controls that otherwise appear to be 
operating effectively.

̶ We have not identified any specific 
additional risks of management 
override relating to this audit.

Response

Our audit methodology incorporates the risk of management 
override as a default significant risk.

̶ In line with our methodology, we evaluated the design and 
implementation, and operating effectiveness of controls over 
journal entries and post-closing adjustments.

̶ We assessed the appropriateness of changes compared to 
the prior year to the methods and underlying assumptions 
used to prepare accounting estimates.

̶ We assessed the appropriateness of the accounting for 
significant transactions that are outside the component's 
normal course of business, or are otherwise unusual.

̶ We assessed the full population of relevant journal entries to 
identify journals displaying high risk characteristics. We 
followed up each of these journals in order to assess the 
appropriateness and accuracy of the transaction posted.

Financial statements audit – significant risks
Section one

Management override of controls

Outcome from audit work

We tested the authorisation process for posting 
manual journals, with no issues noted.

We did not identify any significant unusual 
transactions

The results of our testing have been satisfactory.

Significant audit risk
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Financial statements audit – other matters
Section one

Compliance with ISA 260: We are required under ISA 260 to communicate to you any matters specifically required by other auditing standards to be communicated to those 
charged with governance; and any other audit matters of governance interest. ISA 260 also requires us to communicate to you any information that we believe is relevant to 
understanding our rationale and the supporting evidence for the exercise of our professional judgement. This includes our view of:  Business risks relevant to the financial 
reporting objectives, the application of materiality and the impact of our judgements on these areas for the overall audit strategy and audit plan; significant accounting policies 
and any other matters identified during the course of the audit. We have not identified any other matters to specifically report.

Brexit disclosures: Members report: In the course of our audit work we assessed the quality of your disclosures in the Business Review in relation to Brexit in addition to 
assessing the quality of disclosures generally. The impact of Brexit on the NHS predominantly leads to risks around the cost of pharmaceuticals, medical devices and potential 
impact on the NHS workforce.  Subject to our final review of the financial statements, we anticipate concluding that the disclosures provide a clear description of the nature of the 
impact on the business model and strategy, the impact of economic/political changes on the current year and future performance of the business, the principal risks arising from 
Brexit and how these are monitored. 

Energy and Carbon Report: This was a new requirement in the previous year for large LLPs. We raised no amendments to the report.

Type Status Response

Our declaration of independence ISA 260 also requires us to make an annual declaration that we are in a position of sufficient independence 
and objectivity to act as your auditors, which we completed at planning and no further work or matters have 
arisen since then.

No matters to report. The engagement team and others in the firm, as appropriate, have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

Provide a statement to the NAO on your 
consolidation schedule

This “Whole of Government Accounts” requirement is fulfilled when we check your summarisation scheduled 
are consistent with your annual accounts.  We have completed that work and found no matters to report.

Certify the audit as complete We are required to certify the audit as complete when we have fulfilled all of our responsibilities relating to 
the accounts as well as those other matters highlighted above.

OK

OK

OK
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Type Response

Our draft management representation 
letter

We have not requested any specific representations in addition to those areas normally covered by our standard 
representation letter for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Adjusted audit differences There was one adjusted audit differences, with nil net impact to the surplus. See page 17.

Unadjusted audit differences There was no unadjusted audit differences

Related parties There were no significant matters that arose during the audit in connection with the entity's related parties. 

Other matters warranting attention by 
the Audit Committee

There were no matters to report arising from the audit that, in our professional judgment, are significant to the 
oversight of the financial reporting process.

Control deficiencies We communicated to management in writing all deficiencies (see pages 5 and 15) in internal control over financial 
reporting of a lesser magnitude than significant deficiencies identified during the audit that had not previously been 
communicated during a meeting on 18 May 2021.

Actual or suspected fraud, 
noncompliance with laws or regulations 
or illegal acts

No actual or suspected fraud involving management, employees with significant roles in internal control, or where 
fraud results in a material misstatement in the financial statements was identified during the audit.

Significant difficulties No significant difficulties were encountered during the audit.

Modifications to auditor’s report No modifications required.

OK

OK

OK

OK

OK

OK

OK

OK

OK

Required communications with the Audit Committee
Appendix One
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Type Response

Disagreements with management or 
scope limitations

The engagement team had no disagreements with management and no scope limitations were imposed by 
management during the audit.

Other information We have found no issues within the Members Report.

Breaches of independence No matters to report. The engagement team have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence.

Accounting practices Over the course of our audit, we have evaluated the appropriateness of the LLP‘s accounting policies, accounting 
estimates and financial statement disclosures. In general, we believe these are appropriate. 

Significant matters discussed or 
subject to correspondence with 
management

The significant matters arising from the audit were discussed, or subject to correspondence, with management.

Certify the audit as complete We are required to certify the audit as complete when we have fulfilled all of our responsibilities relating to the 
accounts and use of resources as well as those other matters highlighted above.

Standard representations requested We have requested the standard letter of management representation.

OK

OK

OK

OK

OK

OK

Required communications with the Audit Committee
Appendix One

OK
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The recommendations raised as a result of our work in the current year are as follows:

No recommendations have been raised at this stage of the audit. We have also followed up the one recommendation from the previous years audit, in summary:

Appendix Two

Recommendations raised and follow up

Priority rating for recommendations

 Priority one: issues that are fundamental and 
material to your system of internal control. We 
believe that these issues might mean that you 
do not meet a system objective or reduce 
(mitigate) a risk.

 Priority two: issues that have an important 
effect on internal controls but do not need 
immediate action. You may still meet a system 
objective in full or in part or reduce (mitigate) a 
risk adequately but the weakness remains in 
the system. 

 Priority three: issues that would, if corrected, 
improve the internal control in general but are 
not vital to the overall system. These are 
generally issues of best practice that we feel 
would benefit you if you introduced them.

# Risk Issue, Impact and Recommendation Management Response May 2020 Current Status (May 2021)

Financial Statements

1  Income authorisation

Issue

The two main revenue streams for the LLP are contract 
income and NCA income. There are no consistent 
controls in place across the two revenue streams. The 
LLP maintains a contract register, but the contracts have 
not been formally signed at the time of the audit. In 
addition invoices are raised without prior or subsequent 
authorisation. 

Recommendation

There is a risk of invoicing error as the income is not 
regularly reconciled and there is no segregation of duties 
in relation to invoicing. We recommend that consistent 
controls are implemented to cover all revenue streams, 
either via invoice authorisation or retrospective income 
reconciliations. 

The contracts register was reviewed for the year ended 
31/03/2020. The recommendation was closed and the ability 
to place reliance on the controls were decided to be 
considered as part of the next years audit. 

A payment was traced through from raising to payment, the 
process was followed as per the WHC policy, and payment 
was raised in line with contract, and income schedule. There 
were also reconciliations performed to contract.

For KPMG to have relied on a revenue control, we needed to 
review formal evidence of invoice authorisation (where 
completely for all invoices), or a formal monthly reconciliation 
control which is fully documented. We were unable to verify if 
these are in place for the whole period and across all types 
of revenue, but note the processes in place the LLP for the l 
were deemed sufficient for the nature of the contract.

We tested the design and implementation of 
the income controls via flowcharting the 
process and doing a walkthrough. We 
concluded that the controls were designed 
effectively.

Due to the nature of the income process, 
through large block payments we did not 
deem it efficient to select a sample of 
approvals to test and rely on the operating 
effectiveness of the control

Closed
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Appendix Two

Recommendations followed up (continued)

# Risk Issue, Impact and Recommendation Management Response May 2019 Current Status (May 2021)

Financial Statements

2  Journals authorisation

Issue

We tested a sample of 25 journal entries posted during 
the period for appropriate authorisation. Two of the 
journals sampled have not been properly signed off and 
so the control is deemed ineffective. 

Recommendation 

We recommend that all journals follow the same 
process and less batch journals are posted to aid more 
effective review and check if the correct codes are 
included in the journal (See Recommendation Five).

Due to system constraints, all journals have had to be 
uploaded through the finance support team and therefore 
reliant on manual authorisation processes. The two 
unsigned journals were the first journals posted through this 
process following the go live of the new Unit 4 system.

Progress has been made during May 2019 with regard to 
online access for the WHC finance team to enable direct 
posting of journals electronically. This is expected to be in 
place imminently and will allow a check for coding on 
posting and mandate electronic approval. 
In addition, all journals will be categorised in standard 
categories to improve oversight and management and will 
reduce the size of each journal.

We tested the design and implementation of 
the income controls via flowcharting the 
process and doing a walkthrough. We 
concluded that the controls were designed 
effectively.

We selected a sample of 25 journals with no 
issues found, therefore we were able to rely 
on the operating effectiveness of the control.

Closed
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Under UK auditing standards (ISA (UK) 260) we are required to provide the Audit Committee with a summary of unadjusted audit differences (including disclosure 
misstatements) identified during the course of our audit, other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’, which are not reflected in the financial statements. In line with ISA (UK) 450 
we request that you correct uncorrected misstatements. However, they will have no effect on the opinion in our auditor’s report, individually or in aggregate. As communicated 
previously with the Audit Committee, details of all adjustments greater than £60k are shown below:

Under UK auditing standards (ISA UK 260) we are required to provide the Audit Committee with a summary of adjusted audit differences (including disclosures) identified during 
the course of our audit. There are no unadjusted audit differences the financial statements.

We have raised several presentational adjustments.

Appendix Three

Audit Differences

Adjusted audit differences (£m)

No. Detail SOCI Dr/(cr) SOFP Dr/(cr) Comments 

1 Dr Accrued Income

Cr Trade Creditors

£5.5m

-

-

(£5.5m)

Soft FM charges have accrued for the past two years due to uncertainty over who 
owns the cost. Whilst reflective of the position at the time in the previous financial 
statements, a settlement has now been agreed on the matter. The balance will be 
repaid back to the CCG post year end. The balance was included as a negative 
accrued income in the draft accounts, however it is a creditor balance, and has been 
remapped to Trade Creditors.

Total - -
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Appendix Three

Audit Differences (continued)

Agreement of Balances 

We are required to report any inconsistencies greater than £300,000 between the signed audited accounts and the consolidation data and details of any unadjusted errors or 
uncertainties in the data provided for intra-group and intra-government balances and transactions regardless of whether a LLP is a sampled or non-sampled component. We 
have provided details of the inconsistencies that we are reporting to the NAO below, plus those over our misstatement reporting threshold of £60k. 

Counter party Type of 
balance/
transaction

Balance as per 
LLP (£’000)

Balance as per 
counter party 
(£’000)

Difference 
(£’000)

Comments on Difference

BSW CCG Income £57,641 £57,238 (£390) At the time of writing the report WHC is wating on further 
information from the CCG regarding their adjustment 
between V1 and V2 of the submission which is £402k 
different to the LLPs.

The reason for this difference is mostly due to the different 
treatment to deferred income at the end of 2019/20, with 
the LLP appropriately deferring £301k of income to this 
period, which the CCG did not.

BSW CCG Expenditure £616 £0 £616 This balance relates to the £566k Savernake PFI charge 
which historically GWH invoice to WHC. This year GWH 
invoiced BSW CCG. BSW have not accrued PFI income 
from the LLP for this cost.

Health Education England Income £490 £360 £130 This income was deferred by WHC on receipt in the 
previous year, but was incorrectly recognised in the prior 
period by HEE. It was a mismatch last year, and is again 
this year due to the different treatment of the deferral.

Royal United Hospitals Bath NHS FT Expenditure £1,415 £1,172 £243 The LLP has provided RUH with the details and is 
awaiting a response. The difference is understood to be a 
£101k VAT charge included in WHC AOB statement  in 
error, a (£98k) invoice miscoded into the RUH position, 
and £113k worth of missing invoices paid by WHC but 
reflective in the RUH position.
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Appendix Three

Audit Differences (continued)

Agreement of Balances (continued)

Counter party Type of 
balance/
transaction

Balance as per 
LLP (£’000)

Balance as per 
counter party 
(£’000)

Difference 
(£’000)

Comments on Difference

Great Western Hospitals NHS FT Expenditure £623 £399 £244 WHC have more accruals to GWH than GWH are 
recognising.  These are largely linked to VAT added to 
services, which GWH have included net. 

BSW CCG Payables £6,247 £5,485 £762 This is linked to the PFI difference on the previous slide, 
plus some immaterial other differences

BSW CCG Receivables £2,747 £3,697 £950 There is a timing difference of £234k debtor which was paid 
by the CCG but not year cleared in WHC accounts, 
therefore shown as the debtor position for WHC but not as 
a creditor for the CCG. There is also a difference in the 
flowers provision for £95k.

The remaining difference relates to VAT payments, which 
are under review by the CCG. KPMG are able to conclude 
on the audit due to the risk with revenue and debtors being 
linked to overstatement, rather than understatement, which 
this difference would create if the LLP position was 
incorrect.

NHS Property Services

Payables £232 £128 £104 Each year the LLP holds a 5% provision for true up costs 
which are recognised after the accounts are submitted. 
NHSPS do not accrue for the income and creates a 
difference.

Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust

Payables £411 £75 £336 Part of this balance is the £535k error identified on the 
previous page. The remaining balance relates to a £144k 
credit not included by GWH in their submission.
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Irregularities and fraud Laws and RegulationsGoing concern

In all audit reports, we are now required to explain 
to what extent the audit was considered capable 
of detecting irregularities, including fraud.

This is tailored to each audit. We include a 
summary of what risks we identified relating to fraud 
and what procedures we have performed in 
response to these.

For audits of financial periods commencing on or 
after 15 December 2019, auditors are required to 
explain in the auditor’s report to what extent the 
audit was considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud.

This was already a requirement for auditors of 
public interest entities (PIEs) in ISA (UK) 700 
(Revised June 2016).

We also set out as part of the report the laws and 
regulations that we have identified that have a direct 
impact on the preparation of the LLP’s accounts.

Our conclusion on going concern has been updated 
to provide a positive confirmation that we have not 
identified any factors that would cause us to 
consider there is a material uncertainty over the 
Trust’s status as a going concern. 

Appendix Four

Changes to our audit reports as a result of ISA (UK) changes
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Confirmation of Independence
Appendix Five

To the Audit Committee members

Assessment of our objectivity and independence as auditor of the Wiltshire 
Health and Care LLP

Professional ethical standards require us to provide to you at the completion stage of 
the audit a written disclosure of relationships (including the provision of non-audit 
services) that bear on KPMG LLP’s objectivity and independence, the threats to KPMG 
LLP’s independence that these create, any safeguards that have been put in place and 
why they address such threats, together with any other information necessary to enable 
KPMG LLP’s objectivity and independence to be assessed. 

This letter is intended to comply with this requirement and facilitate a subsequent 
discussion with you on audit independence and addresses:

 General procedures to safeguard independence and objectivity;

 Independence and objectivity considerations relating to the provision of non-audit 
services; and

 Independence and objectivity considerations relating to other matters.

General procedures to safeguard independence and objectivity

KPMG LLP is committed to being and being seen to be independent.  As part of our 
ethics and independence policies, all KPMG LLP partners and staff annually confirm 
their compliance with our ethics and independence policies and procedures including in 
particular that they have no prohibited shareholdings.  Our ethics and independence 
policies and procedures are fully consistent with the requirements of the FRC Ethical 
Standard.  

As a result we have underlying safeguards in place to maintain independence through:

 Instilling professional values

 Communications

 Internal accountability

 Risk management

 Independent reviews.

We are satisfied that our general procedures support our independence and 
objectivity.

Independence and objectivity considerations relating to the provision of 
non-audit services 

Summary of non-audit services

There have been no non-audit services in 2020/21.

We confirm that, in our professional judgement, KPMG LLP is independent within the meaning of regulatory and professional requirements and that the objectivity of the 
Director and audit staff is not impaired. 
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Confirmation of Independence (continued)
Appendix Five

We have considered the fees charged by us to the Trust and its affiliates for 
professional services provided by us during the reporting period. Total fees charged 
by us can be analysed as follows:

Fee ratio

The ratio of non-audit fees to audit fees for the year was 0:1. We do not consider that 
the total non-audit fees create a self-interest threat since the absolute level of fees is 
not significant to our firm as a whole. 

Contingent fees 

Under the FRC’s Revised Ethical Standard, no new contingent fees for non-audit or 
audit related services for an audited entity, its UK parent undertaking and any 
worldwide controlled undertaking can be entered into after 15 March 2020.  We 
confirm that no new contingent fees for such services have been entered into for 
Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust since that date and that no 
contingent fee amounts remain outstanding from previously provided non-audit 
services.

Application of the FRC Ethical Standard 2019

We communicated to you previously the effect of the application of the FRC Ethical 
Standard 2019. That standard became effective for the first period commencing on 
or after 15 March 2020, except for the restrictions on non-audit and additional 
services that became effective immediately at that date, subject to grandfathering 
provisions.

We confirm that as at 15 March 2020 we were not providing any non-audit or 
additional services that required to be grandfathered.

2020/21 2019/20

Financial Statements Audit £31,500 £21,000

Total Fees £31,500 £21,000

Confirmation of audit independence

We confirm that as of the date of this letter, in our professional judgement, KPMG 
LLP is independent within the meaning of regulatory and professional 
requirements and the objectivity of the director and audit staff is not impaired.

This report is intended solely for the information of the Audit and Compliance 
Committee and should not be used for any other purposes.

We would be very happy to discuss the matters identified above (or any other 
matters relating to our objectivity and independence) should you wish to do so.

Yours faithfully

KPMG LLP
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Officers and Professional Advisors

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Designated Members

Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Royal United Hospitals Bath NHS Foundation Trust

Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust

Registered Office Independent Auditor Bank

Chippenham Community Hospital, KPMG LLP Lloyds Bank plc
Rowden Hill, 66 Queen Square, Chippenham Branch,
Chippenham, Bristol, PO Box 1000,
SN15 2AJ BS1 4BE BS1 1LT

The members are pleased to present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2021.
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Members' Report

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Principal Activity  

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP is a public benefit entity whose principal activity is the provision of adult 
community health services across Wiltshire.  

Results  

The results for the year are a profit of £176k, as outlined on page 14.

Business Review 

The LLP has continued to deliver adult community health services for the people of Wiltshire during 
the financial year 2020/21.  The LLP achieved a surplus of £176k, against its planned break even 
position at the end of the financial year and grew its income base in a sustainable manner by agreeing 
the development of additional commissioned services.

The 2020/21 delivery year was dominated by the response to the Covid-19 pandemic. This has 
involved responding to substantial increases in demand for services and continuing to improve the way 
in which community services support the needs of the population.  We have, in particular, seen 
increased support needs on our inpatient wards, the capacity of our Home First teams being stretched 
by increasing demands, rapid change to the way in which we deliver clinic-based services and 
increased demand for our core community teams.  The LLP has also led the provision of a service to 
assess and support those experiencing ‘Long Covid’ across the wider Bath and North East Somerset, 
Swindon and Wiltshire area.

In many ways, the pandemic has accelerated the adoption of new approaches.  The investment in our 
underpinning information technology infrastructure, which was a particular focus during 2019/20, 
meant that the LLP was able to adapt quickly to a rapid expansion of remote working and virtual 
clinical advice.  Additional support from national funding streams has helped mitigate the effects of 
additional expenditure related to the COVID-19 response.

The continuing impact of Covid-19 on the activities of the LLP has been assessed.  The LLP is 
engaged in work across the health and care sector to plan for, and seek to mitigate, risks which would 
affect the sector as a whole.   In terms of other risks and uncertainties, the LLP’s highest strategic risk 
is related to continued supply of adequate workforce to deliver commissioned services.  The rate of 
vacancies has reduced overall during 2020-21 to its lowest ever level and this, coupled with a reduced 
level of turnover, has improved the overall position in relation to the availability of workforce.  There is, 
in particular, a trend of registered professionals being increasingly attracted to the variety and 
autonomy of working in community settings and the recruitment into support roles from a wide range 
of sectors.  Improvements have also been made during 2020/21 to centralise rostering for some 
services and ensure that all inpatient and urgent care services are utilising an electronic roster.  
Despite these positive developments, the LLP continues to be reliant on temporary staffing for the 
delivery of some services, in particular inpatient services.  This is related to an increase in individuals 
requiring enhanced support, coupled with the temporary lack of availability of volunteers.  Reducing 
temporary staffing spend through a continued effort to recruit substantive staff is a continuing focus for 
2021/22.  
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Members' Report

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

The LLP’s operational priorities for 2021/22 are centred around the expansion and transformation of 
community services, in line with the NHS Long Term Plan.  This will include the creation of 
comprehensive crisis services, able to respond within 2 hours, continued improvements to the capacity 
and efficiency of services which support people following their discharge from hospitals, increased 
support to care homes and multi-disciplinary support to those with long term conditions.  While 
pursuing these priorities, we will also continue to improve the under-pinning infrastructure which 
supports our community-based teams.

Going Concern  

The LLP is required to consider if the accounts should be prepared on a going concern basis and this 
expectation needs to be tested each year. It should be disclosed if there are material uncertainties in 
respect of events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entities ability to continue as a 
going concern and that it may therefore be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in 
the normal course of business.

The LLP has net assets of £315k, with £8.5m cash as at 31 March 2021 and a surplus for the year 
then ended of £176k. The Directors have considered this position and prepared the financial 
statements on a going concern basis for the following reasons.

The LLP contract holds its principal contract to 30 June 2023.

The financial negotiations with commissioners in regards to the 2021/22 contract have been carried 
out in line with the national planning guidance, and whilst the negotiations are yet to be finalised the 
indicative plan and forecasts have been prepared including the values agreed in principal with the 
commissioners.

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of 12 months from the date of approval 
of these financial statements which indicate that, the LLP will have sufficient funds, to meet its 
liabilities as they fall due for that period, with monthly cash totals remaining within the minimum 
tolerance level as set by the LLP Board.

In the event that the LLP expenditure cannot be covered by current or any agreed adjustments, to 
commissioning income, the Operating Board shall notify the members who shall make a decision on 
the next steps in line with the Members Agreement.  After making enquiries on capital, budgeting and 
cash requirements and based on the factors outlined above and the financial position of the LLP at 31 
March 2021, it is not anticipated that the support of members will be required. 

For this reason the LLP continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its annual accounts.

Designated Members  

The designated members who served during the year and to the date of this report are set out on page 
3.

Charitable Donations

No charitable or political donations were made during the year  (2019/20 £0).
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Members' Report

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Policy regarding Members’ Drawings and Capital  

All contributions of Capital made by a Member shall be recorded by the LLP.  No interest shall be 
payable on any Capital Contribution unless the Members agree otherwise.  There have been no 
contributions made to date.

Should any Member provide any services to the LLP, the Member shall not make any profit on any 
elements of those services with all risks managed in line with the relevant regulatory framework. 
Arrangements are subject to periodical review by the Board.

In the event that the LLP makes any Profits a reserve shall be formed and will only be divided and 
converted into a debt to the Members if and when the Board (acting on behalf of the Members) has 
agreed to distribute those Profits among the Members as per section 8 of the Members Agreement.

The amounts transferred in the year were £0 (2019/20: £0 ).

Disclosure of information to auditor

The members who held office at the date of approval of this members' report confirm that, so far as 
they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the LLP's auditor is unaware; and 
each member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the LLP's auditor is aware of that 
information.

Auditor

The independent auditors of Wiltshire Health and Care LLP are KPMG LLP.
Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and 
KPMG LLP will therefore continue in office .

Approved by the Members
and signed on behalf of the Members

Date:   22nd June 2021
Douglas Blair
Managing Director
Registered office address: Chippenham Community Hospital, Rowden Hill, Chippenham, Wiltshire, 
SN15 2AJ
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

UK Energy Usage – electricity, gas, transport, and CO2e

 Usage
Usage (based 
on estimates)

Unit of measurement

2020/21 2019/20
Energy consumption used to calculate emissions 1: 6,202,581 5,962,509 kWh

525,682 369,198 CO2 kg
525.68 369.20 CO2 Tons

392,014 508,749 CO2 kg
392.01 508.75 CO2 Tons

288,946 215,943 CO2 kg
288.95 215.94 CO2 Tons

1,206,642 1,093,890 CO2 kg
1,206.64 1,093.89 CO2 Tons

0.0219 0.0191 CO2 kg/Revenue
0.00 0.00 CO2 Tons/Revenue

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) is a mandatory carbon and energy reporting scheme 
for large UK companies. Under the 2018 Regulations, LLPs which are “large” are also required to prepare 
and file energy and carbon information in their accounts and reports (in a new ‘Energy and Carbon 
Report’).  

In relation to our premises, the LLP currently does not own properties and occupies buildings owned by 
NHS Property Services (NHSPS) in the main. 

[1] This includes Gas, Transport Fuel and Electricity consumption

Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport 
purposes:

Intensity ratio: tCO2e gross figure based from 
mandatory fields above/ e.g. £100,000 revenue:

Emissions from combustion of gas:

Emissions from purchased electricity:

Total gross CO2e:

The LLP was not able to obtain exact kWh usage figures for electricity and gas energy used by it through 
its occupation of NHSPS owned buildings in the first year of reporting (2019/20), and therefore estimated 
this usage. The 2019/20 tCO2e figures have been adjusted in the 2020/21 report, from imperial to metric 
tons, as indicated by the SECR guidance.

Actual usage data has been provided for 2020/21 and is included in the table below. This was calculated 
using the appropriate CO2e conversion factors taken from the latest available UK Government GHG 
Conversion Factors for Company Reporting. Arrangements are now in place with the Facilities Services 
Manager at NHSPS to receive Gas (kWh) and Electricity (kWh) measurements across our hospital sites 
for each reporting period. Similarly, we will continue to ensure that we obtain this same data from the 
property owners of the other (non-NHSPS) sites that we occupy.

Apart from emissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes, 2020/21 usage and emission levels 
appear higher. This is a reflection that estimated figures were used in 2019/20 and a reduced number of 
sites were previously reported on (8 sites in 2019/20 vs 15 in 2020/21). The kWh calculated consumption 
of Gas and Electricity during 2020/21 for the 8 sites reported on in 2019/20, was in fact 437,274 kWh lower 
compared to the actual position in 2019/20. 

In relation to energy use relating to our transport, we have directly collected this information, and included 
it in the table below.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Energy efficiency action  

The LLP has changed its approach for leasing fleet/lease vehicles.  The LLP previously made the 
decision to only lease low or ultra-low carbon vehicles. This is in line with the commitment and strategy of 
the NHS Long Term Plan. 

The LLP has fully embedded its changed approach to the conduct of meetings. The LLP’s default 
position is to hold meetings virtually. To facilitate this, all relevant staff members have been provided with 
access to MS Teams, and the necessary IT hardware. This is the biggest factor in reduced mileage during 
2020/21. 

The LLP is evolving its approach to the delivery of training. Utilising the advantages of the technology 
described in the bullet point above, the LLP has changed the delivery of internal training. Wherever hands-
on training is not required, virtual training is being delivered, further reducing staff travel.

The LLP has evolved its approach for delivery of clinical consultations. During 2020/21 the LLP has 
continued to deliver on-line consultations using a product called Attend Anywhere. This has been 
successful and will be continued in 2021/22.

The LLP will continue to embed all actions outlined above in 2021/22.

The LLP has undertaken the following principal measures for the purpose of increasing its energy 
efficiency:
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Statement of members’ responsibilities in respect of the Members’ 
report and the financial statements

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

The members are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations and have elected to prepare a Members’ Report.

The members are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial
information included on the LLP’s website.

The Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts and Audit) (Application of Companies Act 2006)
Regulations 2008 require the members to prepare the financial statements for each financial year.
Under that law the members have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with
United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland . 

Under Regulation 8 of the Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts and Audit) (Application of
Companies Act 2006) Regulations 2008 the members must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the LLP and of the
profit or loss of the LLP for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the members are
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

• assess the LLP’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern; and 

• use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the LLP or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Under Regulation 6 of the Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts and Audit) (Application of 
Companies Act 2006) Regulations 2008, the members are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the LLP's transactions and disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the LLP and enable them to ensure that its 
financial statements comply with those regulations. They have general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the LLP and to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities .
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Independent Auditor's report to the members of Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Wiltshire Health and Care LLP (“the LLP”) for the year
ended 31 March 2021 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of
Financial Position, Cash Flow Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity and related notes,
including the accounting policies in 1.  

In our opinion the financial statements:  

· give a true and fair view, of the state of affairs of the LLP as at 31 March 2021 and of its profit for
the year then ended; 

· have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland ; and  

· have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applied to
limited liability partnerships by the Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts and Audit) (Application of
Companies Act 2006) Regulations 2008.  

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”)
and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities under, and are independent of the LLP in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The members have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not
intend to liquidate the LLP or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the LLP’s
financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material
uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for
at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).

In our evaluation of the members’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the LLP’s
business model and analysed how those risks might affect the LLP’s financial resources or ability to
continue operations over the going concern period.  

Our conclusions based on this work:

· we consider that the members’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of
the financial statements is appropriate;

· we have not identified, and concur with the members’ assessment that there is not, a material
uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt
on the LLP's ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result
in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made,
the above conclusions are not a guarantee that the LLP will continue in operation. 

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability to detect

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud
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Independent Auditor's report to the members of Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or
conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to
commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:

· Enquiring of management, the Audit Assurance Committee and internal audit and inspection of
policy documentation as to the LLP’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud,
including the internal audit function, and LLP’s channel for “whistleblowing”, as well as whether they
have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

· Reading Board and Audit Committee minutes.

·Using analytical procedures to identify any usual or unexpected relationships.

· Reviewing the LLP’s accounting policies.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any
indications of fraud throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, we performed procedures to address the risk of management
override of controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition, in particular the risk of incentive
for revenue to be manipulated into the wrong period around the year end.

We also recognised a fraud risk related to expenditure recognition, particularly in relation to year-end
accruals. We consider this risk to be applicable to non-payroll and non-depreciation expenditure.

We also performed procedures including:

·Identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test based on risk criteria and comparing the
identified entries to supporting documentation. These included unexpected account pairings,
unexpected users and port closing entries. 

·Inspecting transactions in the period prior to and following 31 March 2021 to verify revenue had
been recognised in the correct accounting period. 

·Inspecting transactions in the period prior to and following 31 March 2021 to verify expenditure had
been recognised in the correct accounting period. 

·Evaluating accruals posted as at 31 March 2021 and verifying accruals are appropriate and
accurately recorded. 

· Assessing the completeness of disclosed related party transactions and verifying they had been
accurately recorded within the financial statements.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with
laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material
effect on the financial statements from our general sector experience and through discussion with
the directors and other management (as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the
LLP’s regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management
the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.  

As the LLP is regulated, our assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the control
environment including the entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory requirements. 
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Independent Auditor's report to the members of Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any
indications of non-compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

The LLP is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation. We assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations
as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.  

Whilst the LLP is subject to many other laws and regulations, we did not identify any others where
the consequences of non-compliance alone could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures
in the financial statements.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have
detected some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly
planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further
removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in
the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing
standards would identify it.  

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible
for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all
laws and regulations.

Other information

The members are responsible for the other information, which comprises the members’ report and
the Streamlined energy and carbon report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, we have not identified
material misstatements in the other information.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 as applied to limited liability partnerships we are required to report to
you if, in our opinion:

· adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

· the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

· we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

We have nothing to report in these respects.
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Independent Auditor's report to the members of Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Members’ responsibilities 

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 9, the members are responsible for: the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true 

and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
assessing the LLP’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to
liquidate the LLP or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.    

Auditor’s responsibilities 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in
an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilites is provided on the FRC's website at  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the members of the LLP, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006, as required by Regulation 39 of the Limited Liability Partnerships
(Accounts and Audit) (Application of Companies Act 2006) Regulations 2008. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to the LLP’s members those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the LLP and the LLP’s members, as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  

Rees Batley (Senior Statutory Auditor)  

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor  
Chartered Accountants  

66 Queen Square

Bristol

BS1 4BE

United Kingdom, 

      June 2021  
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Statement of financial position
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

2021 2020
Note £000 £000

Non current assets

Tangible assets 10 555 433

Intangible assets 11 21 11
576 444

Current assets

Debtors 12 3,629 10,878

Stock 13 396 355

Cash at bank and in hand 14 8,461 8,592

12,486 19,825

Total assets 13,062 20,269

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 15 (11,845) (20,130)

Net current (liabilities) / assets 641 (305)

Total assets less current liabilities 1,217 139

Provisions for liabilities 16 (902) 0

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS 315 139

REPRESENTED BY:

Equity
Members’ other interests – other reserves classified as 
equity

18 0 0

Reserves 315 139

TOTAL MEMBERS’ INTERESTS 315 139

Signed on behalf of the Members

Douglas Blair
Managing Director 
Date: 

Notes on pages 18 to 27 form part of the financial statements.

The financial statements of Wiltshire Health and Care LLP, registered number OC399656, were 
approved by the Members on 22nd June 2021
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

2021 2020
Note £000 £000

Turnover 2 55,401 58,930
Operating Expenses 3 (55,237) (58,845)

Operating Profit 164 85

Net interest receivable 6 12 54

Profit for the financial year available for discretionary 

division among members 176 139

Other comprehensive income 0 0

Total comprehensive income 176 139
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Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

2021 2020
Note £000 £000

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Profit for the financial year 176 139
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 239 55
Increase / (decrease) in creditors (8,285) 9,169
(Increase) / decrease in stock (41) (304)
(Increase) / decrease in debtors 7,249 (6,059)
Increase / (decrease) in provisions 902 (289)
Adjustment for net finance costs (12) (54)

Net cash flows from operating activities before 
transactions with members

228 2,657

Net cash from investing activities

Purchase of plant, property and equipment (356) (486)
Purchase of intangible assets (15) (13)

(371) (499)
Net Cash from financing activities

Interest received 12 54

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (131) 2,212

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 8,592 6,380

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 8,461 8,592
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Members 
capital 

classified as 
equity

Members 
other 

Interests
TOTAL

£000 £000 £000

As at 1st April 2019 0 0 0
Profit for the financial year available for  discretionary 
division amount members

139 0 139

As at 1st April 2020 139 0 139

Profit for the financial year available for discretionary 
division among members

176 0 176

As at 31st March 2021 315 0 315

Notes on pages 18 to 27 form part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

1. Accounting policies

1.1 Basis of preparation

1.2 Going concern  

1.3 Turnover

1.4 Expenditure on other goods and services

Turnover represents amounts chargeable to customers for services provided during the year, based upon 
contractual arrangements with all customers, including other NHS bodies, and is recorded as earned under those 
contractual arrangements. Where services are invoiced in advance of the service being performed or delivered, 
then income is deferred until the service is carried out. Income is accrued where it has been earned by the 
performance of the service, but is not yet invoiced to the customer.

In the event that the LLP expenditure cannot be covered by current or any agreed adjustments, to commissioning 
income, the Board shall notify the members who shall make a decision on the next steps in line with the Members 
Agreement. After making enquiries on capital, budgeting and cash requirements and based on the factors 
outlined above and the financial position of the LLP at 31 March 2021, it is not anticipated that the members 
support will be required. For this reason the LLP continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its 
annual accounts.

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of these 
financial statements which indicate that, the LLP will have sufficient funds, to meet its liabilities as they fall due for 
that period, with monthly cash totals remaining within the minimum tolerance level.

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that, they have been received, and is 
measured at the fair value of those goods and services.  Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except 
where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.

The principal accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements, which have been 
consistently applied in the current and preceding financial years, are as follows:

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (“FRS 102”) and The Statement of 
Recommended Practice, ‘Accounting by Limited Liabilities Partnerships’ with the consideration that the LLP is a 
public benefit entity.  The presentation currency of these financial statements is sterling.  All amounts in the 
financial statements have been rounded to the nearest £1,000.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these financial statements.  

The financial negotiations with commissioners in regards to the 2021/22 contract have been carried out in line 
with the national planning guidance, and whilst the negotiations are yet to be finalised the indicative plan and 
forecasts have been prepared using the values agreed in principal with the commissioners. 

The LLP is required to consider if the accounts should be prepared on a going concern basis and this expectation 
needs to be tested each year. It should be disclosed if there are material uncertainties in respect of events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entities ability to continue as a going concern and that it may 
therefore be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

1.5 Employee benefits 

1.6.1 Property, plant and equipment

          to, the LLP

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational 
use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful lives or low values or both, as 
this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use. 

All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable 
to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:    

Recognition

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the 
period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”.

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the 
benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP 
practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are 
not designed to be run in a way that would enable public bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the 
cost to the public body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that 
scheme for the accounting period.

•        it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes
•        it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided          

•        it is expected to be used for more than one financial year 
•        the cost of the item can be measured reliably

Valuation

Measurement

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the 
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential 
deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the 
item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is 
capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-
recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, 
such as repairs and maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it 
is incurred.

Subsequent expenditure

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset 
lives, e.g., plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over 
their own useful lives.

•        the item has cost of at least £5,000, or
•        collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have cost of more than £250, 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

Useful Life of Assets Years

Medical Equipment 3 - 5
Furniture and fittings  5 -10
IT Hardware and Software 3 - 5

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful lives in a manner consistent 
with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life 
and is not depreciated. 

Depreciation

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the 
asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. 

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a 
revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are 
recognised in operating expenditure.

Revaluation gains and losses

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘held for 
sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s useful life is adjusted. The asset is de-
recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their fair 
value less costs to sell.  Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale 
contract conditions have been met.

Assets intended for disposals are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once all of the following criteria are met. The sale 
must be highly probable and the asset available for immediate sale in its present condition.

De-recognition

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation 
gains.

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed when, 
and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in 
operating expenditure to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the 
impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, 
at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and 
expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is 
recognised.

Impairments
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

1.6.2 Intangible Assets

1.7 Stock

Stock is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured using the first in, 
first out (FIFO) method .

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the LLP’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are 
recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, 
the LLP and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Recognition

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of 
property, plant and equipment .

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The 
donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future 
economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, 
the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the 
condition has not yet been met.

Donated and grant funded assets

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of 
economic or service delivery benefits.

Amortisation

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists, 
intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use where the asset is 
income generating. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated in the same manner as for 
property, plant and equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is valued 
at fair value where there are no restrictions on sale at the reporting date and where they do not meet the 
definitions of investment properties or assets held for sale.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, 
produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Measurement

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the 
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. 
application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

Software

An Asset Register was introduced last year and Material Management is now being used which has improved the 
stock control and ensured a more accurate stock register is being kept
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

1.8 Cash and cash equivalents

1.9 Financial instruments and financial liabilities

2. Turnover
2021 2020
£000 £000

CCG Income 51,340 55,526
Centrally Funded additional Employer Contributions 1,839 1,646
Local Authorities Income 822 668
NHS Trust and FT Income 462 426
Training and Education 490 493
Other 448 171

55,401 58,930

3. Total operating expenditure
2021 2020
£000 £000

Staff costs (note 5) 43,818 41,219
Chair and Non-Executive Costs 51 30
Commissioned Service Costs 523 119

Other operating charges comprising:-
Clinical and general goods and services 3,983 9,688
Premises and establishment costs 5,862 7,056
Depreciation and amortisation 239 55
Other operating charges 761 678

55,237 58,845

4. Operating profit
2021 2020
£000 £000

Operating profit is after charging :
Auditor’s remuneration 
Audit of these financial statements 32 21

The LLP’s loans and receivables comprise: cash; debtors; and creditors.

The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% (excluding administration 
charge) from 1st April 2019.  Since 2019/20,  NHS providers have continued to pay over contributions at the 
former rate with the additional amount being paid over by NHS England on providers' behalf. The full cost and 
related funding have been recognised in these accounts.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the 
LLP has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items 
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the LLP’s normal sale or usage 
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs, i.e. when receipt or delivery of 
the goods or services is made. These assets and liabilities are categorised as fair value through income and 
expenditure and loans and debtors.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise all cash balances.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

5. Staff costs and employee information
2021 2020
£000 £000

Employee costs during the year amounted to:
Wages and salaries 31,902 28,372
Social security costs 2,852 2,532
Pension costs 6,081 5,422
Temporary staff 2,838 4,766
Apprenticeship levy 145 127

43,818 41,219

Average Headcount Numbers 2021 2020
  No.   No.

Medical Staff 3 2
Nursing staff 353 346
Allied Health Professionals 316 285
Other clinical staff 336 288
Admin and clerical staff 214 184

1,222 1,105

6. Net interest receivable
2021 2020
£000 £000

Bank interest receivable 12 54
Net interest receivable 12 54

7. Members’ share of profits

8. Members’ remuneration charged as an expense

9. Profit of the Limited Liability Partnership

The staff costs consist of amounts relating to both clinical and non-clinical personnel. The highest paid role was 
the Managing Director, the total costs; including employer’s on-costs, amounting to £154k (2019/20: £152k).

Included within the Employers’ contribution to the NHS pension is £1.8m notional expenditure relating to the 6.3% 
additional employer contributions borne centrally (£1.6m, 2019/20).

The profit for the year available for discretionary division among the members reflected in the individual profit and 
loss account of the LLP for the year ended 31 March 2021 was £176k (2020: £139k ).

Members did not receive any remuneration in respect to Wiltshire Health and Care LLP.

The average number of members during the year was 3 (2020: 3).

No profits were distributed to members for the year to 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020: £nil)
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Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

10. Tangible assets

Information 
Technology

Plant and 
Machinery

Total

£000 £000 £000
Cost
Balance at 1 April 2020 450 36 486
Additions 193 163 356
Balance at 31 March 2021 643 199 842

Depreciation
Balance at 1 April 2020 (45) (8) (53)
Depreciation charge for the year (180) (54) (234)
Balance at 31 March 2021 (225) (62) (287)

Net book value
At 1 April 2020 405 28 433

At 31 March 2021 418 137 555

11. Intangible assets
Software 
Licences

Total

£000 £000
Cost
Balance at 1 April 2020 13 13
Additions 15 15
Balance at 31 March 2021 28 28

Amortisation
Balance at 1 April 2020 (2) (2)
Accumulated amortisation for the year (5) (5)
Balance at 31 March 2021 (7) (7)

Net book value
At 1 April 2020 11 11

At 31 March 2021 21 21

12. Debtors
2021 2020
£000 £000

Trade debtors 2,527 5,761
Other receivables 54 0
Accrued Income 645 4,711
Prepayments 403 406

3,629 10,878

13. Stock
2021 2020
£000 £000

Medical supplies and wheelchairs 396 355
396 355

All amounts are due within one year.
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14. Cash and cash equivalents
2021 2020
£000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 8,461 8,592

15. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2021 2020
£000 £000

Trade payables 882 3,984
Other payables 30 0
VAT 11 0
Other taxes, social security 710 617
Pension liabilities 598 509
Deferred income 153 4,588
Accruals 9,461 10,432

11,845 20,130

16. Provisions         
2021 2020
£000 £000

Opening Balance 0 289
Utilised during the year 902 (289)
Closing Balance 902 0

17. Operating Leases
2021 2020
£000 £000

Operating lease expense
Minimum lease payments 1,960 1,997

1,960 0

2021 2020
£000 £000

Operating lease expense
not later than one year; 1,964 1960
later than one year and not later than five years; 33 81
later than five years - 0

1,997 2,041

18. Total members’ interests

On the creation of the LLP and during the 12 months to 31 March 2021 no Member made any financial 
investment into the LLP.  Members have not received any revenue or capital remuneration.

This note discloses costs and commitments incurred in operating lease arrangements where Wiltshire Health and 
Care LLP is the lessee.

The Premises charges are agreed on an annual rolling contract with no long term commitment.  The future years 
premises costs are based on our expected committed as final contracts have not been agreed.
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Wiltshire Health and Care LLP

19. Employee benefits

a) Accounting valuation

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the 
benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP 
practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are 
not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the 
cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that 
scheme for the accounting period.

The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap 
set following the 2012 valuation. Following a judgement from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government 
announced a pause to that part of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process .

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the 
period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An 
outline of these follows.

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s 
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous 
accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and 
are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of scheme 
liability as at 31 March 2021 is based on valuation data as 31 March 2020, updated to 31 March 2021 with 
summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology 
prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also 
been used .

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which 
forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions 
website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes 
(taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by 
employees and employers.

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The 
results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and 
Social Care laid Scheme Regulations in 2019 confirming the employer contribution rate to be 20.68% of 
pensionable pay.
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20. Related parties
2021 2020
£000 £000

Expenditure
Royal United Hospitals Bath NHS Foundation Trust 1,415 1,210
Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 653 633
Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust 696 692

2,764 2,535

2021 2020
£000 £000

Income
Royal United Hospitals Bath NHS Foundation Trust 39 19
Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 1 807
Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust 380 371

420 1,197

21. Financial instruments
Carrying amount of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities include:

2021 2020
£000 £000

Assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 2,581 5,910
Liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (2,231) (5,110)

350 800

22. Events after the reporting period

None noted.
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Wiltshire Health and Care 
Chippenham Community Hospital 

Rowden Hill 
Chippenham 

Wiltshire 
SN15 2AJ 

Tel: 01249 456565

DRAFT – FOR APPROVAL AT BOARD ON 22 JUNE 2021 

KPMG LLP  
66 Queen Square  
Bristol  
BS1 4BE 

22 June 2021 

Dear Sirs, 

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of 
Wiltshire Health & Care LLP (“the LLP”), for the year ended 31 March 2021, for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion: 

i. as to whether these financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the LLP’s 
affairs as at 31 March 2021 and of the LLP’s position at the financial year then ended; 

ii. whether the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (“FRS 102”); and 

iii. whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006. 

These financial statements comprise the Balance Sheet, the Profit and Loss Account and Other 
Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.  

The Members confirm that the LLP meets the definition of a qualifying entity and meets the criteria 
for applying the disclosure exemptions with FRS 102.   

The Members confirm that the representations they make in this letter are in accordance with the 
definitions set out in the Appendix to this letter. 

The Members confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as it 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing themselves:  

Financial statements 

1. The Members have fulfilled their responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement 
dated 28 January 2021, for the preparation of financial statements that: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the LLP’s affairs as at the end of its financial year and 
of its position for that financial year; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(including FRS 102); and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.  

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
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2. Measurement methods and significant assumptions used by the Members in making accounting 
estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.  

3. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which section 32 of FRS 102 
requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. 

4. The effects of uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in aggregate, to 
the financial statements as a whole.  A list of the uncorrected misstatements is attached to this 
representation letter. 

Information provided 

5. The Members have provided you with: 

 access to all information of which it is aware, that is relevant to the preparation of the 
financial statements, such as records, documentation and other matters;  

 additional information that you have requested from the Board for the purpose of the 
audit; and 

 unrestricted access to persons within the LLP from whom you determined it necessary to 
obtain audit evidence. 

6. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 
statements. 

7. The Members confirm the following: 

i) The Members have disclosed to you the results of their assessment of the risk that the 
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

Included in the Appendix to this letter are the definitions of fraud, including misstatements arising 
from fraudulent financial reporting and from misappropriation of assets. 

ii) The Members have disclosed to you all information in relation to: 

a) Fraud or suspected fraud that they are aware of and that affects the LLP and involves:  
 management; 
 employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 
 others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements; 

and 
b) allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the LLP’s financial statements 

communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others. 

In respect of the above, the Members acknowledge their responsibility for such internal control as it 
determines necessary for the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  In particular, the Members acknowledge their 
responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and 
detect fraud and error.  

8. The Members have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing the 
financial statements.  
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9. The Members have disclosed to you and have appropriately accounted for and/or disclosed in 
the financial statements, in accordance with section 21 of FRS 102 all known actual or possible 
litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial 
statements.  

10. The Members has disclosed to you the identity of the LLP’s related parties and all the related 
party relationships and transactions of which it is aware.  All related party relationships and 
transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with section 33 
of FRS 102. 

Included in the Appendix to this letter are the definitions of both a related party and a related party 
transaction as we understand them and as defined in FRS 102. 

11. The Members confirm that:  

a) The financial statements disclose all of the key risk factors, assumptions made and 
uncertainties surrounding the LLP’s ability to continue as a going concern as required to 
provide a true and fair view. 

b) No events or circumstances have been identified that may cast significant doubt on the ability 
of the LLP to continue as a going concern. 

This letter was tabled and agreed at the meeting of the WHC Operating Board on 22 June 2021.As 
per paragraph 17.7 of the WHC Members Agreement, Accounts shall be deemed to be agreed by all 
Members when the WHC Operating Board has approved them by WHC Operating Board Resolution.      

Yours faithfully, 

Douglas Blair 

Managing Director 
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Appendix to the Board Representation Letter of Wiltshire Health & Care LLP: Definitions 

Criteria for applying the disclosure exemptions within FRS 102 

 The LLP discloses in the notes to its financial statements: 
a) A brief narrative summary of the disclosure exemptions adopted; and  
b) The name of the parent of the group in whose consolidated financial statements its 

financial statements are consolidated, and from where those financial statements may 
be obtained 

Financial Statements 

A complete set of financial statements (before taking advantage of any of the FRS 102 exemptions) 
comprises: 

 a Balance Sheet as at the end of the period; 
 a Profit and Loss account for the period;  
 a statement of other comprehensive income for the period; 
 a statement of changes in equity for the period; 

 a cash flow statement for the period 

 notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

FRS 102 permits an entity either to present (i) separately a Profit and Loss account and a Statement 
of Other Comprehensive Income or (ii) a combined Profit and Loss Account and Other 
Comprehensive Income.   

Material Matters 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. 

FRS 102 states that: 

Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.  Materiality depends 
on the size and nature of the omission or misstatement judged in the surrounding circumstances.  
The size or nature of the item, or combination of both, could be the determining factor. 
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Fraud 

Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements including omissions of amounts or 
disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial statement users. 

Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of an entity’s assets.  It is often accompanied by false or 
misleading records or documents in order to conceal the fact that the assets are missing or have 
been pledged without proper authorisation. 

Error 

An error is an unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an 
amount or a disclosure. 

Prior period errors are omissions from, and misstatements in, the entity’s financial statements for one 
or more prior periods arising from a failure to use, or misuse of, reliable information that: 

a) was available when financial statements for those periods were authorised for issue; and 
b) could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken into account in the 

preparation and presentation of those financial statements. 

Such errors include the effects of mathematical mistakes, mistakes in applying accounting policies, 
oversights or misinterpretations of facts, and fraud. 

Management 

For the purposes of this letter, references to “management” should be read as “management and, 
where appropriate, those charged with governance”.   

Qualifying Entity 

A member of a group where the parent of that group prepares publicly available consolidated 
financial statements which are intended to give a true and fair view (of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit or loss) and that member is included in the consolidation by means of full 
consolidation. 

Related Party and Related Party Transaction 

Related party: 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial 
statements (referred to in FRS 102 as the “reporting entity”). 

a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that 
person: 

i. has control or joint control over the reporting entity;  
ii. has significant influence over the reporting entity; or  
iii. is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of 

the reporting entity. 
b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions apply: 

i. The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that 
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 
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ii. One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

iii. Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 
iv. One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 

third entity. 
v. The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 

reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.  If the reporting entity is itself 
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity. 

vi. The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a). 
vii. A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the 

key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 
viii. The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 

personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity. 

Related party transaction: 

A transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting entity and a related party, 
regardless of whether a price is charged. 



Wiltshire Health and Care (“WHC”) 
Board Meeting 

Item 11 

Key Points for dissemination to Member Organisations  

VERBAL 



Wiltshire Health and Care (“WHC”) 
Board Meeting 

Date of Next Meeting 

Full Board Meeting: 

Friday 10 September 2021 
13:00-16:00  

Training Room 1, Chippenham Community Hospital OR MS TEAMS (TBC) 
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